S
i

i >
T e

e o et SR
o

g T i e L o T P A8

o et S e R e D R
R e
= A

e s A e B
S e

e
el e e

cnkdn 'll

e
= s i - i . =
e s

iy b

b

i

Ll

S’

kA

P

deldwiislel:

T e e s ]
- . a2l e

;uﬂ =

= L s
e A e e o e o -
i i I e 5

T




949 7] =

o, s
|
Gae |
THE ENEMY
IN SERBIA
DOCUMENTS RELATIVE TO THE
BULGARIAN ATROCITIES OF 1915-1918
=
PARIS 1g919.
.
#ﬁf/ﬂ;ﬂ_‘f@







——

=3

10.

1i.

Ll

14.

Contents.

Report on the condition of the prisoners of war and interned Ser-
bian eivilians in Bulgaria, by Major J. C. Cunningham, Argyll
S. Sutherland Highlanders and Colonel Drag. T. Nicolaievilch

Report on the conditioh of religious edifices at Uskub and in eer-
tain villages of this region by Dr M, M. Vassiteh..............

Depositions by L. Deitehinovitch and M. Stankovitch concerning
tortures inflicted upon them by the Bulgarians..............

. Statement by Mgr Myedia, Catholic Archbishop of Prizrend.

(Treatment meted out to Mgr Vincent, Archbishop of Skoplié
by the Bulgarians. — Bulgdrian regime and famine in Priz-
rend. — Interference with Divine Service)......ceoveeereosna
Deposition by Zorke Stergeviteh-Georgevitch, imprisoned and
beaten by the Bulgarians although she was pregnant..........
Deposition by N. Blagoievitch, concerning the murder of his
father and mother by Bulgarian soldiers...... ek R o
Deposition by K. Ristoviteh, D. Musiaphovileh, and K. Koste-
viteh, concerning Bulgarian alrocities (rape, looting, intern-
ment, ebe.) commatied in the region of Kavadar............... :
Depositions by T. Nedovitch, A. Ristova, and K. Temelkoviteh;
concernitig Bulgarxgn atrocities (rape, looting, lortures; mas-
sacres, et¢.) committed in Fariseh...............civeiiaiuee
Destruction of the Serbian cemetery at Kavadar., — Serbian Mes-
lems pérsécuted at Negotin, — Destrunelion of Serbian books
and monuments ai Veles (inguiries instituted by Interallied
CRIIEAON]. Lo i o A e S S s
Deposition by Z. Zvetkoviteh. (Foreible recruitment. — Conduet
of the Bulgarians at the time of the revolt.)..................
Deposition tz Catherine Babunski, who was first imprisoned in &
fortress, then in a cellar, and three times led to the place of
BRUCHEIDR e oin b s e e e e e, S vtk
Deposition by N. Gotchevitch (looting, wholesalé massacrés,
wholesale violations, tortures, sadism, destruetion of villages).
[iepcisition by S. Georgevitch (massacres, a Serbian buried
Et i-"e L & aadea Ll d'd F e aa e s e diaamnsssssat st ecesnenamensman s nsmssd
Deposition by M. Novakovitch (mdssacre, looting, internment,
reatment and eonditions of the interned).. ... ...............
Report upon the Bulgarian atrocities in the country of Vrania (the
report ermbodies various Bulgarian documents, in which the
Bulgariafi authoritiés themselves admit thal alfocilies have
bedn eommitied), by Professor R. A. Reiss (Liausanne)... ... ..
Report upon Bulgarian atrocities at Sourdoulitza (the Bulgarians
magsacred 3.000 Serbians 4t Sourdoulitza known s the « Serb-
ian shambles »), by Professor R. A, Reiss (Lausanne)..:.::..

i1

12

16

17

19

43

e




15.

16.

17.
8.

19.

RERBRES

- 2.

28,

29.

30.
31.

32.

34.

35.

37,

11

Report by Secd. Lt. D. J. Cowan (British Army) upon the inh-
uman treatment inflicted upon the Serbian prisoners in Bul-
garia, in consequence of which several of them went almost
mad (this report embodies account of the murder of a young
COTDATT OF 5k as s imeiinvin o inioifin i nininis i sinis, sosiwisiacon w0/ lue a mnlf el

Report upon Bulgarian atrocities committed in the region of
Vranya, Leskovats, Prokuplie, with numerous details concer-
:r;jngﬁoriures and beating of women. By W. A. Drayton (New-

e e A e st A S SO AL s S o < S B e

Report upon the ill-treatment of Serbian prisoners of war in
Bulgaria, by Lt. C. A. Owen (British Army)..................

Report upon the same subject, by Capt. C. R. Blandy, Lieut. R.
W. Frazer and Lieut. S. T. Beare (British Army)..............

Report on the bad treatment of the Serbian prisoners of war in
Bulgaria, by Lieut. R. G. Berkeley (British Army)............

Report on the same subject, by Lt. H. A. Tracey (British Army)

» » » » Lit. A. L. Moore ».
b} ” » » Lt E. S. GOO}]EI' 2
» » » » Capt. J.E.A. O'Dwyer »
b W W e B Sydney Smith »
» » 0 » Lt. H, F. GEI‘VIIG]‘ N

Report by Miss Elizaheth Shooster upon the Bulgarian atrocities
committed on the Serbian prisoners of war (in this report Miss
Shooster states that she never saw « anything as terrible as the
Bulgarian nNabion »)......ccceseieeiiieciiiiiaiiatinatianans

Report of the Swiss journalists Mr. Dufaux and Mr. Jean Martin
upon the Bulgarian atrocities committed at Prokuplie and in
b 1 2 (o] PR e e e e e L R s

Protocol of Police inquiry concerning the assassination of Serbian
prisoners of war committed in the village of Lioubotin.......

Report of the Prefecture of Bregalnitza on an inquiry made at the
Istip cemetery on the graves of the Serbian soldiers killed by
the BUlBATIANS .\ ves-niressiasulonninneaininn s s sulbelensis

Deposition of Sova Pavloviteh upon the massacre of Serbian sol-

iers committed at Lioubotin............... P e e T e

Statement made by Dr. Hartoun Gazarian, physician, on the
massacres of 200 i1l and wounded Serbian soldiers..........

Report of the Major of the Parish of Chichava on the murder of
thirtythree Serbians .....ccvvevaiiiiiiiaiiiiiierenaeian.s

List of the 150 Members of the Serbian Clergy assassinated by the
Brlrariana e i e s e S

Report of the priest M. A. Yontchich on the assassination of
wenty priests and one officer. . ......... ...l

Statement of D. Popovitch concerning the murder of his father
Onufrie Popovilch curate of the Vlassotintsi church........

Report of the Sub-prefect of the Morava district on the persecution
of priests of the said distriet................ooiiiiiiaiiinnn.

Report of Ahmed Houssein on the camp of prisoners of war at
Al T i R T D S S i e S e Ll

™

™~

73
T3
76
76
T8

82

84

89

93

116
118

o

.

o

B



?/

P

38.

a9

4.
A2
43,
4k,

45,

46.
47.
48,

49,

53,

B4,

57.

58.

59.

11

Deposition of Ahmed Mustapha on the sufferings of the people
forced to work on the road to Kitchevo..........coovvavvvonn
Deposition of Yakub Selim who was forced to work in the Bul-
garian renches. .........oooaiaiiienriaiiiiaiiiiriiieian,
Deposition of Aden Beichir on his internment at Shumen....

Report of T. Uroshevitch, Archpriest of Toplitsa, on the suffer-
ing of the Serbian priests in the prisoners camps............
Deposition of Zagorka Jovanovitch, schoolteacher, on Bulgarian
crimes in the region of Alexinafs............c..coiivmiennnn
Report received from Prof. V. Lazarevitech on the Bulgarian
crimes in the Guevgueli district.............. e
Report on crimes committed by the Bulgarians in the distriet
of Viassobinlsi.. .covoiecivaniiiaiiiuiirmnsnneansnnaraatntes
Report re murder of Th. Djurdjevilch, president of the Smederevo
Tribunal : Th. Zafirovitech M. P. ; Th. Michaelovitch, trades-
man, and Th. Mikitch, judge at the Vranya Tribunal ... .....
Report on the Bulgarian alrocities in the region of Leskovats. ...
Report on the Bulgarian atrocities in the Doiran districh........
Results of inquiries made in the Prokuplie distriet (Toplitsa
Department). This document contains the statistics on the Bul-
garian CriMes .......c..ieeuietiiioneiaoie et
Deposition of Dara Popovitch, daughter of a Serbian priest, who
has been beaten, tortured and violated by the Bulgarian
0 13 L N e e T e e T A AT e e i
Deposition of Paraskeva Radovitch, who after suffering flogging
from the Bulgarians became for a certain time insane........
Deposition of M. Choyleff, officer in the Bulgarian army, concern-
ing the Bulgarian atrocities which he himself witnessed. . ..
Deposition of V. Dijakonov_ efficer of the Bulgarian army, on the
massacres execufed on the civilian Serbian population........
Deposition of Jordana Yagnevitch, re. the murder of Gutza Vesse-
vitech and her baby girl............ e e Y
Deposition of N. Gatchevitech, N. Georgeviteh and A. Yovanovite
on the massacres of the Serbian population committed princip-
ally on women and children in the village of Bogumil........
Deposition of 1. Teovitch on the tortures inflicted by the Bulgar-
ians on his mother aged 60.................. T s
Deposition of Helen and Marko Natchevilch concerning a sermon
made by the Bulgarian Bishop Melentive advising Serbian
women to cohabit with Bulgarian soldiers..................
Depositions of Vaska Petrovitch, Ivan Kostitch, Gvozdan Stano-
yeviteh and several other persons on massacres of the Serbian
population, specially women and children, at Dolgovatz. ...
Deposition of D. Milenkovitch whose whole family of seven mem-
bers, included an infant not yet christened, have been mas-
sacrated by the Bulgarians..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiieiianin.
Deposition of Stoyanka Stoykoviteh who witnessed the wholesale
massaeres ab Dolgovatz. .. ....o il

119

120
120

122
125
127
133
139

146
150

161

162
167
1689
170
171

172

173

174

175

178

178




G0 bl AL B

61.

64.
65.

63.

69.

70,

2.

73.

4.

75.

T6.

?7!

78.

v

Deposition of Kone Zdravkovitch on the wholesale massacres at
B s el oGy e oo W e o 1 2 e e e e e T
A letter of the Bulgarian Metropolile of Ochrida to the Bulgaiian
Prime Minister concerning the historie reliquies of the Ochrida

church which the Bulgarian Government confiscated in an ar- -

T AN o e e T i e s
Telegraphic instructions of the Bulgarian Colonel Popow to treaf
the Serbian sanitary persontel as prisoners of war..........
Order of lhe Chief of the Staff of the 9th Bulgarian Division pres-
crihinﬁ to treat as prisoners of war all valid eivilians between
FRN SR B0 e e S e Y e e e e T T
Order of the Bulgarian Lt. Popow concerning the confiscation of
Sl Sl o S AR SR RS e S S e
Order of the Prefect of Uskub prohibiting the use of the Serbian
el T TR e S JON S G e LR el W R
Order of the Bulgarian Major-General Bradistilof concerning the

internment of all Serbia priests and schoolmasters......
Order of the Bulearian General Kulintchey concernifiz the confis-
cation and annihilation of Serbian bOOKS....c.ivviiciiviiiig

Cireular order of the Prefect of Vranya prehibliing the use of
the Serbian language to his own functionaries, who, as if
appears, have forgoiten the Bulgarian language::..:.::....

Proclamation of the Bulgarian GColonel Protoguerov hdsimilating
all attempts to eseape by the prisoners of war fo aéts of brig-
AndaTe e s e e s e R

Circular order of the Bulgarian Ministry of Interior stating that
the Bulgarian Administration was not able to thake her popular
in East Serbia nmor in Macedonia:s........ VEaEh S

Instructions of the Bulgarian Colonel Petev concerning the com-
position of records upon escapes of prisoners of war..........

Report of the Bulgarian Lit. Inghilisof aceusing the Sec. Lit. Petkoy
for having ordered to burn Serbians alive in furnaces........

Order of the Sub-prefect of Preshevo coneerning the internments
Df Gl‘eeks LS R B LR F T (T A, 1 Tinesidsas Eobomun oS v e inan .

Circular order of the Sub-prefect of Buyanevisi prohibiling the
use of esrfain Serbian words......... o OO MO e S T Nt

Letter of M. Theodoroff, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Bulgdria,
to General Chrétien, Commander of Allied Troops in Bulgaria,
conlaining the confession of the murder commilted upon the
Metropolite Vinceni and several other Serbian pries&v...;...

Verbal note of the Duteh Minister at Sofia stating that the Bulgar-
ian Red Cross Society failed to keep its engagements with
regard to the needing Serbiah families................ s

Letter of the President of the Bulgarian Red Cross in which he
declares that all inhabitants of Serbia occupied by the Bulgar-
ian troops became followingly Bulgarian subjeets.......... ..

Specialized instruetions of the Chief of the military Inspector of
the Morava province, the Bulgarian General Nerezof, concern-
ing the policy to be followed in Bulgarising this provirce.
There 15 said : « All that is Serbian must he destroyad, »....

179
180
181

181
182
182
183
184

184

187
187
188
188
189
190

192

193




NOTE.

Immediately after the liberation of Serbia in 1918 an Interallied
Commission was formed on the initialive of the Serbian Government
o examine the atrocilies committed by the Bulgarians in the Serb-
ian territories occupied by them in 1915. Upon this Interallied Com-
mission representing the Principle Allied Powers (Greal Britain and
France, the British Delegate was Li.-Colonel H. B. Mayne. The Com-
mission issued an extensive report which concludes as follows

« All the horrors of the most terrible periods of human history
which we believed had for ever disappeared, have made their appea-
rance again in that part of Serbia which the Bulgarians crossed. In
that part not only men were killed and women violaled, but every
kind of torture was exercized and every form of sadism practised.
These facts proved that the Bulgarians have not only an inveterate,
inextinguishable hatred for Serbia but also an extraordinary capacily
of hatred in general. The civilized world cannotl remain indifferent
before such a situation. A people capable of haling up to this point,
so blind and ferocious in the expression of its hate represents a danger
for its neighbours and a disgrace for the epoch in which we live... »

The conclusions of the Commission are based upon numerous
documents which are published in French in three big volumes, each
containing 300 pages. These documents, togelher with the reports
of the above mentioned Interallied Commission, have been presented
to the Peace Conference.

For the purpose of English addition only the most striking exam-
ples of the Bulgarian atrocities or those calculated to offer a clear
indication of the Bulgarian regime in general have been extracted
and lranslated from the French text. These selections will, however,
suffice to convinee the impartial investigator that, in the matier of
atrocities, the Bulgarians far surpassed the infamies of the Germans,
and thal the systematic attempts to exterminate the Serbian nation
find its only parallel in the method adopted by Abdul-Hamid to anni-
hilate the Armenians.







IN° 1.

The Delegate of the Serbian Minister for War
to the Minister for War.

1 beg to forward you the following report.
The Serbian prisoners of war are placed in two camps :

I. — On November 6th 1918, T visited Rouchtsouk :

a) Reserve depots

There were in this camp about 305 prisoners and interned civil-
jans, and amongst them very aged people from various paris of our
country, but for the most part from Macedonia and Old Serbia.

The lists of prisoners and interned civilians are quite inexacl.
The total number is unknown, also the exact number of those at
present in the camps. :

Half the prisoners are under cover, whilst the remainder sleep
outside, on the ground, without prolection.

Those who are under cover are already in a terrible state of
misery and distress, The building where they are placed were buill
to contain cattle and not men. In one porlion of these buildings
which, in normal times, could only contain twenty men, & hundred
have been placed. On account of this, the interior of the room is
in a state of indiscribale dirviiness.

All the prisoners are nearly naked, withont linen or clothing,
and teeming with lice. The walls and floor are also covered with
lice. Up to date, they have not had a bath, and their clothing has
uever been disinfected. The food is impossible : piments boiled in
water, without meat, which latter is distributed to Bulgarian soldiers.
Bread is distributed in insufficienl quantities, just sufficient to keep
them from dying of hunger.
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All prisoners were beaten daily,
armistice.  All, irrespective of age,
exhausling labour. Murders of pris
occurence,

Prisoners had to find their own clothing and hoots.

A representative of the Dutch Minister came seve
distribute money, but the Bulgarians alw
that they were not prisoners of war,
Iree will to work.

even after the signature of the
have been obliged o do the most
oners had become quile an usual

ral times (o
ays refused fhis, stating
but people come of heir OW )

b) In the Camp Roussensko-Pleniteh ky De

There are abhout 470 Serbian prisoners. Many Russians, Roum-
anians and Greeks. They were better in this camp, being all under
cover, but in the same bad hygienic conditions. They also are
beaten daily and horribly ill-treated ; their food is very bad ; they are
without linen or clothing and full

The French have taken unde
prisoners and attend to them an
pecting the Serbian prisoners, the

IUUI(

of lice,

r their prolection the Roumanian
d to their food. Questioned res-
French ecolonel replied that he did
not attend {o them, having received no instructions on (he subject.

The hospital is in a very bad stale ; badly fed, badly cared for,
in fearful state of uncleanliness, the prisoners wear the same cloth-
ing they wore in camp. This hospital is more like a cemetery,

In the lown, as well as in the surrouding villages, are interned
many private individuals, as well a< whole families fron all parts of
our counlry.

Abandoned by everyone, badly ill-tre
military and civilian prisons, w
such freatment.

I have sent the following telegram 1o (

« State of Serbian prisoners and inter
Please have them repatriated urgently. 5

The new commander of the Bulgan
has never visited the camps,
at his post.

The French colonel informed me tha
Sugar Works, had been obliged to give our prisoners, employed in
his Works, old sacks from which o make clothing, slippers and put-
tees, which were worn without linen underneath.

aled, they are thrown into
ithout having done anything o merit

wneral Chrelien

ned civilians very eritical.

ian division at Rouchstshonk
having, he states, but recently arrived

a Belgian, owner of g
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I have personally seen, accompanied by the British Major James
Cunningham, our prisoners who were ill, whom the Bulgarians made
lo drag themselves from one hospital lo another, about twenty in
number, bare-fooled, covered with rags, exhausted like i ving skel-
etons.

[I. — On November gth 1918, al Schoumen (Schoumla).

I visited this camp and saw the following :

@) In the Schoumen Depot, I found 79 soldiers, whom the Bulg-
arians forced to work until the 6th inst in the morning, The build-
ing in which they were lodged is in good condition. No officers in
the camip : a Bulgarian N. C. 0. being in command.

The prisoners are constatly bealen, assassinated and robbed.
They state that a fortnight ago, the Bulgarians assassinated and robbed
two in the waler closel, whilst they were following the laws of
nature. In January, at a railway station, they killed a Serbian offi-
cer, culting of his head, and throwing the body of the unfortunate
man, pierced with bayonet thrusts, into Jhe street, near the station,
in order that our prisoners might see it when passing. The body
remained there for two days and was seen by all the soldiers in the
camp. I have taken the names of two witnesses : Sima Lepojevitch
of Brod, Vlassotinzi district, Vranje province, and Dragoutine Stevl-
shileh, of Sikirritza, Parachine district, Morava province.

The body of a soldier murdered at the station remained twenty
days without burial, in a very advanced slate of pulrefaction., Tt
was also seen by Mr and Mrs Georgeopoulos, Manager of the Cavalla
GCustoms, who were interned, and by our soldiers.

Many of our countrymen were murdered during the year 1917,
their murderers never being troubled.

The food of the prisoners is the same as in other camps, i. e.
without meat, except the meal of onmie carrion.

The prisoner, Diha lzolileh was bealen and robbed of all his
money, in all 2300 dinars,

b) At Schoumen Lower Camp.

In this camp, the interned civilians are more numerous than
soldiers, and mixed with Greeks. The greater number are from Mae-
edonia or Old Serbia and are in a sad ztate of misery. Foreibly ret-
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ained, they are not fed, and have not even water to drink. In this
camp, 20 of our soldiers were separated from the other prisoners,
under prelext of quaranline. They relaled the following facls : on
October o4th, a German, Manager of a Sugar Works siluated about
two hours from Schoumen, called at the camp lo look for prisoners,
peeferably those who had already worked for him. These having
refused o proceed to the works, where they had already been badly
treated, were bealen by order of Caplain Marin Petrov, :

Sergent Schteitch, of Markovilza, Kossanitza district, Toplilza
provinee, was murdered at this works in October last, i. e. a few days
after the signature of the armistice.

Fifteen of our soldiers, wo were interned in the same camp as
the above-mentioned twenty soldiers, were conduected to an unknown
destination, and have nol since been heard of.  The general opinion
is that they have been assassinaled.

¢) In the military prison, I saw aboul 100 prisoners in a lament-
able state. They remained three days without food or drink and
could hardly remain standing. These unfortunates are obliged to
satisfy the laws of nature in she room in which they are iniprisoned.
The whole are lodged in two rooms, each of which has room for
iwenly men only.

At my request to release the said prisoners and send them to
camp, the Commandant of the Bulgarian Division, contrary fo his
promise lo accede to my request, immediately sent thein fo Dobrileh,
where 1 found them on my arrival.

d) In the civilian prison, there are also many of our soldiers.

¢) Twenly Serbian prisoners are forcibly refained as allendants
at the Schoumen Hospital. They have been econslvained 1o sign a
request staling thal they wished to remain in Bulgaria.  YWhen giv-
ing me (his statement, they however declared thai they were impat-
iently awailing the moment to return to theiv country.

S
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7) Men and women are further interned in the towns. The Bul-
carians had interned : Miss Militza Gregoricviich, teacher of Djiounis,
simply because she was a teacher in Macedonia twenly five years ago,
and Mrs Stanca Oubavkilch, teacher, of Skoplje. The latter was
heaten and inhumanly ill-treated. I demanded that they be anthor-
iced to return with the other interned persons to Serbia,
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1. -— On November 1oth and 11th 1918, at Varna,

Visit to the camp of our prisoners of war and interned civilians.
Their situation is the same as everywhere else. They are starved,
naked and also full of lice. Their food is horrible. They receive no
mieat, They are given 200 grammes of bread daily., A large num-
ber of these prisoners arrived from various parts of the Dobroudja,
where they were emploved in agricullure. They speak of the nam-
eless atrocities and the bad treatment they received on the part of
the military and civil authorities, and also on the part of the Dob-
roudja peasants who were guarding them. The exacl number of
these prisoners is unknown, bult from a privale source, il would
appear that there are 8 to roooo in the quadrilateral Rouchtshouk —
Schoumen — Varna — Constanza.  Their food was beller than that
of the prisaners in the towns. The work done was nol paid for.

Secing thal Dobritch is a chief town, I sent Captain Dr Petrov-
itch from Schoumen to Dobritch, whilst Dr Teheoviteh rcemains al

Schoumen.

GENERAL INFORMATION

1° The state in which are our prisoners and interned civilians
(imen, womer, children and aged persons) is desperate.

2" Assassinalions, tortures, vexations of all natures, are daily and
useal, The Bulgarians are working in a systemalic manner lo ex-
terminate our population.

3° The military and civil authorilies do not carry out orders rec-
cived from Sofia,

4° Our populations is dispersed all over Bulgaria, in villages as
well as in towns. It is placed under the supervision of the civil and
military authorities, but in fact, no one looks after them. They are
at the mercy of all.

5° The Bulgarian civilian and military prisons are overflowing
with Serbian civilians, who are exposed to every ill-treatment. The
Bulgarians allow them to die of hunger, and inflict corporal punish-
menb on them.

6° The Bulgarians slill oblige our prisoners to work for them
to-day. -

rx
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7° Serbians are also employed in the Bulgarian army. Those
who escaped and were recaptured, were sent to hard labour.

8" The repatriation of our countrymen is rendered very difficult
by the Bulgarians, whilst the trains in the direction of Sofia are crow-
ded with Bulgarians,

9" The Bulgarian authorities, after having obliged our interned
civilians (women, children and aged persons) to come fo the rail-
way slalions, make them wait needlessly on the platform for ten or
twenty days before sending 1hem back to their country.

SUMMING-UP.

In order that all our conntrymen mav be reunited al the earliest
possible moment, for repatriation, il is indispensable :

1° To appoint in all Bulgarian towns Commissions composed of
allied and Serbian offlicers, in order to exercise a conitral over the
Bulgarian authorities.

9" Thal the French military authorities uphold our cause lo the
best of their ability, and help our official commission.
November 15th 1918. ; ¥
Signed : J.-C. CunniNgHAM,
Sofia. Major, Argyll & Sutherland H'landers.
Colonel Drag. T. NicorAateviTcn,

IN° 2.

To the Interallied Enquiry Commission
Uskub.

In my quality of member-expert of the Commission, the under-
signed has inspected the religious buildings of Uskub and of certain
villages of the wooded distriet of Uskub. Az a result of this insp-
ection, | beg lo make the following reporl :

The Bulgarian authorilies have endeavoured in three different
ways to deteriorale the religious buildings in the occupied territory.
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1 They destroyed or damaged these buildings with a view to
render theim usless for religious services.

This is the case with the Greek Church at Uskub. In this
church. the whole of the interior is demolished and nothing remains
of the furniture. The alter, the icon curlain, the tables, etc., have
all been destroyed. The chair is also destroyed and the tiles have
been broken and carried away, The church has in this way been
profaned and rendered improper for religious services, The malerial
damage must be estimated by experts,

2° The Bulgarians have profaned Mahommedan religious build-
ings by using them for all manner of profane uses, and by endanger-
ing the preservation of these buildings.

The Mosque of Iaia Pacha al Uskub may be taken as example.
The Bulgarians first of all used it as a prison, then as a repair shop
for automobiles.  The damages can only be valued by experts.

3* The Serbian religious buildings, chielly in the villages, appea-
red to have been used by the Bulgarians for two objects. Firstly, fo
destroy all which might awaken the conscience of the Serbian nation;
secondly, lo bring in elements which would tend to cause the popu-
lations of these villages lo lurn to Bulgarianism.

Thus at Koutchevichte, in the narthex of the church, at the nort-
hern side, they painted Saint Jean Ossogovski, after having effaced
ihe former piclure which probably represented one of the Serbian
kings or saints. In the exlra, or anterior, narthex, all the Serbian
saints have been painted out. They then painted St Cyril and St Met-
hod, and on the northern wall « Boris, Emperor of the Bulgarians ».
This has also been done in the churches of the villages of Poboujie,
Glouch, Bagnan, Tchourtchere, etc.

To illustrate the acts of the Bulgarian authorities, the under-
signed will eite the statement of Dimitri Tchelikitch, grocer at Tch-
ourtchere, and carelaker of the church there.

Tehelikiteh declares that the Bulgarian Metropolitan Neophyte
sent him a written deed in which he ordered him to receive the
painter Dimitri and carry out his orders. The painter Dimitri wis-
hied 1o painl three pictures in the church and demanded for this the
siem of 300 levas. Tcehelikiteh declared that he had not this amount
on account of the church funds. The painter then proceeded to
Koulchevitehle, where he saw the Police Comunissioner Kole (Nico-
lag) pope Michailoyv, ex-coachman of Uskub and Bulgarian irreg-
ular, to whom he stated that he had not been able to arrange maiter
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with Tchelikilch. This commissioner then called Tchelikitch, and
ordered him to tax the village for the necessary sum if the church
could not pay. The money was however paid oul of the churck
funds.

In order lo propagate Bulgarianism, orders were given to paint
in all visible places portraits or landscapes with Bulgarian inscrip-
tions. Thus, over the door of St Archange Monastery, near the vil-
lage of Koutchevichte, St George and St Michel were painted, with
Bulgarian inscriptions, whilst in a special frame was placed the fol-
lowing inscription : restored in 1916, at the cost of Tossif D. Makarov.
Below the frame, at the right, Vassil D-D Vassilov, painter. It is
the same in the Bagnaai Church, portraits of St Gabriel and St George
appearing on the wall of the south side, with the inscription « Gift
of Nedelko Petrov in 1913, in memory of his house and his child.
Dimiche Vassev, painter. »

To complele the explanation of lhe Bulgarian objects, as regards
the Serbian Church and their conduet towards same, the undersigned
allaches here with Lhe original slatement of the painter Dimitri A.
Papradichki. This slatement was registered by the Commission sub.
1ho, December 13th 1918,

1 also beg fo inform the Commission that Mr Milan Boroieviteh,
Professor at Skoplie College, will contlinue the engniry as per orders
received, and will send his report of same.

Dated ad Uskub, December 14th rg18.

Member-Expert of the Commission,

(Signed) : Dr Miloie M. Vassrremn.

N°¢ 3.

1) Statement by Lazare Doitchinovilch, 57 years of age, farmer,
fiving al Lapotintsi, JTablanitza district.

. In the month of March 1g17, a revolt broke out in the Jablan-
itza district. It was caused by the acls of cruelty and the excesses
committed by the Bulgarians : the latter called in the military to
suppress the revoll. Finding it impossible to resist, the rebels disp-
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ersed, but a portion of them was neverlheless captured by the Bulgar-
ians, or surrendered : [ was amongst them.

A short time afterwards, I returned to the employment of the
Jablanitza Municipality, as postboy and postman.

During the following month of August, the Bulgarians took
advantage of this lo affirm that T knew the rebels and that I carried
letters to them. They questioned me. 1 replied that I ignored what
they asked me. To make me confess, they tortured me. The first
time, I was taken to a square, undressed, laid flat on the ground, and
whilst a soldier held my head, and another my feet, I received [ifty
blows with a stick on the back. The blows were very violent. The
scene took place before all the inhabitants of the village of Lapot-
intsi. The torture over, | was able by crawling to regain my house,
where T remained a fortnight without heing able to remain upright,
being obliged to remain constantly on my stomach.

Four weeks after this torture, I was again called up by the Bulg-
ariana.  They told me that [ had hidden my gun at my house and
that they knew that T was still bearing letters to the rebels. This
pretext was as false as the former. [ denied it. 1 was again torl-
ured, in the school near Lhe Municipal Buildings.

There, my arins were tied togelhier and brougiit behind ny
back, so tightly that the blood poured from my hands and that 1 felt
mv chest erack and fainted. When I relurned to myself, the Bulgar-
ians asked me whether I had anything to say. I replied in the negat-
ive. Uupon this, I was cast into prison and kepl there three weeks.
_ 1 was finally released, having said or admitted nothing.

2) Statement by Michaelo Stankowitch, aged 27, farmer, living
al Lapotintsi, Jablanitza provinee.

I was taken prisoner by the Bulgarians in October 1916 and sent
{o Pirot. From there I managed to escape and regain iy village of
Lapotintsi where I was nol troubled during the year 1916, In March
1917, there was a revolt at Jablanitza and in the neighbourhood. In
June [ was imprisoned and maintained in a dark cell for 56 days.
The Bulgarian Authorities asked me whether I knew the rebels, being
l.)ersuadéd that T did so. 1 veplied that T did not know them and
was ignorant of the matter. I was released and regained my village.
At the end of three days, a company of Bulgarian infantry, comm-
anded by Lt. Philippolf, arrived in the village. This officer brought
logeﬂleru all the inhabitants, men, women, children, and asked them




for information re. the rebels.  As hLe had four names on a paper, of
which mine was one — the others being two old men and Lazare Doit-
chinovilch — he immediately called us before him and asked us the
names of the rebels, pretending thal we must know them and that we
supplied them with bread. We all replied that we did not know
them. We were immediately bastinadoed, before all the inhabitants
of the village, men, women and children. We were beaten with
swilches made of three rods joined together, We were naked, laid
flat on the ground, face down. One man held our head and another
our feet. I received fifty blows, on the back, the seat and the legs.
During the torture, a man asked me to confess : I replied that I knew
nothing. After the torture, 1 was taken to Lt Philippofl, who asked
me to confess. T still replied that T knew nothing. This officed ord-
ered the torture to be recommenced : he remained a few sleps away
and waltched the scene. I received a further thirty blows, Madd-
ened by the pain, I cried « I will confess, I will confess, leave me
alone. » Brought before the licutenant, he askes me « Why allow
yourself to be killed in this marmer, you should have begun by conf-
essing ». When I replied that T had nothing to say and that I had
only promised o confess because T was weakened by the pain, he
ordered that I should be killed by thrashing. 1 was again laid on the
ground and beaten. T do not know the number of blows I received,
or the time it took, as I fainted. Picked up in a fearful state, T was
put in an ox-wagon and carried to the village of Bellanovtze, where
I was imprisoned two days, then conducted to Gornje-Brianie, head-
quarters of a Bulgarian batallion. For three weeks I was Kept in
prison, withoul care or remedies, fed on a piece of bread every two
days and a little wafer. 1 received no medical attention. After
ithree weeks 1 was =enl (o Cosantiteh, where a cavalry unit was stat-
ioned. There again I was thrown into prison. The following day,
I was called by the Lt-Commander of Cavalry, Kacheff, who told me
ihat he had heard from a certain source that 1 knew much aboul the
rebels.  Without thinking of my sufferings, and on my negative
reply, he ordered me to have twenly-five blows, and kept me a fort-
night in prison.

When I returned home, I immediately received a visit from
i cavalry sergent of the mounted police. I was again beaten on e
head with an animal’s sinew, under pretext ihat T had not saluted
the sergent. My head was covered with blood.

This violence was the last I had to endure, [ may add that
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the question of the salute was simply a prelext, as the military police
had had orders to watch me.

_These two slalements were received on December 17th 1918,
al I_-';-'jkub, by MM. Gavrilowilch and Bonnassienx, Delegates of the int-
erallied Commission of Enquiry.

N¢ 4.

We, the undersigned, members of the interallied Commission of
Enquiry, proceeded on December 18th 1918, to the Uskub Presbyt-
erian Chureh at 5 o’clock p. m., and questioned Mgr Myedia, Calholic
Bishop of Prizrend, on a visit lo Uskub, who made the following stat-
ement :

« Mgr Vineent, orthodox avchbishop of Uskuh, who arrived at
Prizrend with the Serbian Army in relreal. called on me. He rem-
ained in this town after the departure of the Serbian army, and was
found there by the Bulgarian Army. When I learnt, a few days
later, that the Bulgarian Military Authorities had decided to send
him, on foot, to Ferizowitch, I appealed to them and asked that consid-
eralion be shown lo the posilion and advenced age of Mgr Vincent,
who could certainly not accomplish on fool the distance of sixty kilom-
etres about, which separale Prizrend from Ferizowitch. I was glad
to have succeeded, as a carriage was given him. I am ignorant of
the circumstances of the death of Mgr Vincent. =

The revictualling of the town of Prizrend, during the Bulgarian
occupation, was very defeclive ; bread and food were wanting and
there was a famine. Many people died of hunger. The exact num-
ber of deaths is unknown, but, in my opinion, it exceed a thousand.
In the evening, when everyone returned home, one heard everywhere
the cries of children and women who called for bread.

This farmine was, in my opinion, caused by the enemy, as bread
was nol wanling in the surrouding villages, bul it was strictly forb-
idden to bring any to Prizrend. These restrictions were based on
political and sanitary reasons.

In spite of the Austrian protection of the catholie church, 1 was
frequently unable to carry oul ity ministry, and I had on several
occasions to appel to King Ferdinand and demand his intervention.

After this audience, we closed and signed the presenl minules.

BonNassIEUX,
P. GAVRILOVITGH.
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Statement by Zorka Stergewitcli, married name Georgewileh,
aged 29, living at Uskub -

Before the Bulearian oceupation, [ was ab Prizrend with my
husband and my daughler aged eighteen months, living with my par-
ents, as I am a native of that town. An order from the Bulgarian aut-
horities having ordered everyone to rejoin his pre-war domicile, I
went to Uskub, where I lived. We were lelt relatively al peace unlil
March 1917, and had only six visits and perquisilions of the police.
In March 1917, my husband was called up by the head of the secret
police, named Alexandre, son of Koutchouck Petre.  This man fold
my husband thal he was to be interned in Bulgaria, but that he could
escape if he paid immediately one thousand franecs. My husband
paid him this sum, and, acting on the advice of the man, did not leave
our house for two months, being in hiding there.  In February 1918,
he was called (o the Lhird Police Commissioner's office at Uskub. He
was beaten with a stick under pretext that, according to the Bulgar-
jan aulhorities, he knew of numerous Serbian m!dmr‘a remaining in
the country and enemies of Bulgaria. He was warned thal he Imd
every chance of being shot. The matter was arranged by the pay-
ment ol 1200 [rancs t]vmandcd by the Chief of Police, and which
was made the following day. In order to find this sum, we had lo
sell our last belongings and valuables, which we had been able to
save from pillage or requisition. He was set free. The chief of pol-
ice is named Stoitche.

in the month of May, my hubsand was again imprisoned. He
was ordered to stale the names of pretended citizens of Uskub, which
they said he should know, and who were plotling with him against
the Bulgarian occupation. On the evening of his imprisonment, he
was led to the central police pusnm where he found me with my
child. I had in fact been taken there in the afternoon for having app-
caled to people to take up my hushand's case. There, we were bealen
with sticks bv the soldiers. This torture was carried out in the pres-
ence of our child, aged al that time four years. Our torturers did
nol cease to beal us when this little girl, who was terrified and eried,
gave such loud shrieks of terror thal il was evident that she was on
the point of succombing with emotion at the horror of the spectacle.
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The following evening I was allowed lo lake the child to our house
to care for her, but the poor child died the following day, through
the emolion and moral torture she had undergone.

For a month and a half, we were left at peace. But in July,
the functionary of the Secret Police, M. Tosheff, called up my hus-
band (o tell him lhat heavy th&lgm weighed on him, lo such an
exlent that he could not believe all that the police had told him, on
account of his conduet. He assured him thal he would fry to
clear him, but my husband would have lo pay him six hundred
francs, This was done.

Rather more than a fortnight before the return of our troops to
Uskub, 1 was led by the police to the Head Police Office where T was
t[il(-!.‘-.llc_)lr{_({. I was ordered lo state the persons suspected of being
Serbian patriols. 1 did not even understand the questions put to
me, or whal they required of me. 1 could only state that the people
I saw were my relations or neighbours, known to the police, and who
had never had any trouble : my declaralions were unawailing. I was
abused and disgustingly treated for my denials, and as then beaten
on the back, the seat, before the police who had accompanied me
and the functionaries who encouraged me to confess. A clerk ques-
tioned me whilst T was receiving the blows, which were delivered
with extreme violence. I was al the time at six months’ pregnancy.
1 felt atrocious pains. At a given moment, I was told that I was to
be put into a sack and be drowned : at the order of the conmissioner
lhe sack was brought. The beating continued, 1 cannot say how
many blows | received, or how long the torture lasted ; overcome by
the pain, T fainted. W hilst prostrate, by an involuntary reflex, pur-
ely mechanical, 1 satisfied the laws of nature. 1 was then raised,
again beaten and the sack was put over my head. T cried, appealed,
stating that I was pregnant, and asking that I be killed rapidly, with
my tluld ralher than be made to suffer for such a length of time,
A pcalmcnmu, or a soldier, pointed his revolver at me, as though he

“was going lo kill me.

I was brought back to prison in a lamentable state. Wilhout
leaving me time to rest myself, the police seized me and pushed me
hefore a colonel, in command of the division. There, this officer
informed me, after having read the paper handed him by the police,
that my case was grave, and that I merited to be executed. This was
however umdoned on account of my pregnancy.




Without allowing me to rest, I was sent to the fortress, and on
the following morning was included in a convoy of 5o Serbian pris-
oners of war, escorted by 35 Bulgarian soldiers. We were senl in
the direction of Kounmanovo, by the mountain route, and arrived
after a march of two days and a night. T was the only woman
amongst these soldiers. It is impossible to state what I suffered dur-
ing this march, after the torture T had endured in prison. At Koum-
anovo, we arrived in the morning, but the same evening we were
sent to Vrania ; I was extenuated, without slrength, alter two hours'
march, and was obliged to fall behind the convey with three pris-
oners ill and very fatigued. Three Bulearian soldiers remained to
guard us.  After a talk with the prisoners, we proposed to our gnards
to relurn to Koumanovo, as we were unable lo advance further.
They agreed Lo do this for the sum of five hundred francs, which we
contributed between the four of us. T would add that on leaving
Uskub, my sister sent me some linen, amongst which 1 found six
hundred francs in bank notes. T was thus able to pay my share for
returning to Koumanovo.

In this town, I entered the first Turkish house | found. The
soldiers did not oppose this. The Bulgarian army was already in rel-
veal and the town was only guarded by a few irregulars.  In the bey’s
house T was well treated and it was there that I was first able to see
the state I was in. My body was black and swollen and 1 had pain
everywhere.  Touched by pily, this man had me cared for immediat-
ely and had miy back covered with fresh sheepskins.  This reatment,
applied to my back and seat, did me a greal deal of good.  Before
and during the treatment, I passed my days and nights kneeling, not
being able to rest mysell or lay down, on any parl of my body.

Six days afterwards, the Serbian troops entered Konmanovo.
The commandant saw me and heard my story. A doctor examined
me and gave me a cerlilicate setling forth my condition. My hus-
band, advized immedialely, came for me to Koumanovo and took me
to Uskub, where 1 slowly recovered. Nevertheless I am haunted by
the thought of the state of the child of which I am pregnant, and of
ils health. I am in the ninth month of my pregnaney.

This statemenl was received on December s0th, 1918, at Uskub,
by MM. A. Bonnassieux, P. Gavrilovitch, members of the interallied
Commission of Enquiry.
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Statement by Nicolas Blagoievitch, aged 18, native of Prichtina.

Two or three days after the entry of the Bulgarians inlo Prich-
tina, half a score of Bulgarian soldiers, with an officer, came 1o
our honse and demanded my father George, to go, oul inlo the courl-
vard.  When my father had gone out, the Bnlwdllan officer deni-
anded his name and profession and if he had done military service.
My father replied that he was named Georges Blagoievitch, joiner by
lnde, and in his quality of Serbian, had done military service in the
Serbian army, at Belgrade. He added that he was still a Serbian sold-
jer and on that account still wore the Serbian uniform. That he had
fought against the Austrians and was only at home because he was
ill. The Bulgarian officer then =aid to him : « Ah well, you w ill now
be in the Bulgarian army, and will serve mlh theme, » My father
replied that hie could not serve hecanse he was ill, and for this reason
he had been allowed to leave the Serbian army. He then added that
he was nol Bulgarian, but Serbian, and did not wish to serve in the

Bulgarian army. The officer then said to him : « You will now be

'Ll]n'umn and will serve in the Bulgarian army. » My father replied
hat he was born in Serbia and had taken the oath to the King of
Sm‘}na. but the Bulgarian officier replied : « You must be Bulgarian
and Bulgarian soldier, otherwisse you will be killed. » My father
lhen lmﬁ.:rr‘(l him not to kill him because he was Serbian and could
not serve in the Bulgarian army, bul the Bulgarian officer said :
« Seize him and bind him. » My mother and I were close to my
father, and wished Lo defend him, but the Bulgarian soldiers prev-
ented us. I have omilted to state that there were four or five Austrian
soldiers there also, who on their part intervened with the Bulgarians
to leave us in peace. [ recollect that one of the Ausirians came to
mie and caressed me, saying to the Bulgarians in the Serbian lan-
wuage : « Leave this man for his child’s sake ».  The Bulgarian officer
replied : « Mind yonr own business ; it has nothing to do with you ;
take him away, you others. » My mother and I, who were there close
to my father, went to his rescue, but were pushed away. My father
said : « O, my God » whilst my mother began to weep. Four Bulgar-
1an soldiers again took hold of my mother and myself, and g gagged our
mouths and ears. The olhers led my father into the courtyard, then
into the street. Ten minutes afterwards, these soldiers returned with
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the officer, and the laller approached my mother, whose name is
Maria, and said to her : « We have killed your husband, now it is
your turn. » He ordered the soldiers to take her away also, and left
a sergent with me to guard me. After a quarter of an hour, they
returned wilh a carl. They entered the house with the officer and
picked up all the goods, then left, laking me with them, by the same
route where my father and mother had passed. After having gone
aboul 1000 metres, we reached a spot where lhe soldiers who had
taken away my fallier were occupied with some work. When we
had stopped there, an Austrian soldier said 1o me : « Do you see, it
is there where the Bulgarians have killed your father and mother, and
now they are going to bury them. » 1 looked, and saw my father
and mother laid on their backs near a pil, their faces and bodies coy-
ered with blood. 1 specially remarked thal my mother had an enorm-
ous wound in the throat. I commenced lo ery, but two Bulgarian
soldiers gagged my mouth with handkerchiefs. The Austrian soldier
then took me with him, put me in the carriage and brought me lo
Koumanovo, where we arrived Lwo days laler. From there, he took
me te Sofia, then to a town on the Danube, from whence we went by
boat to Belgrade. There the soldier handed me to an Austrian officer
named Friedrich, who took me to Budapesth, where I remained for
three years in an office, cleaning windows and floors until about three
weeks ago, when this officer Friedrich said to me : « You can now
relurn 1o Prichtina. » He then took me into the town and handed
me to Serbian soldiers returning from captivity. With these sold-
iers, | first returned (o Belgrade, then o Leskovals, Yranje and Us-
kub. T was there admitted to the school for preparing for the railway
service. I omitted to say that the Austrian officer Friedrich gave me
five erowns when I left Budapesth.

This statement was received on Deceinber z1th, 1918, at Uskub,
by Mr P. Gavriloviteh, member of the interallied Commission of
thqnil"\', and M1 V. Protitch, secrelary of the Commission.
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1) Statement by Kama Ristovitch, aged 20, without profession,
living with his mother, landlady at Kavadar.

AL the commencement of the Bulgarian occupation, al the end
of October 1915, I was alone in the house one evening, 1y mother
having gone out to make purchases in town. Two Bulgarian sold-
jers suddenly entered the house : they were drunk, as much from their
victories as from the drink they had had. They drew their knives
and approached me, menacing to kill me if | did not accede to their
desire. 1 refused and eried oul, but no one came to my rescue. In
spite of my struggles, I was thrown down and violated. These two
soldiers oulraged me in turn. This accomplished, they withdrew,
after mocking me. I became pregnant through them and bore a
child. nine moths later, which lived six months.

[ wished to complain, but the inhabitants advised me not 10 go
out, as it T showed myself, I might excite their passions further.

[ would add that my mother and I have been robbed of all we
possessed, wheal, flour, sheep, clothing, linen, footwear, represen ling
about four thousand francs.

4) Statement by Dhalip Moustaphovitch, farmer, aged 38, living at
Drenovo.

I am Mahommeddan, but Serbian by nationality. At the end of
the month of October, the Bulgarians penetrated into my house under
pretexi that T was Serbian. They abused, menaced and then beal
me, They then entered the room reserved for my wife, and before
my eyes took her and led her outside. They compelled her to follow
(them into the mountains. She remained with them for three days.
On her return, she informed me that she had been violated by them,
and had had to submit to them on several occasions. Hearing this,
weized with fear, I took my gun and fled to the mountains. After
weveral months, I returned to Drenovo. 1 was denounced and the
Bulgarians interned me in Bulgaria. My house was completely pil-
Jaged during my absence and my wife had to beg for a living. I was
inlerned at Sofia, Plovdiv, Krdjali and Djoumonldjina. During the
areater parl of the lime I was emploved on the roads. After some
time, | was sent back to Drenovo and the Bulgarians employed me
at the recruiting quarters, where 1 worked in the military eonvoys.

2
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I escaped at the end of six monihs and was able to remain in hiding
unltil the return of the Serbian 10 Kavadar. I value my furniture and
caltle stolen al four thousand francs.

My sister Chiesa. wife of Achmet Moustaphovitch, was violated
as was my wife was. Bul Lhe Bulgarians, instead of laking her to
the mountains, kept her at Kavadar for several davs, where they out-
raged her. They only released her when her strength was spent.
Her husband, my brother-in-law, was killed because he could not
give my address.

~Whilst in the mountains, I was witness of the following scene :

The Bulgarians brought into the forest a naked man on horse-
back. After placing him against a rock, they stabbed him with bayo-
nets and threw his corpse from the top of a rock into a hollow. 1
recognised this unfortunate vietim ; it was Hranislav Kolabitch, iea-
cher of the village of Dradpia. [ knew him well. Passing peasants
asked the Bulgdnanc to allow them to bury this man. “'It"\ refused.
After they had all gone, T approchaed and recognised holabchh but
did not bury him im‘ fear of being surprised.

3) Statement by housman Kosleviteh, aged 65, farmer, of Rayels.

After the arrival of the Bulgarians, I was under supervision
for about two vears, being suspec led of being Serbophile. 1 was ho-
wever prudent and avoided talking and ddlnlﬂ;l]]o peopln to my house.
I had further three daughters aud feared the inlfrusion of Bulgarians.
In November 1917, a Bulgarian, calling himself Serbophile, deceived
me and 1 consented to receive him, believing him to be really Serb-
ian.  He was named Dimitrie Stoyanovileh. He bronght with him
Iwo men and as he said he was recommended by a friend, I received
them. A first and second visit passed withoul incident, At the
third, ithey arrested me and ook me o the monastery of Rillo, in Bul-
waria. This was one of the worst internment camps., My wile and
lwo of my daughters were interned with me. We were employed on
ihe hardest road labour. . AL the end of a few days my two daughters,
aged twenty and twenty-one, succombed of faligue, exhaustion and
privation. They were obliged o work hard al exhausting work, and
only received insutficient nourishment. They received no altention.

During my internment, my house was completely pillaged. I
possessed flour, wheat, domestic animals : nothing was spared,

These statements were received on January ist 1g1g, al Kavadar,
by Mr A. Bonnassieux, member of the interallied Commission of In-
quiry, assisted by major M. Georgeviteh, expert-interpreter,
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1) Statement by Temelko Nedowiteh, aged §7, farmer, Favisch.

At the beginning of the year 1916, in January, the man Stoyan
Yovanowilch of Mzrend, came to the village, accompanied by 1wo
Bulgarian officers. He called together the nolabilities of the Serb-
ian regime, of whom 1 was one. He asked each one what were his
punctions under the Serbian regime, and if they were really Serbian.
All replied in the affirmative. Then, as an example, he had me com-
pletely stripped. inundated with cold water and imprisoned in a cellar
for two hours. Taken from the cellar and before Stoyan, I was again
questioned and made the same replies as before. In the evening, we
were conducted to Gavadar, where we were imprisoned. Al the end
o lwo days, on account of the good reports which people gave about
us, we were reconducted to Farisch. There the Bulgarians retained
with them my uncle Kostevilch Amied, also the deputy Rislo Arso-
witeli. They took them out of the village and Killed them with kni-
ves. The following day 1 found their corpses covered with wounds,
and their faces also bore traces of violence. I buried the two bodies.
The Bulgarians troubled us no more personally, but pillaged and car-
ried of everything. There is no furniture left in the village. Occas-
jonally they gave requisition slips « raspiska » : sometimes they gave
this and relurned later io claim it : as a result, no one has heen paid.

2) Statement by Alsa Ristova, aged 4o, farmercss, of Farisch.

At the commencement of the Bulgarian occupalion, Wasil Kara-
geoff, with soveral Bulgarian soldiers, came to Farisch. They took
aged 20 and three olher women of the village, of
whom one was agud- s0. They took us up a mounlain near Rouyan.
There we were delivered to ihe soldiers. For eight days we were
violated by these men, who treated us like prostitutes. At the end
of eight days, we were taken back to Fairsch. My daughier only
lived a short time after the emotion she had undergone, and her
shame. The old woman of o also died.

Some time later, the Bulgarians returned. They asked my hus-
hand for money. He gave them whal he had — two louis d'or. Cn

me, my daung hier

this, Wassil Karageofl took my daughter — this happened hefore her
death — and violated her before our eyes. We could nol inlervene,

because Wassil was accompanied by Sloyan

neither my husband nor 1,
well-known irregular.

Yovanowiteh and anolher
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A short time later, the Bulgarians came (o the house and took
my husband. They took him away, [ know nol where, and | have
never seen him since.  Withoul doubt he has been killed.  His name
is Rista Arsovileh. | vecently learnt that he had been killed.

3) Statement by Kamka Demekemelkwitch, aged 30, farmeress,
of Farisch.

Fwas amongst the women of this village whom the Bulgarians
ook Lo Houyan. For eight days we were itsed as their plcnlhmm
We were considered and trealed as prostitules.

When I returned to Farisch, I found my house completely lnll.t-
ged and devalised. T am now PIIIIIPI\ without ressources.

My husband, laken prisoner by the Austrians. returned shortly
afterwards,  Since then, we have been left in peace.

These statements were received on January 2nd, 1918, al Farish,
by M. A. Bonnassieux, member of the mlum]hul Commission of In-
quiry, assisted by Major M. Georgevileh, expert-interpreter.

N° O,

We, the undersigned, member of the Interallied Comumission of
lnquiry, aided by Major Georgeviteh, expert and interpreter, duily
giver powers by the Comnnission, noted and received the following
declaralions, in the course of a journey we made to Negolin, Cavadar,
Fariseh and Veles.

Whilst at Cavadar on January 1st 1g1g. we heard several
wilnesses, whose declarations have heen registered in special minuoles
annexed Lo the present.

We vicited the cemelery, in the upper part of the town, near the

chareh,

The lower portion of the cemetery has been transtormed into an
ulnn air Lheatve : Lhe ground, having a steep slope, has a semi-circu-
lar shape.  The ground has been levc]lpd the tombs taken away and
a dozen benches fitted up, These benehes ave still intacl. Al the
bollom, a platform of earth and stone has been arranged, of reclang-
ular form. This constituted the stage, being very visible,

Above these benches, at the upper part of the cemelery, which
iakes the form of a flal space, parallel bars for gymnastics slill remain,

Tlie cemelery is crossed by a central alley leading to the ehnreh,

To the right, several lombs are damaged : lhe headslones are

—
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broken or thrown down or smashed to atoms. The tumuli of stone
and carth are destroyed, some lotally and as though levelled. other
partially. To the left, the same is to be seen.

Further, the Bulgarians have arranged a cemetery for burying
their dead. After having levelled the Serbian tombs, they have made
an enclosure surrounded by barbed wire. The contrast is very strik-
ing between this part of the cemetery, where the tombs are new and
in good condition, and the remainder of the cemelery where the
tombs are destroyed, partially or tolally, owing to the profanations of
the Bulgarians. ;

We have remarked that on several tombs, and notably on that
of the pope, interred in the cloister of the church, the final syllable
« itch » has been chiselled off. Occasionally it has been replaced by
« off », elsewhere it has nol been replaced.

In the town, several houses have been destroyed. They were
either burnt or thrown down to supply planks, roofs, doors, windows
beams built into the clay walls and constituling the frame of same.
They have fallen down.

The Sub-Prefect and the nolabilities accompanying us, stated
ihat this damage is the work of the Bulgarians. They are recent, and
to us do not appear to have been destroyed anterior fo the war.

»*. On January 2nd 1919, we took advantage of our very shoil
stay al Negotin, fo hear several wilnesses. We were unable, owing Lo
lack of time, to draw up proper tninutes

Fatima Sulieman, aged 20. Her father and husband were killed
because they could not supply the money demanded by the Buigar-
ians. She is withoul resources.

Aicha Sulieman, aged 30. Her hushand was Kkilled for the same
reason. IHer house has been destroyed, her furniture pillaged.

lIove Thraham, aged 41. The Bulgarians carrvied off all the males
from his village — Brusnick — husbands, fathers, children, grand-
fathers. They have never been seen since. Their fate is unknown.
She is therefore unaware of the whereabouls of her hushand. The
entire village has been pillaged. She has taken refuge in a neigh-
bouring village, where she lives on the mayor’s charity.

Veli Effendi, aged 65, priest of Bustrenji.

Was badly outraged, his beard was cul off, the sign of his sacred
character.  The Bulgarians demanded a ransom of 3000 [rs, which he

paid.
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In his village ten persons have been killed : the greater parl of

| . ihe inhabitants were beaten and ill-treated. All Imw been held to
| ransoin and robbed of their furniture,
# Ismid Ahmet, aged 54, priesl and mayor of Bislorije.

: Was held to ransom and paid 3000 {rs lo the Bulgarians. His
l ; brother was Killed. In his village the harvest, cattle riil(l furniture
F il has been stolen,
i

Zeim Helmas, aged 7o, of Bistriza.
l The Bnlommne took from him 3500 Turkish pounds and 30 nap-
| oleons. Has been beaten and ill-treated.  His cattle and harvesl were
: taken without payment ; his house has been burnt. 2
' Chapan Djerepowitch, priest at Dragovo.
1 The Bulgarians have pillaged the mosque ; the earpets and trea-
% sures valued al Sooo frs have been carried off.

We were shown
: Sulieman Hawannvmh aged 12 and Ie.mavl Demovileh, aged 15,
These two children, |JL(UI{|1TI'T to the declarations of the Sub-Prefect
and the notabilities of .\egollu, lost their reason on aceount of the ill-
treatment abd blows caused by the Bulgarians. 1t is plain thal they
no longer have their reason.

Helmas Ali, aged H5 ; Saim Ismael, aged =5 of Dragovo, have
been completely robbed of their possessions.  They have been ill-
ireated and beaten by the Bulgarians.

About 20 further persons conld have been heard, had we hat[ the
time.

In general, these witness are Serbian Mahommedans, against
whom the Bulgarians are very bitter on account of their Serbophilie.

The same day, leaving for Veles, we stopped at Pepelitche to visit
the mozque. The '»1|ldrw is turk, the population Serbophile,

The priest showed us the mosque which has been deprived of its
carpets. The Bulearians, a few days before their retreat, took away
all the carpets.

3° On January 3rvd 1919, at Veles, we heard several wilnesses sep-
arately.

In the town, we visited the two fountains, thal of Sermoli and
that of the barracks. The Serbhian inscriptions on [hese monmments
are hammered or destroved with a chisel.  They commemaorated the
Serhian vietories of 1912, 1913, 1914,

The very vast and important buildings of the State Tobacco Fac-

—— gpp———



tory, and those of the stables, are destroyved. They were burnt by
the Bulgarians a few days before their retreat.

In the libravies, schools and private houses, the hooks printed in
Qerbian have been seized and destroyed by the Bulgarians.

The mayor of the town, M. Bogdanowitch, who lodges us, showed
us, in a room used by Bulgarian officers as a mess, the traces very
plain and old of g revolver shots fired by the officers during their stay
in his house, He declared that a valuable Turkish plate, a family
heirloom, disappeared from the room where he Jodged a Bavarian
Prince. He complained to the Bulgarian Commandant, who replied
that the prince’'s orderly had probably taken it inadvertently.

Drawn up at Uskub, after our return, on Jannary 4th 1919.

BONNASRIETX,

N° 10.

Statement by Zarko Zvetcovitch, aged 25, of the village of Tab-
anova, farmer. '

In 1915, I was a Serbian soldier, and was wounded and taken
prisoner by the Bulgarians. After being cured, 1 was put foreibly
into the Macedonian division. General Protogeroff ordered Capt.
Cheraptief commanding my company, to co-operate in the suppres-
sion of the revolt in Serbia, in all manners, to go from village to
village violating, pillaging and burning. In cerlain villages, after
collecting the men by 10's and 14’s we killed them with machine-
ouns. In other villages we burnt the families in their houses : we
burnt the woman. In the village of Popovalrj, sub-It. Shristoff kil-
led an old man of 6o with blows from a stick. In all we destroyed 3o
villages.

This statement was received on January roth rgrg, at Kouman-
ovo, by Li. Colonel H. B. Mayne, member of the interallied Commis-
sion of Inquiry, assisted by sub-lt. C.-P. Vollos, of licer-interpreter.
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IN° 1l.

1) Stalement by Catherine Babunski. wife of Jean Babunski,
voivode, aged 37, of Veles.

After the departure of my husband in October 1915, I was at
Bouyanovei, with my five children. The eldest was aged 12 and
the youngest 3 months and I fed him from the breast. 1 took refuge
at Prichtina where I was admitted into a Turkish family. 1 was
denounced and perceived that 1 was followed. In order to live, [
was obliged to extract from horse dung the oal grains, which I wash-
ed and then converted into bread for my children. A spy stopped me
and asked me from whence | came @ 1 replied « I am from Belgrade ».
The individual, who knew me replied « No, you are the wife of
the famous Babunski ». [T admittet it, as it was useless Lo deny.
I was ordered lo proceed to Uskub. T had to walk there on foot
and walk 60 kilometres wilh my child in my arms, and the next
youngest on my shoulder. 1T walked two days and one night, follo-
wed by four armed men. At Uskub, on my supplication, they gave
me a carriage which 1 paid 7o levas, and 1 went to Veles. Here
I was seized by soldiers and taken before three men who were irreg-
ulars, Pelar Lesseff their chief, Commandant Tchoukoy and the
police inspector Bichew. T was insulted, ill-treated, invited to
denounce my hushand, stripped naked before them and my child-
ren.  They took from me all my money, 1 had a sum of 22000 frs,
ineluding 18000 belonging to my hushand’s committee and Hooo of
onr own.  Amongst this sum were 8 Napoleons.  After this inter-
view, I was taken into the town, exposed lo the eries of the people
who spat in my face and cursed me. At the Vardar bridee, they
were going to throw me into the Vardar, bul a German officer
intervened and I was spared. It was a Bulgarian officer who had
taken me in his arms and who was going to throw me into the
waler, when the German stopped him, Taken into a house, wilh
my children sHll with me, T was imprisoned and an officer lold me
that I would be hanged the following day. During the night 1 was
taken close lo the Vardar, io a place where a scaffold had been
erecled. The Bulgarian officer said to me « You have two hours 1o
live ». 1 begged him lo allow me to live. Before iy eyes, the
Bulgarians hung lwo women, who also begoed to live, but lhe
Bulgarians were nol lo he moved, After their death, | saw theip
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bodies thrown into the water. The officer again turned to me and
said « You have ten minutes to live ». I was so overcome that I
fainted. In the morning I was taken back to the prison, but dur-
ing the day I was taken from my cell and dragged through the town
and exposed to the shouts and spitting of the soldiers. Finally I was
bound and put into a train, with my children, for Uskub. I was
taken before an officer who insulted me, and who asked for the
hiding place of my husband. I was struck on the face: I was
then put into a cell with twenty five soldiers who endeavoured to
violate me, also my daughter aged 12. By tears and supplicalions,
I was able Lo avoid this shame. Afler twelve dayvs, 1 was sent to
Nisch, where I was imprisoned in a fortress. I was informed that
[ was to be shot at the same time as six popes and six professors.
These men appealed that I be spared on account of my children, 1
was laken to the place of execution ; a Bulgarian officer arrived and
after having struck and insulted me, informed me that my life was
spared, Taken back to prison, I shortly after heard the shots which
warned me that the popes and professors had been killed. Finally,
a lfew days later, I was senl 1o Sofia. En route, one of my children
was thrown from the train by a gendarme. This little girl, aged
6, had her backbone broken and died a few davs after our arrival at
Spfia, after terrible suffering.

[ was imprisoned for three months in a cellar, and had only
bread and waler for food. Vermin covered myself and my children,
and we had wounds caused by the bites of lice and parasites. These
wounds are hardly healed even now. I fell ill, my children also.
I was lended by Serbian doctors and was able to be locked after.
After my recovery I was senl fo the prisoner’s camp at Sofia, where
I remained over a year, doing the same work as other prisoners.
Fromt Sofia, 1 was sent to Philippopoli to another camp, where 1|
only remained a week. Finally T was taken to Carlovo, where I
worked in the fields, my children tending the cattle. At the end
of a year, in February 1918, I was transferred to Belgrade, with my
children, where | was when the allies delivered the town.,

2) Statement by Nicolas Golchewilch, aged 58, farmer, of
Bogoumile.

At the moment of the Bulgarian invasion, irregulars came to
iy house and demanded money, 1 paid Boo francs. They did the
<ame with other inhabitants of the village. Several paid them
money, bul four were killed in spite of having paid money,
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The Bulgarian army arrived twelve to fifteen days after the
irregulars, and as the village was considered as being purely Serb-
ian, its destructions was decided upon. First of all, the Bulgarians
firedd with machine guns on the houses, and then on the flying
inhabilants. My son was killed : those inhabitants of the village,
who escaped, fook refuge at Castiei. Then ihe army arrived and
surronnded the village. The people came down and left their
fiouses ; a large number were killed. Personally, hidden in an
attic, T raised a slate and saw my wife, one of my daughters-in-law,
two danghlers, aged 8 and 4 years being killed. Then 23 women
were complelely stripped and left naked ; they were placed on one
side, whilst on the other 1o voung tzigane girls, also naked, were
placed opposite them. The soldiers then ran to these women and
violated them, under the looks and laughs of the officers.  After the
rape and dances, the soldiers struck them vith knives and all were
iilled. Then 10 young lads of the village were taken to Tscenitiche
and were harbarously killed. They had their eyes gouged out, and
iheir hodies covered with knife wonnds.

A Turk, named Hassan Hadji Alimeldof, of Tscenitchte, after the
death of my wife and daughters, went to their bodies and smashed
their heads with the butt of a rifle.

One of the women, hoping to influence the Bulgarian who was
attacking her, begged him to spare her, but the man, far from being
fonched, slightly recoiled and took his knife and with a violent blow
apened her stomach, from which the intestines came out. The poor
woman collapsed and died shortly after.

The voungest of my daughters lived in agony for four hours.

After the departure of the Bulgarians, T left my hiding-place
and flet to the mountains. As the victims had not been buried by
the Bulgarians, I returned at night, with other men, and dug one
pit, where all were buried. Since then, the relations of the vietims
have been able 1o lake the bodies and bury them separately in the
parish.

At my home, T found the body of my son, aced 17, killed by
bullets. The fingers of his left hand were cut off.

They stole from me Ho sheep, 300 ocques of wheat, » oxen ; my
straw and oats were taken, and I have not been paid for them.

When the Bulgarians were beaten and took to flight, they intended
to intern us. Their defeat saved us.



3) Statement by Stoyan Georgewitch, aged 19, farmer, Bog-
oumli.

Towards the middle of November 1915, a man named Dimtchef,
hutcher, of Veles and an irregular, came to Bogoumli. He came to
my father and told him to follow him. Hidden in a shed, 1 saw my
father go out and follow the man. Following from afar, I endeav-
oured to see whal fook place. T saw Mimtchef tie my father round
the waist to a tree. He then gave him a pick to dig a pit : once this
was completed, the irregular in spile of the prayers of my father,
forced him to lay down in the bottom of the pit. The irregular then
buried him alive. When my father raised himself, the executioner
otruck him with the bayonet attached to his rifle. When my father
fiad ceased io struggle, the irregular filled up the pit.

I saw all, hidden behind a tree in a neighbouring wood. As 1
was barely 16, I dared not intervene fo save my father. I could not
have done any good, and should have suffered the same fate.

Some time later, my mother died of suffering and pain. I was
left alone with my brother aged 8.

The Bulgarians tock 2 oxen, 1 horse, 13 goats, 10 sheep, 1 pig,
1000 ocques of wheat, 15 ocques of cheese, 2000 oeques of hay. As
we had no money, they could not steal any, bul they pillaged the
furniture.

These Statements were received on January 3rd, at Veles, by
Mr A. Bonnassienx, member of the interallied Commission of In-
quiry, assisted by major M. Georgevilch, experl-interpreter.

™N° 12.

Statement by Maxim Novakovileh, aged 22, shopkeeper of
Uskub.

I am of Dalmatian origin, bul prior o the war, [ set up at
Uskub and had Serbian sentiments. My trade succeeded. The war
broke out and I volunteered in the Serbian armvy. but was seriously
wounded in the left leg on November 1=th 1915. I was laken to the
Prichtina Military Hospilal. The Bulgarians arrived and I was taken
prisoner. 1 was fed, as were lhe olher patienls, very economically.
Manyv died for want of food and not of their wounds. Two and a
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half months later, I was taken to Uskub, [ was ten a little better,
but my foot was still in plaster.

At Uskub, the plaster was taken off and 1 was told that 1 could
go home.

T went out carefully with my erutchers, but when I reached my
shop, near the bridge, I saw that the Bulgarians were pillaging and
removing the contents. [ protested ; the Bulgarians prefended that
the shop was abandoned. This was false, as I still had four assis-
lants,

1 went to the Commandant to complain, but instead of giving
me satisfaction, T was put into prison. In prison, I found a Serb-
jan Captain, wounded and tended at Prichtina, Tovan Bran koviteh,
of Pirot. There was also a pope, who was taken out one night and
shot. The Bulgarians told us that he was in another prison ; this
was false.

Ten days afterwards we were deported to Sofia. T took the
irain, as I still had to use crutches. From Sofia to Hastrovo, 1 had
to walk on foot, in all Ho kilometers, in spite of my state. 1 rem-
ained two months in that town, in a hut without windows, which
were replaced by planks. 1 did nol work and was sufficiently fed.
I was transporled to Kreidolig.  After three weeks rest, I was taken to
ihe Greek frontier. The regime there was very brutal, and fhe
slightest fault was punished by 15 or 2b blows of a stick on the back
or I{-gh. Near the village of ‘Pachemacria, in the Rhodope Mount-
ains, we were obliged to make a military road. My gang was com-
posed of 120 prisoners. Captain Tilroff, an ummeer was in com-
mand. As food, we had half a loaf of bread each and three cah-
bages per gang. The Bulgarian cooks themselves ate nearly all the
cabbages, \\ltll the result that our soup was reduced fo hot water.
Lack of food caused many deaths. Many Serbians died crying
« Bread, bread ». In winter we worked harf'-l'ooh*d in the snow
and ice. Our feet swelled. Many fell ill and some died, others
were killed by order of the caplain, Our complaints were vain,
without effect. The atrocious sufferings we endured cannol be
described.

When the road was finished, orders were given lo go in anolher
direction Those who could not follow were killed.

Upon this, a felegram arrived, to send into this town men of
cuch trades as Tailors, bootmakers, painters, etc. | applied as a
painter and was sent 1o Sofia.
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However, before leaving, I saw a certain number of acls of
cruelly. Thus when a Serbian prisoner escaped, the commandant
had shol two other prisoners seized as reprisals. Generally
those who had good bools were shot for the sake of them.

The Bulgarians reviled us constantly. When they joked they
did o ferociously. Thus they would say to a prisoner. « You are
not worth a penny », referring to the price of a bullel.

The Grecian, Roumanian, Serbian, Russian prisoners were very
harshly treated. The French and English were betfer treated ; they
were nol senl inlo the mountains, but employed in the camps.

Captain Titroff merits punishment for his barbarous conduct,
his inhuman acts and his cruelty. 1 can give the names of witness
who can confirm my declarations. Stoiko Traitkowitch, brakeman
on the railway, Sima Stephanowitch, same oceupation, the former
is from Nisch. the latter from Vranje, Alexa lovanowitch, employed
al the railway Works at Nisch., Petar Zvetkowilch, Infantry sergent,
Maxim lovanowitch, restaurant keeper at Donia Maulniza, near Par-
achin.

At Sofia, 1 was employed ab the Railway Works. We were
packed in cattle trucks for lodgings, 25 per waggon, as soon as the
aun set. until morning, We could not go out to relieve ourselves.
There again, the ill-treatment conlinued. Our guard. I do not
know him name was with us nearly the whole year. He was a wild
beast. He had a club, beating the prisoners and knocking them
down, then stamping on them. For stealing a beetroot from a
wagon, we were beaten until we fainted.

Having been ill, I was taken lo (he doclor. Generally however
ihese doctors were medical students who did not know how to cure
their patients. Thus I saw two men wounded at work, whose
wounds were long and wide. The only treatment they received was
a beating. The doclor asked them where they had been wounded,
they replied that they had been cruelly beated because they had been
to see Lheir families in the district. The doctor then flew at them
and struck them in the face with his fist, then put them outside.

I ask myself how il is that I am still alive. Being Dalmatian
by birth, i. e. Anstrian, I had io conceal my birthplace, in order to
escape shooting. I said that | was born at Belgrade. But in March
1318, 1 was denounced and sent lo the central prison. I thought I
was going to die, as being sent to the central prison. 1 thought 1
warranl, bul after a few days 1 was sent Lo Belgrade and imprizoned
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in the citadel, There T saw prisoners receive pareels.  This was the
first time I had scen them, as we never received uny in Bulgaria.
The Austrian food was very little better than the Bulgarian, but at
least, thanks to the parcels and a canline, one eould improve one's
meals.  After a lwo months' sal al Belgrade, T was sent to Otochalz.
in my circamscription.- There T was thrown inlo prison, but the
revolution broke oul and the insurgents opened the prisons, then
the allies came and we were deflinilely delivered. :
Here, I had 200000 frs worth of goods which were stolen and
pillaged. The Bulgarians even took a receipl for 18000 frs, realised
by my staff during iy absence. My branch at Istip was also simi-
larly pillaged. My losses from this facl; are increased by 4hooa frs.
All my own furniture and clothing has been pillaged, this represents
a further 1hooo frs. In the depot of the Franeo-Serbian bank T had
45000 kilos of opium seeds which have been siolen.
This statement was received on January iith, 1918, al Uskub,
by Mr A. Bonnassieux, member of the interallied Commission of
Inquiry, assisled by major M. Georgevilch. expert-interpreter.

N 13.

feport on Bulgarian atrocities in the district of Vreania
I. —On Oclober 3/16 th 1915 at noon, Bulgarian Cavalry cunlered the
town. [t was market-day. No Serbian troops in Vrania ; the young
wien look to arms, killed a Bulgar on the markel place and took one
prisoner.  After this they wenl up lo the positions defending them
unlil 10 o’'clock next morning.  Meanwhile, the population fled. ©On
the qth evening, the Bulgars had already pillaged all the stores and
houses.  Pretexting z search for Comitadjis, they arrested cilizens,
extorting from them money by threat of death. George Minintchiteh,
45 years of age, a father of seven children, and Peter Pogatchare-
witch 's son, 16 years of age, were killed. The first of these two had
his tonge cut, his eyes put out and his arms broken. Then, the Bul-
gars took 30 citizens as hostages ; they shut them in the Yrania
Hotel, leaving them a whole week withoul food. Those who had
ioney paid Lhe sentries and were released, but retaken, they were
imprisoned again. Such arrests confinued until the citizens who had
{led came back to their homes, about Oclober 18th. From this dale
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up to November the 1-st, the Bulgars did not bother the population.

On november the 1-st, all men from 18 to 5o years of age were
called to the Town Hall, where Major Ilkoff, 3rd Biln, 48th Rgt.,
was on duty. Out of the foo men who presented themselves, Ilkoff,
referring to a list of names he had under his eyes, selected 300 who
were sent to Plovdive and interned. On the evening of this same
day, George Anlich-Djikilch, 55 years, ex M. P., Rista Djordjevitch,
45 years, shoe manufacturer, Rista Dimitrieviteh, 55 years, linen
inamifacturer and Mileva Skrlitch, 45 yvears, school-leacher, were
killed, The last named, a woman, was captured in bed and sent out
of town, where she was killed, with nothing on but her chemise !

Were killed also, two days later, pope Axentie Sobinsky and
Youya Bounouchevatz, 16 years old ; on pretence, for the last named,
that a rifle had been found at his home. At the same time, the
Bulgars executed a sergeant of the Serbian Forces who had run away.
And again, two or three days after, pope Axentie Michitch, whom
soldiers had seized in bed, was killed.

From aboul December 15th people have been arrested in their
homes.  These arrests always took place in the night, the prisoners
heing then incarcerated without any food.

About December 2olh, pope Popovilch, 55 years, of Vranska
Banja, an da butcher, Iraiko Tolimal, 5o years, were taken oul of
prison and killed.

After Christmas, all men from 18 to do years of age were summo-
ned again for internment. A Committee made a selection. Said
Commiltee was composed of Captain Dimkolf, 3rd Btln, fand Rgt ;
Lieut. Branoff, 42nd Ret. and two doclors, Rapoundjieflf M. D. for the
Dislrict, and Vasilieff M.D. for the Ballalion. The cilizens could
free themselves with money ; these who had none were interned.
Among the poor were blinds, mules and consumplives. Allogether,
aboult Hboo inhabitants of the town were interned. At this time Lhe
Bulgars imprisoned also Ljoubitza Jovanovifch, 55 years, who was
beaten so badly to be ill lwo months, and Major Badjevitch’s wife.

On december 28th the first troop of the interned ones left on
foot for Sofia, via Trn. On arriving al Sourdoulitza the Bulgars
selected 17 nolables and Killed them ; Mita Militeh, head clerk of
ihe Monopolies ; George Petrovitch, merchant ; Yantche Voutchko-
vitel, merchant ; Ritoune Pantasievileh, Bank's eashier ; Mita Lochit-
chkoviteh, elerk of the Monopolies ; Douchan Kallchitch, forwarding
agent ; George Zubara, merchant ; Kosta Djordjevitch, tax-collector,
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Mika Mladenovitch, merchant ; Mane Techache's son, apprentice ;
Toma ‘\lmntclulowi{,h tailor ; Mllnoye Slamenkoviteh, Aritoune Mil-
kovitch, all of Vrania ; Blagoye llitch, manufacturer of Vlassotintze ; :
and three popes from wilaw near the town ; pope Tota, pope Man-
oilo and pope Stamenko bl.mlu_ml.t h.

On January 23rd 1916, Colonel Petar Kalkandjieff, 4ond Rt
came and gave orders, on the very evening of his arrival, to intern
six more cilizens ; four of them were killed at Sourdoulitza : judge
Toma Makiteh, 54 years, consumptive ; Tora Djourdjeviteh, presid-
ent of the Smederevo Court ; Toma 8. Mihailoviteh, merchant, and
Toma Zaphirovitch, M. P. for Vrania, suffering from heart’s desease.

On February gth, the citizens were summoned for the third
lime ; but now all man from 18 to roo years of age. This was Lhe
hegmumg of mass internments, specially of the people living outside
Vrania. Part of the town cilizens were imprisoned, and Colonel
Kalkandjieffs’ assistants required money from them to sel them free.
Said assistants of the famous Colonel were Captain Dimkoff and
Lieut. Hranoff, both of the fond Rgt. At thal time were also arrested
Prof. Djoura Hilch, Mialko Kitchileh and Kosla Stamboulia, hair-
dresser. All three were killed. And 11 priests of Guiljane were
also killed on Sarajina Place. The inhabitants heard their cries ;
in the morning blood and Lhe popes’headgear were found on the
Place.

In March rg17, the Bulgars began recruiting : 5oo/6o0 young
men. All the 18 years old ones were sent to the Pernik Mines, as
working recruils, where a good many died. In June, the Bulgars
interned Luke Petrovitch and two midwives, Mileva Borisavlevitch
and Dnouchka Soldatovitch, the latter with her 3 years old child.
In April 1918, they inlerned Mihailo Rochevitch with her daughter,
Draga Mikitch and Mitza, schoolteacher. A fornight before leav-
ing, the Bulears still interned Ljoubitza Yovanovitch and her two
daughters.

During the occupation, the Bulgars pillaged and ransomed the
people w ho were, besides, always beaten and ill-used. Three Bulgar-
ian Mayors ruled : Mihailo Popoff of Sofia ; Ivan Markoff of Prilep
and Nesletnikoff, of Roustchouk. These men robbed all they could ;
for instance, they took wheal which they alferwards sold to the inhab-
itants, pocketing the price. Commandeering took place all the time:
but the vouchers were not handed to the owners of the goods. They
were issued to the Mayor, who cashed them and kept the money. In
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1917 and 1918 the Bulgars did not pay for the articles commandeered
and no receipt was given. The schools were turned into Bulgarian
schools ; all Serbian books were burned. It was formally prohib-
ited to make use of the Serbian language : Bulgarian being the only
language allowed. The churches were turned into Schismatic tem-
ples ; the people’s name were modified into « off » and «eff »! By
threat, the people were required to declare they were Bulgars ; only
two priests and four Town Hall servants signed this statement ; nob-
ody else in Vrania.

When leaving the Bulgars did strike the people, among others
Luka Petrovitech. They took all the cattle. The Germans carried
away the furniture from the houses, and damaged them. They lod-
ged their horses in parlours and many rooms were soiled with human
excrements. Ouchefize, a village, was completely unpeopled, the
Bulgars killing women, children and old men.

Deposition of Stoyan Spassitch, 35 years, mayor of Vrania :
deposition confirmed by Dimitrie Mikitch, 42 years, Louka Petro-
vitch, 25 years, Tasso Staitch, b8 years and Olga Kouchakovitch, 23
vears, the last named, of Belgrade, took refuge in Vrania.

II. — 1 have among my papers some Bulgarian documents refer-
ring to what happened in Vrania and surroudings. Here follows the
accurate translation of contents :

District of Vrania
N 199
19. 1I. 1916
Vrania
For delivery : The original to the Vardar Auditor ;
A copy to the Head of the Vrania Department.

1 beg to inform you that in Korboewalz, village in the district
I am in charge of, the bodies of {wo priests were found thrown along-
side the river. One of the bodies has been identified by the wife to
be the late pope of the above-named village, Manassi Popoff. The
other one could not be identified. I beg of you to give me the neces-
sary instructions for the burial of the bodies.

For the Head of the Dictrict : Iv. Tritchkoff.

For the Secretary : Astcherieff.

The Head Clerk : Dimitroff.

—
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District of Vrania,

N' 175
13, 11. 191 For delivery to the Head of the
Vrania Vrania Department.

I beg to report that the German Military authorities have shot,
yesterday at noon, the following persons : Yova Dimileh, Ivan Djoult-
chitch and Dima Nikolitch. Dima Markovitch was sentenced to ro
years imprisonment. All four are of Kriva Fea, village in the dis-
trict I have the honour to rule.

The Head of the Distriet : Z. A. Bojadjieff,
The Secretary : Iv. Tritchkoff.

Department of Vrania
N° 2046
ih. 11, 1916 For delivery to the Heads of each
Vrania of the Vrania Districts,

In econformily with instructions received from the Head of the
Morava Mililary Inspection, letler n® 2579 January r1th, you are inv-
ited to report on the properly, real eslate, claims, grants and other
rights belonging to President Pachiteh and the others Serbian secre-
tarvies of State ; also where they are located.

This information is wanled, the confiscalion Lo the State’s benelit
of all this properly being contemplaled.

For the Head of the Department : A. Krsteff.

The Secretary : Iv. Trichkoff.

Yrania District

N* 242
96, 11. 19106 For delivery to the Head of the
Vrania Vrania Departient.

1 beg to report that on the 24th of this month, seven priests,
one oflicer and two civilians, all of them Serbs, were brought from
the rear-front Command to Guiljané, In lhe same night these men
were senl, under escorl in command of second lieut. Coen, North of
[he lown, near the Citadel, where they have been shot by two platoons



e

of Bulgarian soldiers. The shooting frightened the inhabitants ;
they trembled all night.

The Head of the District : Z. A. Bojadjielf.

The Secretary : Iv. Trichkoff.

Parish of Ratai

N 714
2. XI. 1916 For delivery to the Head of the
Ratai Village Vrania Distriet,

Vrania.

I beg to report as follow ; In pursuance o orders received from
the Officer in command of the Vrania rear-front forces, a7th Oclober,
N 3538, a man called Spasse Stocheff was brought from Zrni Lougue,
village rewoltmo to the Ratai Parish, to Vrania on Oetober agth 1916,
w h('u, he was p]ared under arrest.

Said Spasse came to the Parish Hall and asked for the portraits of
the Emperors to be shown him. The Parish President having told
him they were the pictures of H. M. the Czar Ferdinand, H. M. Bo-
ris, heir to the Crown, etc... he answered these were not our Kings
or Emperors, and that the true rulers King Peter and his sons would
come some day ; then would Serbia come back to life. Spasse is a
revolutionnist.

The President of the Committee of 3 members : M. St. Stocheff.

The Sceretary : Iv. Manasieff. '

These Bulgarian documents are very inleresting. The second
one proves nol only that the Bulgars were ferocious in and around
Vrania but that the Germans also did rage there. The letter does
not tell why Diniteh, Djoulichiteh and Nikolitch were executed, nor
wh)r Markovilch was sentenced to 1o years imprisonment. But jud-
ging from all we know aboul the behaviour of Bulgars and Germans
in Se;blan land, we suppose that these men were suspects because of
their loyalty to Serbia. It did eost them freedom and live.

The third document shows the Bulgars in one of their pet char-
acters : thieves of personal property. What Kind of Law can they
invoke when they confiscate the property of Serbian Secretaries of
State 7 According to which Law can this property — although
property of State Secretaries — be considered State property, the

!
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only property the confiscalion of which is consented lo the victor by
International Law ?

Such a document is one more proof of how the Bulgars utterly
despise any Law and any convention established by mulual agreem-
enl by and belween civilized countries.

The fourth letter confirms the deposition of my Vrania witness
relating the execution of Guiljané priesls in Vrania, on Sarajina
Place. Said witnesses speak of 11 priesls ; the letter mentions
= priests, 1 officer and 2 civilians. The mistake made by the wit-
nesses re. the number of priests can be easily explained. They saw
seven popes and had a ﬂ‘]lni[ﬁt‘ of three other persons. Having
found, on the next day, the pope’s headgear, they came to the conclu-
sion (hat all victims were priests. Another e\phnatmn is that hav-
ing seen the }uhonm% and escort in the dark hours of the afternoon
— il is soon dark in February — they took all of them for priests.

The letter mentions ro victims ; the witnesses speak of 11.
Error of reckoning. Let us admit the veracity of the Bulgarian lei-
{er as to the number, and say 1o instead of 11. Bul the fact remains
that the letter proves, by an authorized Bulgarian document, the
truth of Guiljané people being slanghiered.

The last document gives a L\_pl(:.'\l example of the Kind of
« erimes » for which many Serbs lost their lives under Bulgarian
domination. '

1. — Maoreover a letter from the Head of the Department to the
Officer in command of the Morava Military inspection furnishes us
with intersling details on the internment of people from Vrania and
near villages. The text of this very importanl document is as follows:

Department of Vrania

N® 593 For delivery to the Officer in
o, L1916 Command of the Morava Military Inspection,
Nich.

General,

As <00t as L arrived at Vrania, 1 look possession of my depart-
ment and inmmediately gave all my attention to the many wmphunh
wrilten and oral, of Ihe- population, relaling lo (rmundlen intern-
ments. With deep regret 1 saw what happened facmg me. A little
later, [ received your 01'(1&1‘ n° o, of January 5th 1916, saying that

[
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many mistakes had been made in the internments, and reminding
the Heads of Departments and the Provosls to avoid them in future ;
for instance, invalids, sick people and cripples must not be intern ed ;
they are then nothing but a burden to the Bulgarian Exchequer. 1In
spite of this order, and against it, inlernments without real motives
have continued, and complainis of this are streaming in. I have
written on January 16th 1916, n° ro7, to the Rear-front forces Com-
mand on the suject, and I enclose you copy of the letter in proof of it.

In order to convince you that this is not idle talk, here follow
more names and dates, to be added to those in my wire to you n® 18b
of January 16th 1916. They are mentioned here as supplementary
proof so thal you may order the enquiry | asked for.

1) Lazar Taxidar Yakimoff, 6o years, has been taken away, alth-
eugh old and nearly blind, because out of 36 tons of wine comman-
deered from his cellars, he begged for a small quantity to be left
him for personal use. He did it very politely, too.

5" Trifoune Avramoff, 6o years, taken away nightly. Old and
nearly blind.

3" Georgi Nikitoff, a cripple. Lost one leg in the Balkanic
Wars.

4°) Toma Mikitch, 55 years, consumptive, in the last stage of the
desease.  Was pulled out of bed and taken away nighily.

5°) Djouro llieff, 70 years, old and senile.

6% Pope Anlo, of Jabsko village, 82 years, was consacreted by
the Bishop of Uskub a Bulgar, in the times of Turkish domination.

=°) Ephreme Ivanoff, 70 years, on the retired list. Because of
bad health, he was a charge to his fellow-citizens.

8% Milan Pavloff, 656 years, retired major, in bad health also.

9°) Trifoune Mitroff, more than Ho years old, nearly blind. 111
and pulled out of bed, he had to be put to bed again on arriving al
Sourdoulitza.

10?) Traiko Nikoloff, 52 years, left hand palsied. Was taken
away although four little children were left penniless.

119 Vassa Mladenoff, about 53 years, left af home an idiot of
go years, — his sister, — and three little children & to 11 years old.
He was in possession of documents issued by the Parish establis-
hing his truthfulness and probity ; he had been warehouseman al
the Bulgarian Skins Depol of Vrania.

Lk
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12°) The brother of Naumoff Bulgarian M. P. was interned be-
cause he wanted a receipt for wine commandeered from his cellar.
Being ~o years of age, this wine was all he could sell to live on.

13% Ten persons, with regular idenlity papers issued by their
Parish were interned, although they never served in the Serbian
Army, nor were they guilty of the least offense. One of them was
under 17 vears of age.

14°) Against your orders, Presidents of three members Commit-
lees, Members and Secretaries of same were interned without the
smallest enquiry, only because of anonymous accusations. Thus
were inlerned : 1° President Ivan Stoikoff and the Secretary (birnik),
Danail Antonoff of the Parish of Bouchrenska, Department of
Ptehinja ; o° Vladimir Traikoff, Secretary (birnik) Parish of Tchou-
kowska : 3° Toma Stankoff, Parish Councillor, Koumarevo village ;
4% Christe Georgieff, President of the three members  committee,
Parish of Teseviche, etc... We never shall have here durable Bulgar-
fan authorities because the Parish Committees and secretaries (birnik)
are too often changed and this without knowledge nor consent of the
competent administrative authorities. Still in these momentous
limes, Bulgarian State officers are responsible for order, commande-
ering, road maintenance, ete...

15°) Djikitch X. Antitch, rich and well known tradesman, mil-
lionnaire, a loval gentleman, was taken nightly to the Rear-Front
Command where he was robbed of all he had on, about 6 to 7ooo
leves in paper money. He is now missing. Under Serbian rule
he was exiled from Prizrend becanse bulgarophile. He set free a
Bulgarian officer, Lieut, Ivan Markoff, 41« Rgt.. the Serbs had taken,
shooting the sentry guarding him.

16°) Toma Zaphiroff had received his identification papers from
the hands of Major Ilkoff himself, and a commission of Bulearian
doctors had declared him a doomed invalid. But he was in pence
three months only. Major Nkoff called at Tomas’ house and said
often 10 hiz wife : « You are rich, Madam, and so long as T remain
here, you have nothing to fear | »

17°) Major Ilkoff ordered a Russian M. D. Dr Milovanoff, to be
interned. On the day after the Doctor had left for interniment, a
midwife called and said to the Doctor's wife - « Madam, if you want
yout husband to vome hack, go and see Major Ikoff ; grant him all
his wishes, for he rules here like an Eniperor and ean do all he wants



to. » The Doctor's wife, although poor and with a four months
infant, answered : « I went into exile to Siberia, with my hushand ;
I would rather take poison than submit to the Major’s wishes.

18% In Vrania lived the wife of Major Badjeviteh-Nikolitch, a
Qerh with her moter, Ljoubilza Ivanoviteh-Ganetovitza who had two
ar three pretty daughters.  Major Ikoff wanled Madame Badjevilch
for himself, so he gave orders lo her mother to get the bridal bed
ready for him. Both women refused ; because of this refusal they
were brought before the Officer in Comnand of the Rear-Front for-
ces. and the mother heavily beaten. The Major's wife escaped the
heating : she fell unconscious and was brought back to her senses
with witer. The mother has an allestation from a Bulgarian doctor
lestifying she was beaten, and how brutally.

19°) It may he interesting for you to know that Major Hkoff had
three suites of rooms al the same time ; in one of them Lhe above-
mentioned prisoners and the suspecis were incarcerated for weeks.
For instance, the Ex-President of the Department of Smederevo,
Judge Toma Guermevitch has been kept there, and taken away on
the very evening Major Ilkoff left his office of Rear-Front forces com-
inander to a successor. Talking with Tkoff I asked him once
« Why, Major, did you keep this man a week in your rooms, since
he ought to have been interned as Serbian State Officer and Judge,
the more so since he is under 5o years of age and in perfect health | »
He answered tie : « I examined him ». 1 ledve il to you, General,
1o find oul the real meaning of this answer, ang beg of you 1o take
it in the sense of all the proofs I submit.

50" The priest Ivoiko Zvelkoff, 85 years, consacrated by the
Bulgarian Bishop of Kiustendil, was pulled from his bed to be inler-
ned, in spile of his age. He had a soldier on each side helping him ;
he could hardly stand : his hair was white and old age had bent him.
Many people came out 10 follow him, bidding him good-bye. All
Lissed his hand, erying and asking the soldiers : « Why do you do
it & The Turks did not harm us so much and, besides, what could
the old priest do against you » w  The soldiers shrugged their shoul-
ders but did not answer.

Ii seemns to me, General, that the above 20 exact and lypical
cases are sufficient to explain why T wanted groundless internments
to be avoided. [ say « avoid them »: flar from crilicizing your
supreme orders, 1 do not say : « Stop interning altogether ». Bul
aich unmotived internments are detrimental 1o Bulgaria's fame and
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to the valourons Bulgarian Army. As a safeguard, the ill-treated
ones apply to German authorities who send these fulure Bulgarian
subjects to Lhe Austrian territories of Serbia. And this cannot be
kept from you, General. You are an old Bulgarian patriot, a valou-
rous military chief and a general Bulgaria is proud of ; I hope the-
refore you will accede to my request for an inquiry, which will ascer-
lain officially the above facts and do the right thing by everybody.
Proofs of my statements shall be brought by witnesses who will help
vou in the arduous task of ruling over pecople. They are, for ins-
tance : Dr Pavel Vellcheff, rank of Lt. Colonel ; Dr Petkevitch, rank
of Colonel ; Dr Bacheff, rank of Major ; Dr Markoff, rank of Captain,
and a few officers of the 18t Rgt of the Rear-front forces, for instance
Lt. Colonel Athanasoff. Captain Mihailoffl, etc..

It is certain that the enquiry I ask for will blmu out many other
facts ; all T have stated is but a very small fraction of what happened
i.hese new facts will, T am sure, com‘ohmate still more my statements
and bring them to full value. I am nol expecling any rebuke for all
this. 1 am acling to the example set by yourself, General : you are
one of those who work hard for the State’s henefit. Once more 1
say, all the above is nothing but the truth. And the contents of
vour Order N° 2 shows that you want to bring to an end all this
system of misdoings and violations.

Believe me, General, ete.

The Head of the Department : DivmitrorF.

Vrania
February 1st 1g16.

The above letter is written by the same Bulgarian refect 1 spoke
of in my report on the Sourdoulitza events. Said letler, addressed
to the Officer in Command of the Morava Military Inspection is again
a formidable indictment sel up by a Bulgar, sho\\mg the behaviour
of his countrymen. And all this corroborates the depositions of my
Vrania witnesses.

These witnesses stated : « Among the interned ones were blinds,
deafs and consumptives ». The BIHO’:II‘MH prefeel Dimilroff rem-
inds the General that, by his order n® 9 of January 5th 1916, the
latter recommended the non-internmienl of invalids, sick people and
cripples, because they were, when interned, a burden to Bulgaria.
And the Prefect ascertains that this order was nol obeyed ; on speci-
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fying, he mentions the following cases of internment : Taxidar Yaki-
moff, nearly blind ; Trifoune Avramoff, nearly blind ; Georgi Niki-
teff, an invalid ; Toma Mikitch, consumptive; Djoure Ilieff, se-
nile, etc... He ascertains also the brutality of the Bulgars when
taking away their victims ; Toma Mikitch, in the last stage of con-
sumption away their victims ; Toma Mikitch, in the judge, mentio-
ned by witnesses, who was killed at Sourdoulitza.

Case 15 is rather unlikely : it is astounding that the Bulgars did
find in Vrania, in real Serbian country, a man who, for the benefit
ol a Bulgarian officer, killed a Serbian soldier and was not punished
for it. And the prefect of Ferdnand of Coburg, who wanted all
curnames to be bulgarized, wrote himself that man’s perfect Serbian
name : Djikitch-Anlich | Moreover this Djikitch is an ex. M.P. so
{hat the Prefect’s relation is still more improbable. Has nol the
story been invented to avoid ill-treatments from the Bulgars ? It
did not serve its purpose since Djikitch was killed in Vrania.

The ahove letter mentions also the fate of the unfortunate M. P.
Zaphirovitch, related in my report on the Sourdoulitza events.

Dimitroff confirms what my witnesses said re. the Badjevitch and
Yovanovitch cases, with the only difference that Madame Yovanovitch
is called Ivanovitch, the Bulgarian equivalent. He also tells us the
motive of the inhuman treatment. This is a new crime for which
Major Illkoff is answerable. i

The Prefect mentions, as one of Ilkoff’s victims, the Judge of
Smederevo, whom he calls Guermevitch and ex-President of the
Department. As a matter of fact and according to the Vrania wit-
nesses, his name was Toma Djourdjevitch and his title President of
the Smederevo Court.

The remainder of the Prefect’s letter calls forth no explanation.
Such as it is, the letter is a terrible indictment written by a Bulgar,
condemning the behaviour of his hellow-Bulgars, in occupied Serb-
ian territories. Nevertheless the lines relating the transportation, by
German authorities, of Serbian people into the regions occupied by
Austro-Hungarian troops is worth commenting. My personal en-
quiry proves that German policy in ferritories under Bulgarian occu-
pation was to make the people believe they were protected against
the Bulgars by the German authorities. Perhaps something like an
alibi was contemplated by so doing. But as soon as the Germans
ruled effectively the country after Bulgaria’s surrender, their manners

changed completely.
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IV. — Besides pillaging and ill-treating the population, the Bulg-
arian soldiers and Civil Authorities were guilly everywhere of theft and
money-pressing. My enquiry on what happened in Vrania, which
has been corroborated by Bulgarian documents, hrings out as certain
that , L

1” 3o inhabitants of Yrania, including women, were slaughtered
by the Bulgars. The slanghter took place in Vrania and in Sour-
donlitza : .

2°) 10 people, including 7 popes, brought from Guiljané, were
Killed in Vrania ;

3°) the Bulgars unpeopled the villages around Vrania, killing
women, children and old men ;

4%) hundreds of inhabitanis of Vrania — and for certain more
than oo — have been laken awav for internment.  Some of them
were killed in Sounrdoulitza. The fale of some others is unknown.
Around Vrania, the inhabitants were interned in a body ;

5°) Among the interned were sick people pulled from bed, crip-
ples, nearly blind men, etc...

6°) the officers responsible for what took place in Vrania are :
Colonel Kalkandjieff, in Command of the 4and Rgt ; Captain Dim-
koff, 3rd Btln of same Rgl ; Lt Hranoff, same Rgl ; Dr Sapoundijieff,
M. D. for Veania Distriet, and Dr Vasilieff, M. D. for the battalion ;

=) Hoo or Goo voung fellows of Vraria were recruited as wor-
king recruils and sent to the Pernik mines ;

§%) the three Bulgarian mavors of Vrania took advantage of their
office to enirich themselves dt the expense of the population ;

0°) in 1917 and rp18, and for a longer period perhaps, the
Bulgars paid nothing for all they commandeered :

10%) and attempt, which failed, was made to have a statement
sigried by the people certifying they were Bulgars : _

11°) when leaving, and thiz confrary to the stipulations of their
surrender, the Bulgars ill-treated the population and took with them
all the cattle ;

15°) the Germans pillaged and damaged the houses ; they kil-
led men.

Belgrade, December 25/1ath, 1918,

Dr R. A. Reiss,
Professor at the University of Lausanné (Switzerland).
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IN° 14.

Report on Bulgarian atrocities at Sourdoulitza

H Declarations of Alexa Yankowitch aged 69, Axentie Tomitch
aged 65, Mihailo Momtchiloviteh aged 45, Yovan Markovitch aged

53, Kosta Yonkovitch aged 4o, Marinko Stankovitch aged 66, all of

Sourdounlitza. Their declarations were duly signed by them.

Three cilizens of Sourdoulitza were killed by the Bulgarians
Sima Monichilovitch aged »6, forester, Jivko Arandjelovitch aged
18 and Mika Stovanovitch aged 25, funetionary. They were killed
on December Sth 1915, The Bulgarians called up all men of 18 1o
5o and all were imprisoned in the Town Hall. In the evening, the
Bulgarians selected from amongst them five men, including the three
victims. Two of them succeeded in escaping. The three others
were bound and faken into the wood. Two were killed by blows
from rifle butts. Sima Momtchilovitch was tortured all through the
night until morning. His arms and legs were broken and his ears
cut off. The Bulgarian soldiers themselves related in the village that
this victim had been thus tortured.

Two or three thousand people of the neighbourhood, or brought
from farther off, were killed at Sourdoulitza. The witnesses were
anable to count them. There were too manyg On December 7th
1915, seven teachers were Lilled on the road near the town and the
Bulgarians made the inhabitants of Sourdoulitza bury ther. The
Jatter remarked that these unfortunate people had been shot, after
having been tortured. On December 1oth, 18 persons brought from
Uskub were killed at Vrla Reka. A veek later, slill at the same
place, 18 men from Prilep and a child of 13 were killed. In order
that the inhabitants might not see what was happening at this place,
the Bulgarians forbid them fo use the Vila Reka road. On Decem-
ber 230d 1916, the Bulgarians brought from Prizren a lawyer, native
of Kniagevatz, with his daughter of 16 or 17 Yyears of age. They
weie killed during the night. On December ~th 1915, 140 people
coming from Leskovatz were killed in the valley of Douboka Dollina.
They were killed by groups of 10, bavonetted. The tziganes of the
town were obliged to bury them. However, some of the victims
of these butcheries remained unburied and their bodies were ealen
by dogs. Sentries were pr_’m'mntmtly posted in front of Douboka
Dollina and forbid the entry to everyone. Af the comimencenment




of January, it was the turn of 12 men of Vrania, shorlly followed
by six others. During the month of January, they brought in groups
of about 300 persons from Prokouplie, Kourchoumlia, Lebane, Pris-
tina, Leskovatz, Nich, ete. Occasionally there were fewer men, bul
the gronps always consisted of at least 120 persons. Such groups
arrived every day from January to March. The men thus brought
to Sourdoulitza were not all killed ; a commission decided their fate.
This commission was composed of : Nestor Simonoff, Sub-Lt in the
42nd Regiment, in command of the Communications, Todor Vitanoff,
sergeant of the 1oth Company of the 4and regimenl, Pejioff, strel-
cher bearer also of the 42nd regiment. The president of the com-
wmission was Simonoff. The soldier-murderers belonged to the 42nd
regiment and the commandant of their company was Sub-Lt Stoyan
Youroukoff, at the same time commandant of the town of Sourdou-
litza.

Butcheries were carried out at Vrla Reka, Doubrava Sloikova
Chouma, Douboka Dollina, Kalifer and Raditcheva Bara. f{o hos-
tages were killed at Vlachki Dol. In the Vrla Reka were found the
vestments of the pope. The witness Stankovitch could see from his
inn, situated in the centre of the town in a Kind of square, all which
passed, and particularly the arrival of the hostages. The Bulgarians
forbid him to watch from his windows during these arrivals and to
light his lamp at night. In fact, it was alwavs during the night,
after 10 o’clock, that the massacres took place and that the procession
of the condemned passed before the inn of Stankovitch.

Having killed enough, the soldiers finally refused to continue
these massacres. The commission then requested the Bulgarian
General Headquarters to send them Macedenian irregulars to continue
the work. A short time afterwards, there arrived some irregulars
commanded by Traiko Popoff of Uskub. They had the special task
of killing the victims and only wenl out during the night, The sold-
iers strangled in the village of Polom a man, Toma, before his wife
and children.

=m0 men of the village were interned, 200 young men of the dis-
trict were recruited as soldier-workmen.. At the moment of their
departure, the Bulgarians wished to take everyone with them, but
the Bulgarian prefect prevented this, explaining that it was forbidden
by the terms of the capitulation. All the inhabitants of the town,
men and women, were robbed and beaten.

The first president of the parish was Tassa Stankoff of Trn.
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After him came Krsta Menkoff of Kioustendil. The latter wrung
money from people and for doing so was even punished by six months
imprisonment. The third president was Ivan Vassiloff, who bore
himself better than the former. Finally, the last president was
Nenko Jarkoff. We was nol very bad, but however took money
from the inhabitants. The parish official was Stoyan Georgieff, a
iman very bad and harsh with the population. He had the parish
wood cut and sold for his benefit. He took without payment from
the inhabitants all which pleased him.

All foodstuffs, wood, cereals, ete., were requisilioned. Occas-
ionally, they gave requisition forms, generally the things were taken
without these forms. The latter were nol paid. -Thus the Bulgar-
ians have paid nothing for whal they took.

The use of the Serbian language was forbidden. People at
whose houses were found Serbian caps or Serbian books were bealen
and interned. The Serbian books were burnt. The church was
transformed into a schismatic church. In the month of January
1917, the town was surrounded by soldiers, and the chief of police
obliged the inhabitants to sign at the school a declaration stating that
they were Bulgarians. The chief of police at that moment was
Naiden Konstantinoff of Kiouslendil. The Bulgarians destroyed, for
the sake of the wood, the houses of Tlia Djoritch, Ritoune Ristitch,
Stoyan Dimitrievitch, Rista Djoritch, widow of Todor Ristitch and
Yanka Rista Krstitch. Men, women and children were obliged to
work on the roads. Even the wives of functionaries were also
obliged to work without payment or food.

Declarations of Osman Douriteh aged 65, and Moustapha Hamed-
ovileh, aged 65, both lziganes of Sonrdoulitza. These two witnesses
declared that the Bulgarians obliged the tziganes to bury the mur-
dered, bul they pretend that the tziganes who did this work, were
carried off by the Bulgarian troops. This latler assertion does not
appear to be exact, as lhe lziganes, W ho accompanied me during my
researches al Douboka Dollina, amongst others the two witnesses,
appeared 1o know the places perfectly well where the Bulgarians had
buried their vietims. This reservalion is easily explained by the fear
these men had fo be implicated in the crimes of those who had obli-
ged them to do this work.

Declarations of Stoyan Spassitch aged 35, mayor of the town of
Vrania : Dimitrie Mikitch aged 42, Louka Pelrovitch aged 25, Tasso



e e

RS—

_4{}.._

Staitch aged 58, all of Vrania, and of Olga Kouchakovitch aged 28, of
Belgrade, having taken refuge al Vrania.

On December 28th 1915, the first .convoy of interned civilians
left on foot via Trn to Sofia. When the people reached Sourdoulitza,
the Bulgarians selecled 17 notabilities and killed them. These
victims, including 13 from Vrania, are Mita Militeh, head of the
monopoly department, Georges Petrovilch, merchant, Yantche Voul-
chkovitch merchant, Tiloune Pantasievitch, bank cashier, Mila
Lochitchkovitch, monopoly clerk, Douchan Kaitehiteh, packer, Geor-
ges Zoubara merchant, Blagoye Ilitch, manufacturer of Vlassotintze,
Kosta Djorgeviteh, tax collector, the son of Mane Tchache, appren-
tice, Toma Momtchiloviteh, tailor, Milivoye Stamenkovitch, Aritoune
Milkovitch, as well as three popes of the Vrania district : pope Tota,
pope Manoilo and pope Stamenko Stoikovitch. On January 28th
1916, arrived colonel Petar Kalkandjieff, commander of the f4ond
regiment, who gave orders on the same evening to intern a fur-
ther six citizens, of whom four were killed al Sourdoulitza. These
were Toma Mikitch, aged 54, juge and consumplive, Toma Djour!-
chevitch president of the Smederevo Court, Toma S. Mihailovitch,
merchant, and Toma Zaphiroviteh, deputy of Vrania, who had heart
disease.

Christodor Zvelanovitch, aged 30 years, of Leskovatz, declared :

I was taken with 8o others to Sourdoulitza on December 6Ll
1915. During the journey we were given nothing to eat and were
cruelly beaten without interruplion. AL Sourdoulitza we were taken
lo a ravine near the main road (this is the Douboka Dollina). We
were bound and the soldiers struck us with bayonets. I received two
blows bul succeeded in freeing myself and escaping. 1 saw many
of my comrades who lay dead on the ground,

I examined the body of the wilness and saw the marks of the
lwo bayonels wounds. Further, T remarked that Zvetanovitch must
have had a severe nervous shock following the horrors he had seen.
He cannot thing of it without crying.

Accompanied by artillery lieutenant Jarko Popoviteh, of the
artlillery staff of the Morava division, by my Sourdoulitza wilnesses
as well as by several lziganes of the same district, 1 proceeded to the
Douboko Dollina. This is a not very deep ravine, but of considerable
length, which is erossed by a stream when it has rained heavily. 1
remarked everywhere the presence of earth freshly turned, forming
flat mounds. These mounds are nearly everywhere covered by veg-
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etation and thus hidden. 1t is however sufficient to raise the leaves
and use a spade lo judge of the nature of the soil. 1 had one of the
numerous mounds opened by the tziganes. Affer having taken out
the bones of at least five corpses, including a pope (from the remains
of vestments), and after having brought to light remains of peasanis’
clothing, I remarked thal this tomb also contained a quantity of
hones of other bodies. 1 further ohserved that large stones covered
the top of the tomb, which slones still bore traces of blood., as though
the murderers had sloned the victims laid in the pit. The tziganes
then asserted that the victims, when buried, were not all dead and
had been stoned in the pit. The access lo the Douboko Dollina was
strietly forbidden to all inhabitants of the neighbourhood. A senlry
was posted, with fixed bayonel, permanently at the entrance {o the
ravine.

The information 1 collected ve, the evenls al Sourdoulitza are
corroborated by a secret lelter from Ivan Dimilroff, chief of the
Vrania distriet, 1o the Minister of Home Affairs and of Health at Sofia.
This letter is dated March 23rd 1916, hearing lhe number go3, of
which a copy was handed to the Serbian authorilies by a young girl
of Vrania employed as lypist at the prefecture of this town.

After having very strongly criticised the conduct of the Bul-
garian military authorities in his district, this prefect, who appears
o be an honest man exasperated by the cruelty of his countrymen,
slates, with regard to the events at Sourdoulitza, the following :

« Tt can be judged by all the official documents cited thal 1 have
acled against illegal internments, not only against that of Zaph-
iroff, but also against many others, as was my duly to do. 1 would
add further that Colonel Kalkandjieff and Major Ilkoff have in many
cases prevented me from exercising my official duty in the province
placed under my care. I have however always acted in a conciliatory
manner. | can prove that I demanded twice, through a « feldwebel »
and a serceant-major that the mistake of interning Zaphiroff be nol
eomnmitted and that we should wait longer, as Zaphiroff was ill, very
ill of museular rhenmatism, a very grave illness noted, by the order
of Tkoff himself, by the medical commission and by Dr Markoff,
medical caplain al the »/3 hospital. Markolf gave Zaphiroff a legal
cortificate. 1L musl not be forgotten that Zaphiroff had as lodgers
i1 his house Colonel Kalkandieff and Major Ilkoff, and that the present
head of the province lives in his house. On January 23rd of this
vear, Zaphiroff was taken to Sourdoulitza, a place well known to the
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people of Vrania and Leskovatz, without his wife being allowed to
prepare the necessary medecine and clothing. At Sourdoulitza,
although he had a special letter from me for the police agent Geor-
gieff of that town, he was left to rest himself a little on the road and
then dragged 1o his death. That same evening, Colonel Kalkandicff
refused to receive my secrelary.  He was enjoying himself with
Major llkoff. Both were celebrating the illegal act of interning Zaph-
iroff. The life of the latter was however only protracted by injee-
lions, and his death was expected at any moment,

Up to to-day, I was ashamed to mention the fact that the « feld-
webel » in reply to my demand lo protect Zaphiroff, unsheathed his
sabre and menaced me by brandishing it over my head and over
ihat of the old man dragged from his bed. This is what the General
Koutincheff qualifies as a « task well understood and energetically
executed », '

I am perfectly convinced that — although the motives of those
who ordered internments were patriotic and noble — these intern.
ments are carried out irregularly, and the interned are Killed, in
order to hide the fact that Lhey were irregularly interned : and that
the wives and daughters of the interned are violated and their
possessions stolen. To sum up, I declare that the wrongs of Kal-
kandieff, Tlkoff and those of the following Captain Dimkoff, Lieul.
Hranoff, candidate-officer Antonoff, candidate-officer Zoureff, feld-
webel Alexo Popoff of Constantinople, soldier Have Manoloff Bitpa-
zarsky, detective Georgi Hopoff, etc., that all their wrongs, I repeal,
are fatal for Bulgaria and that it will require at least 1o years to
repair all the evil that these men have done to Bulgaria, to the name
of Bulgaria and to ihe population here. These same wrongs are
committed at Nich, of which I have already made reports to the
General Headquarters, to the President of the Government and io
yourself, in demanding a rapid an impartial enquiry. I hold at your
disposal an enquiry on the atrocities comumilled, the assdssinalions,
pillages and extortions, enquiry respecting ihe names, facts and
dates.

I would also inform you of the lypical fact which ] heard at
Leskovatz, fact demonstrated by the events of Vlassotintze and Lere.
that the millionaire Blagoye Ilitch Moumdjisky who had many fac-
lories at Vranska-Bania, at Leskovatz and at Vlassotintze, has been
killed. Hitch, who was very rich, took no part in politics. He

" always carried on him 100 to 120000 leves besides his watch,
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his rings, his snuff box and other valuables. All these
were taken from him in the Sourdoulitza ravine, of which place
the people here have already made songs, and will, alas, make still
more. And this same man, before being killed, offered lo give half
a million to the Bulgarian Red Cross to save his life. But the soldiers
preferred to take the 100 or 120000 leves which they knew positively
that he carried on him. Thus, there are amongst our men some
who, without considering the interests of Bulgaria or of its brave
army, enrich themselves by millions and millions. Amongst these
there is also a certain Sub-Lt Youroukoff, the present commandant
of Sourdoulitza.

Colonel Kalkandieff himself said to the functionary Karadjoff
the following words, which are typical « Yes, I take, I steal ! Look
around this room, there are many divans and on each there is a rug.
Well, it is my brigadier, colonel Kiriloff, who has taken them ». "
These words of Kalkandieff, spoken in the eolonel’s lodging, were
repealed to me by Karadjoff, in my house, in the presence of Lt-Col.
Dr Voltcheff, and I repeated them to Col. Kyriloff himself. From this
you will be able to judge of the situation here. I can prove, by
witnesses that two soldiers, amongst those who took part in the
terrible scenes al Sourdoulitza, lost their reason, and that two others
died of histeria. Knowing this atmosphere, well, indeed very well,
I have on several occasions done all I could to alter it, to save the
interests of the country and to change the situation, in accordance
with superior orders, in order to render same compalible with the
inlerests of the country.

I shall remember during my whole life the words which I heard
from the lips of feldwebel Popolf, on the evening of January 23rd of
Lhis year, before the whole family of the late Zaphiroff and before
his brother : « I have already had many heads like yours cut off. 1
will have yours cut off also. »

The same prefect, in a very interesting letter, addressed to the
general-inspector of the Morava circumscription at Nich, daled
February 2nd 1916, refers to another interned person — in his opi-
nion illegally interned — who was also brought to Sourdoulitza. He
states, in citing 20 examples of illegal inlernments : « Trifoun Mitoff,
over bo years of age, nearly blind, and ill. Taken [rom his bed
whilst ill, had to be put (o bed again on his arrival at Sourdoulitza. »

What is stated by the Bulgarian prefect Dimitroff respecting
the events al Sourdoulitza, and in general, the conduct of his country-

.



————————-

__..50 =y

men, is a lerrible accusalion against these lalter. TI also entlirely
confirms the declarations of my witnesses and my own observations.
IL cites the same names as those 1 collected on site. He speaks in
his letter of the police agent Georgieff of Sourdoulitza, whilst my
wilnesses state that the chief of police of their town was Naiden
Konstantinoff.  Dimitroff qualifies Georgieff simply as « police
agenl ». He may therefore have been a subordinate of Konstantinoff,
or even, as the Bulgarians often changed their functionaries, he may
have been af Sourdoulilza before or after this latter.

The prefect also names, accusing them io be the chief authors
ol the Bulgarian erimes in the Vrania district, Colonel Kalkandjieff
and Major llkollf. My personal enquiry confirms the perfect justness
of this accusation. In the whole region of Vrania and Leskovaly,
I come across these two names. Bath belong to the noted 4and
regiment, the terror of this part of Serbia. Kalkandjieff commanded
the regiment and Ilkoff the third battalion. In further reports, 1
shall have occasion lo again refer to the crimes of these two men.
Al present, il is certain that they are amongsl the Bulgarians tho have
the mosl crimes on their conscience, Dimitroff also speaks of Dim-
koff and Hranoff. Bolh are known to me by my enquiry on sile and
will be referred to in my report on Veania and district. Dimkoff,
captain of the 3rd battalion of the 42nd regiment, and Hranoff,
Lieulenant in the same regiment, formed part, with Dr Vasilieff, of
the internment commission sitling at Vrania. It is to this commis-
sion that are due the innumerable internments in this part of the
Kingdom.

Dimitroff gives defails concerning the arrest and death of Uhe
deputy Zaphirovitch, of whom my Vreania witnesses also speak. He
states that he suffered from muscular rheumatism, whilst the Vrania
people state that he had heart disease. Both parties may be right,
as itis known that heart trouble accompanies or in most cases follows,
muscular rheumalism. The Bulgarian also refers to the manufac-
turer Ilitch, named by my witnesses, and adds that this man wished
lo buy his life by giving half a million to the Red Cross.  His remark
thal the soldiers preferred the 100 or 120000 leves which the manu-
facturer carried on him, which sum they put in their pockets, Lo
the royal gift to a philanthropic institution, is absolutely crushing
for the moral of the Bulgarian troops.

Thus from my personal enquiry, corrorborated by documents
of Bulgarian origin, there results
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1° Thal the Bulgarians killed many people of Sourdoulitza. The
witness place their number al 2000 or 3000.

2° That the Sourdoulitza victims were from the whole districl.
Only three were from the town itself,

3° That the murders took place at the places called : Vrla Reka,
Doubrava, Stoikava Chouma, Douhoka Dollina, Kalifer, Raditcheva
Bara and Vlachki Dol. :

4" That the murdered were not always dead when buried. The
survivors were sloned in the grave itself.

5 The execulions were directed and ordered on sile by the com-
mander of the town, the sub-1t. Stoyan Youroukoff and the special
commission composed of Sub-Lt Nestor Simonoff, sergeant Todor
Vitanoff and stretcher-bearer Pejiofl, all four belonging to the 4and
regiment.

6i® Colonel Petar Kalkandieff, Major TMkoff, both of the Jand
regiment, doctors Sapoundjieff and Vasilieff, sent the men to be
killed from Vrania to Sourdoulitza. Captain Dimkoff and Lt. Hra-
noff collaborated in this work of extermination,

7° Men gravely ill were killed at Sourdoulitza.
8% 70 men of Sourdoulitza were interned.

9° 200 youg men of the district were enrolled in the Bulgarian
army as soldier-workmen,

10° All was requisilioned, and the requisitions were not paid.

11” Bulgarian functionaries and the mililary enriched them-
selves al the expense of the Serbian population.,

12° Serbian books were destroyed.

13" The Serbian Church was transformed into a schismatic
church.

14" The Bulgarians destroyed private property.

15° The inhabitants were obliged to furnish work for the enemy,
withoul payment.

Belgrade, December 7/50 1918.

Dr R. G. Russ,
Professor at the University of Lousanne (Switzerland).
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IN° 15
Particalars of Bulgarian atrocities

| saw Serbian prisoners for the first time between Strumilza and
Pelrich. The date was December »6rd 191D. It was exceedingly cold
and these soldiers were working on the roads. I was unable to speak
to them, bul they appeared to be very miserable and badly treated.
\fterwards | saw others all along the road to Sofia. All appeared to
be very miserable. After leaving the hospital at Sofia [ was put into
the central depot with a hundred Serbian officers. The food COT-
sisted of a piece of bread and soup (bwice) every day. The soup was
very bad and generally without meat. The lodgings were bad.

On February 8th — i. e. three days later — 1 left for Tatar
Pazardjik with 8 Serbian officers. We were made to travel worse
than cattle worth anything. We remained al Pazardjik for five
weeks and were badly housed, and had we not had money we should
have been almost starved. :

After five weeks we left for Philipopole — 36 kilometers away
carriages were refused us. Fortunately we, the officers, were able to
hire a few carriages. Before conlinuing, | must say that the treat-
ment of the Serbian soldiers and eivilian prisoners (men and women)
at Pazardjik was extraordinarily bad and brutal. I have never seen
— before or since — such bad hutments as those of the Pazardjik
depot. The commandant of the town was a ferocious barbarian, i, e.
a true Bulgarian officer.

Al Phillipopole allied officers were not treated too badly : the
trealment was really good, considering that we were amongst savages.
Ihe treatment of the Serbian soldiers was bad from all poinis of
view, but 1 cannol recollect any real atrocities.

Al the end of the month of July I escaped, hut was recaptured
near Pashmakli. In the town of Shiroko Laka we were imprisoned
in a mosque with about 130 Serbians who worked on tlie roads. The
conditions there were terrible. It was the first fime in my life thal
I saw real misery. We were shut ut like sardines all night, without
cven being able to go out to the lavatory. The grealer parl of the
Serbians were ill and more or less without clothing. T am certain
that not one of the 130 is living to-day. The commandant was a
captain of Engineers, as well as being a brute of the worst kind. At




Pashmakli, Chepelare and all along the route to Phillipopole I saw
Serbians who suffered as at Shiroka Laka. It was during this
journey that I realised the Bulgarian system « Kill all the Serbians,
but make them work well beforehand ».

In the month of September, I arrived at the Gorno Panitcherevo
camp, where the worst atrocities in modern history took place. Dur-
ing the first week, 1 saw 27 Serbian soldiers (or interned civilians)
beaten by order of Lt Samardjieff. They were beaten before a
Bulgarian battalion because three of their comrades had escaped.
Their backs were like raw meat. During the winter there was no
fire in the hutments and many died of cold. For some fime the

Serbians' tation was 300 grammes of bread of bad quality — and
frequently mouldy — and soup conlaining salt, pepper and 20

{lwenty) grammes of potatoes per day.

These soldiers were either invalids, lame or amputated, who could
not work, but they were however made lo work by being beaten with
sticks. :

In the month of January, typhoid commenced. Immediately
this was known, more prisoners were sent to the camp. The Serbian
soldiers and interned civilians were so feeble and starved that they
were useless as labourers. There was no doetor in the camp, the old
doctor Oukoumanovitch having also died of typhus. The plan
adopted by the commandant was the following. He had the 5th hui-
ment surrounded by barbed wire. All Serbians who were ill (no
malter the nature of the illness) were thrown there. FEach day,
« soup », bread and water were put there, and the corpses withdrawn,
about twenty per diem. After about two months, a dentist and a
Roumanian chemist were senl there as a punishment, i. e. to kill
them also. With them, I visited the Hth hutment. [ saw there a
spectacle which no artist could ever paint nor any author deseribe.
The Serbians there in were nearly all mad with illness and hunger,
and chaltered like monkeys. They lay in their own excrements, pos-
sibly several weeks old. Tt was so horrible thal, although I am a
nedical student and used to disgusting sights, T had to leave after
no minutes.

It was at the beginning of April, T believe, that young fresh
interned civilians began to arrive from Serbia. About 4000 came [0
the camp in all. After their arrival, the real atrocilies commenced.
They were 660 in hutments 30 meters long by 10 melers wide. All
day‘long one could hear blows from sticks, blows frequently given



on the face | During the night there were fusillades. In two nights
they shot 14 Serbians and Roumanians — 6 killed and § wonnded.

During the month of May the camp became nothing better than
a typhus hospital, a hospital with plenly of doctors, bul practically
no medecine or things which are of first necessity for patients. |
should require a thousand sheets of paper to relale all the atrocities,
and for this reason I will end mv recital by a typical example.

On July 7th or 8th 1919, between midnight and two in the
morning, they shot a young Serbian boy of 15 or 16 whilst he was
passing urine. He received two bullets, one in the arm, the other in
the stomach. These two shots were followed (as per orders given to
the guard) by a fusillade which sonnded the alarm and brought other
soldiers from the barracks Hoo melers away. These soldiers from the
barracks were to surround the camp to succour the ordinary guard in
case of revolt. With these soldiers, came Major Samardjielf
and two other Bulgarian officers. All three looked ot the young
Serbian, and the Major refused to allow one of the doctors attend to
him. Tt was 3 or 4 hours before the Serbian died.

After I left Panitcherevo, I did not see many Serbians. Those |
saw were naturally in a miserable state, without clothes and proper

food.
28. XI. 18. D.-J. COWAN, Sub-Lt.,

Connaught Rangers. British Army.

NOTE : This report was drawn up by Mr Cowan in French,

IN° 16

REPORT ON BULGARIAN ATROCITIES IN SERBIA

I base the following statements on evidence collected in four
ways. Firstly, by what 1 =aw, such as the ruins of houses and some-
times of whole village=, scars on the bodies of men, women and chil-
dren, and the exhumalion of corpses, Secondly, by sworn evidence.
Thirdly, by the interrogation of the people whose stories [ verified
as much as possible by the first ftwo methods and by the corroborative
testimony of other witnesses.  And forthly, by the perusal of certain
original Bulgarian documents, which have come into our hands,
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Professors of the University of Belgrade, Mileta Novakovitch and
Kosta Kumanudi and T made a tour through Bastern Serbia m
December and Jannary 1g18-191g, with the object of examining into
the question of alrocities commiitted by the Bulgarians during their
occupation. We visited Kumanovo, Vranya, Sourdoulitza, Lescovats,
Procouplie, Kourshoumlia, Nish, Tchupria, and Pojarevatz, besides
villages en route. Everywhere we found evidence of the wanlon
destruction of private property. Everywhere we heard the same
slories of beating, robbery and murder, and in some places we heard
of crimes and tortures unspeakable. Especially to be noted was Lhe
organised attempt to bulgarise the country, to accomplish which the
Bulgars employed methods ranging from the erasing of every Serb-
ian inscription, the destruction of all Serbian literature and cruel
punishments for the use of the Serbian language, to the burning of
Serbian school-mistresses in their schools, and the wholesale murder
of Serbion priests, teachers, functionaries, and other educated or rich
men who might encourage in the rest of the population the mainte-
pance of their national spirit,

To enter into the very many individual cases of oulrage and
cruelty that came to my knowledge, would be wearying in the
extreme. T therefore set forth only a few of the most striking cases,
and give a general stalement of what the Bulgarians did to the civi-
lian population of Serbia during their oceupation, If further details
are required, | shall be happy to give them.

Kumanovo has suffered extensive pillage and a good many houses
have been destroved. The cases of lwo women especially attracted
my attention. One, a schoolmistress called Paraskeva Radoviteh,
resisted violation and was so beaten that she became mentally deran-
ged. My colleagues and 1 believe it is impossible that she was not
violated. The other woman, Elisabeth Ristitch, was the wife of
a schoolmaster. She was kept in the hotel for weeks by the Bulgar-
ians and is now insane. .

At Vreanya, which has been very mmch destroyed and pillaged,
we interviewed among others the families of the four principal men
of the town : Toma Djurdjevitch, Toma Djikitch, Toma Mikitch, and
Toma Zafiroviteh. All four of these gentlemen were faken from
their homes al nightfall in the winter of 1915-16 by a Bulzarian
sergeant and four soldiers, under pretext of inlernment. Since then,
{heir families have had no news of or from them, cxeept that,
among other corpses found outside Vranva, Djurdjevileh’s daughter
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recognized one by its clothing, as being that of her father ; and that
the other three men were recognized by the villagers of Sourdoulitza,
and are known to have been murdered there. Djurdjevitch twice
bought himself off by heavy money payments. hut when he had
nothing left, no mercy was shown. In these cases there was no
question of a trial of any sort, nor even of any accusation being level-
led at the victims, Yet all paid the exireme penalty. For extermi-
nation of leading Serbs was considered essential to the Bulgarisation
of the occupied country. Others were treated in the same way.

The rank and file of the population suffered also. The case of
Katarina Stochiltch is illustrative. She is a woman of fifty-five, and
says, that she was asked for 6.000 dinars, but as she could give only
1600, the Bulgars stripped and thrashed her. Later they wanted her
to give information about some Serbian Commitaji, and because she
could not or would not give it, they beat her again (naked of course),
pulled ou the hairs on her sexnal parts, broke her left legt just above
the ankle, and covered her with their excreta. She was also put
in prison for six months. T myself saw her left leg, the bone of
which has not set straight. _

On the morning of Monday, December 16th, we were taken out-
side of Vranya to the North, where in some fields we disinterred
human remains in two places. In all we found the remains of seven
priesls and three others. According fo the Prefect and (o general
report these ten men had been brought to Vranya from the neigh-
boring parishes, were shot in cold blood and buried in the fields
where we disinterred their corpses. As further proof of this murder.
I can say that I saw the original of a Bulgarian document about this
matter.

Some two kilometers further North we disinterred the remains,
of six other men, at least two, and possibly three of whom were
priests, the remainder being civilians. Of the six skulls found, three
hiad been broken, one behind, badly, the olher two on the side. In
all of the three places of disinterment the bodies had been trown in
pell-mell with no arangement of any kind.

At Vladichin Hahn, we oblained the following details from the
Sub-Prefect’s formal report. Namely, that a woman, Miloyka Pet-
kovtich, had her breasls cut off before witnesses: that two unknown
priests were found dead nearbye, together with five nnknown civil-
ians also dead ; that 4~ inhabitanis of the commune, six of whom
wore women, had been murdered ; that one man before being killed
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had had his tongue cut off ; that 6o men had been stripped naked and
had received from 26 to 260 blows from whips ; that certain men
had been branded ; that 27 women and girls received thrashings
ranging from 25 to 150 blows, that two of these women after being
heatlen were interned in Bulgaria and have not since returned ; and
that a young girl — Stoika Kinitch — was shot because she refused
to be violated.

The village is much damaged and all Serbian inscriptions had

been erased.

SOURDOULITZA

At Sourdoulitza we interviewed the only uninterned men of the
village, about 15 in all ; a résumé of what they told us I give below,
together with information I collected from other sources.

Any Serb who was educated up to a certain point, or who had
any kind of leadership among his fellows, was sent here as though en
route for internment in Bulgaria, as this is the last Serbian village
on the road across the border. When they arrived, they were robbed
of all money or anything of value, even to boots and clothes very
often, and were then taken out in the evening and murdered. Al
first they were shot and left lying for several days to terrorize the
villagers ; after which gypsies were employed to bury them. But
this led to requests from the villagers to rebury their friends ; as,
for example, the woman who found out where her daughter was
buried and begged to be allowed to give the corpse proper burial.
S0, in order to avoid giving any indication of where the murders took
place, they gave up shooting, and butchered their victims with knives
and bayonets, burying secretly. Moreover, they disintered those
corpses already buried and reburied them elsewhere. The country
cound that village must be one vast cemitary, and is aptly called
« the slaughter house of Serbia », for during November-December-
January and February 1915-16,.every day from 200 to hoo Serbs were
led off en route for Bulgaria, a large portion of each day’s quota being
murdered. The villagers told me that every night they heard cries
and groans coming from the woods around the village. Those four
months were the worst, but the same sort of things was going on all
ihe time the Bulgars were there, the last murder being comitted on
July 14, 1918.

For example, 86 civilians were sent from Lescovats. They
marched all the way, with their arms bound, and were constantly
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beaten. Only 8o of them got as far a< Sourdoulitza, the remaining
six having been murdered en route. Aftor their arrival they were
taken off into the fields and woods near the village in parties of vo,
fied two and two, This was aftor shooling had been given up, and
they were butchered with knives and bavonets.

Sevenly six of the eighty who gol to Sourdoulitza were murdered
in this way, the other four escaped,  Oune of the four, Djoka Tassitch,
i student of philosophy, I interviewed when we got to Lescovats.
He showed me hi- scars and told me the story of his escape.  His
declaration under oath is in the archives of this Commission,

Another group of 42 civilians was sent from Lescovats to Sour-
doulitza, but they never arrived, as they were all murdered on
the way.

The people here also told us that Toma Zafirovitch, Toma
Mikiteh, and Toma Djurdjevitch, the three men T mentioned as having
been sent from Vranya to Sourdoulitza. wers recognized by them and
#re known to have been murdered here. _

The village of Sourdoulitza had been extensively gutted. The
Bulgars, here as everywhere, asked in each house for money : if money
was not forthcoming in sufficient amounts, the house was burned.
The people laughed at me when 1 asked if any of the women had
been beaten or maltreated. and told me that they had all suffered
everything that women could suffer,

In order to gain further evidence of the murders cornmitted in
this neighborhood, we ordered (he disinterment of some of the corp-

ses. T had parlicularly requested that no digging should he done
before our arrival in order to obyiate all possibility of a « plant »,
and when we were laken to some fields to the S, E. of the 'villag@.,
there was absolutely nothing to indicate that anything had been
buried, or that the ground had heen disturbed in any way. Three
places were pointed out to us as the graves of some of the vietims,
but, T repeat, that in no way did they differ from thejr surroudings,
In the first of the three places we found the remains of a priest and
of an arch-priest, both in a fair state of preservation. Professor
Novakoviteh found a large calibre rifle bullet fabout 4d-70, T should
say) near the middle of the body of the arch-priest (and il was pointed
oul that he came from the village of Gilliané in Macedonia, becanse
lie wore low shoes earacteristic of that place), The priest’s lower
jaw had been forced down mrmiderahly out of place.

In the second place we found in all five corpses and a fool.
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They were in two layers, had been thrown in pellmell and consisted
of the remains of a priest, an officer below the rank of Major, an
N. G. O., a soldicr, and a child. They were fairly well preserved,
especially the hody of the priest which was at the bottom, and the
priest’s soutane and officer’s aniform were easily recognisable. The
corspses were photographed.

[n the third place we found a single corpse dressed as a peasant,
but the people assured us that it had been an educated man, as his

 hands had been while and fine as those of a man who had never done

mannal labour.

After this, we went along the road leading out of the village to
ihe North for about a kilometer, till we came to a narrow gulch run-
ning Eastwards. We saw that the ground was undisturbed, except
in one place where D* Reiss had exhumed a corpse on his recent
visit, and we gave orders for the digging (o begin. Excavafions were
made in five places, and in four of them we found human remains.
In two of these places we found whole corpses, nine in one, and seven
in another. In both places the dead had been thrown in pell-mell
and we noticed bayonet or knife marks on the clothing of many. In
{he other two places we found only skulls (13 in all) and arm and
leg bones, with only a few rags of clothing. This is explained by the
fact that at first the vietims had either been left unburied or buried
inefficiently, and the dogs came and worried the corpses, earrying
heads and bands and arms, etc., through the conntry and fighting
over them in the village streets. These fragments the Bulgars col-
lected and buried where we found therm.

Incidentally, it was from one of the parties of ten led to exeen-
fion in this valley that the student of Philosophy whom I interviewed
i1 Lescovats made his esecape. Allogether wo disinterred at Sour-
douliza the remains of 37 Serbs. all of whom we have every reason
to believe were murdered in cold blood by the Bulgarians. In several
of the skulls we found gold filled and gold capped teeth, which car-
ries oub the statements of the community that they were well-fo-do
men. And the statement that the Bulgars robbed their vietims of
oven their shoes is carried out by the fact that we found only two
corpses with any foot gear other than socks — one being the arch-
priest and the other being one of the corpses, found in the little guleh,
which had one boot left. We were all glad, 1 tink, to leave Sour-

doulitza.
On the way to Lescovats we stopped at a little village called Ve-




o

iika Grabovnitza, where we found the first evidence of the swing
torture. Two holes were cut in the roof through which cords ran to
the beams above. A Serb would be hung by these cords passed under
is arms ; and naked, would be swung from one side of the room to
ihe other, the Bulgars giving him fresh momentus as the end of each
swing by blows from sticks an inch or more thick, the broken halves
of one of wich we saw.

We interviewed the inhabitants, nearly all of whom had been
beaten, including a men or go and a woman of 70, and all complained
of being forced o buy themselves immunity from the swing lorture.
The village was much damaged. 5

The Mayor told us that a woman was murdered here by a Bulgar
soldier, because she resisted violation.

At Lescovats we interviewed many people all of whom had sto-
vies of bealings, extortion, robbery and murder to tell. One old
man of 7o had his teeth knocked out and was beaten, another of 6o was
branded all over his lower chest stomach, arms and back and was
threatened with hanging as a means of extortion. A woman of 4o,
Nalalie Tsvetkovitch, was stripped and beaten all over her body and
hung until she lost consciousness. We saw the scars of the beatings.

On Christmas day of 1917 in the village of Mala Grabovnilza,
the Bulgars entered the house of Blagoyé Reikovitch and hegan
beating his son’s wife. Her child, then 3 days old, fell from her arms
to the ground, and because the old man protested, he was so beaten
that he is now partly crippled.

The cases I heard here of brutality are so numerous and so uni-
versally found elsewhere that 1 will not put them down.

On the high ground above Lescovats to the North West, we found
many bones which were said to be human. As I am not a student of
- anatomy, I cannot say that they were all human, but, scattered ahout
among the brushwood and in the open grass land, I certainly saw
a great many human skulls, parts of human <kulls, and human jaw
bones.

These are accounted for by the fact that here, as at Sourdoulitza,
from distant parts of the country there were brought many Serbs,
whom the Bulgars led out at dark and murdered. They were not
buried, but left lying for the dogs and foxes to worry, and for the
numerous birds of prey to feed upon. Many skulls have been buried
by the peasants whenever they happened to find them. One farmer
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claimed to have picked up over fifty skulls on his property alone.
It is to be noted that no battle was fought on this ground.

We also disinterred two corpses of civilians who had been shol
Lefore a forced audience of the citizens of Lescovats. Photographs
were taken both of the skulls and other human bones picked up in
the fields, and of the two disinlerred corpses.

The next day we went out to a badly damaged village called Le-
bané and heard there these same stories we heard everywhere. One
boy of 17, Nicola Stankovitch, had had an extraordinary escape. He
was taken in a group of seven youths to a vineyard outside Lescovats,
where they were lined up and shot. By a sirange chance he alone
was not touched. But he fell down with the others and shammed
dead. The Bulgars came up to finish off the wounded, and gave
Qtankovitch 13 knife and bayonet wounds on the back and side of
the neck, arm and stomach, the scars of which he showed us. They
{eft him for dead, but he crawled away during the night, and so
escaped. : b by

In Lebané we first heard of the hanging torture. This means
that a man, or womnan, was first stripped naked, and then hung from
the ceiling by his hands and feet, which were tied together behind
his back. They were left hunging thus with the body bent in a curve
{ace downwards, until they fainted, when they were let down, only to
be re-hung on coming to their senses.

The priest of Lebané, who has escaped murder by dressing as a
peasant, complained that his library of over 3.000 bookd, which
must have meant much fo him, was thrown, volume by volume, into
the river.

I left my colleagues after lunch and went up into the surround-
ing hills, where the villages | had time to visit showed plainly who
had been there. 1 was away from Lebané for only about two hours,
and had neither time nor interpreter fo question the villagers ; but
| saw the ruins of 33 houses, 15 barns or stables, 14 oranaries, and
= other buildings, All destroyed wanlonly, without the excuse of
military questions.

In one little hamlet there remained standing one house and half
a house. The other two and a half houses and all oul-buildings had
been burned to the ground. In the village of Shumané I was told
that 35 of their people had been murdered by the Bulgars. Oh this
1 have no proof, bul that there has been much wanlon destruction,
and that there is now much poverty, I am convinced.
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Professor Kmmanudi and Professor Novakovitch, during their
examination of the inhabitanis of Lebané, came across the following :

Petar Zvetkovilch, the priest or Precopehelilza — a neighboring
village — was taken by the Bulgars who first cut him all over with
knives and then cut off his head. They showed this head for two
days, and then threw it away. But later, the murdered man’s dog
found the head and brought it back to his masler’s widow.,

At Medvedja, women were hung up lo the ceiling naked, as in
the hanging torture, and were then beaten on the stomach.

At Gaitan, 20 women enceinle were murdered, and a woman
just delivered of child was also Killed. The next morning the child
was found sucking the dead breast.

At Gaitan also, an old man of 7o, called Zlatko, was tortured in
the following manner : The Bulgars placed a piece of wood under
his penis and beal upon the penis with sticks. Zlatko died in agony
from the effects.

On our way back to Lescovats we stopped near an old church
and, while Professor Kumanudi interviewed some peasants, Professor
Novakovitch, who throughout our trip in this respect, as in every
other, has been courtesy itself, inlerpreied for me while T interviewed
the pneqL Traiko Popm itch, an old gentleman with long hair and
beard, who was interned in Bulgaria, at the beginning of the war, leav-
ing behind him two daughlers. He relurned after the signing of the
armistice to find that one daughter, called Nastasia, had been beaten
to death by the Bulgars, and that the other — Cossara — a school-
mistress, hab been shut up in her schoolhouse and burned alive.
Incidentally he added that he had had two houses, but that they had
both been burned. He bade us God speed and turning, walked off
through the tress to his church.

We interviewed some more people on our return to Lescovats, Most
of them told the same stories we had heard so often before, but one
man called Novakovitch — not my Colleague — gave sworn testi-
mony to the following effect.

Namely, that he was presenl in Uskub. as a witness, in February
1918, at the trial of colonel Kalkandjiew, of the Bulgarian Alm},
who was accused by the relatives of a Jew, called Haimkari, of having
murdered the said Haimkari. His defence was « I have killed 6o
priests, 200 fuctionaries, and more than 3000 citizens, without dist-
inguishing between Serb. Jew, Bohemian (Gipsy) or Turk, because
I have full authority from my government to kill all who may be
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indicated to me as hurtful or prejudicial towards Bulgaria ». On
the strength of this statement, the Bulgarian Tribunal acquitted hin.

The town of Lescovats itself had received betler treatment than
(hat which we saw elsewhre. Many houses had been pillaged, of
course, and much furniture, linen, silver, ete., stolen, but I saw no
lhouses that had been burned. The machinery in the sight factories
had been to a greal extent ruined or carried off, but the buildings
were infact.

At Poukovats, the people told us that in their canlon, 47 men
lad been murdered, and that two women had their throats cut because
they could not give the money for which they werc asked.

At Procouplie, a cerfain number of houses had been destroyed,
and by interviewing the people we collected many statements of the
nsual i1l treatment which, for the most part, it would be but tiresome
repetition to put down here. Three of these stalements, however,
are so striking that 1 give them below.

Militza Sarkoviteh, of Berilye, told us thal in the beginning of
1918, her daughters were taken to prison one Saturday night, and so
beaten that they died chorily afterwards.

At the village of Belevode, in the same region, a woman called
Milatitch and her two daughters, were covered with petrol and set
on fire, the mother and one daughter being burned to death. The
other daughter who told the story, escaped with her life, but showed
the scars of the burning which are horrible.

At the village of Petrovatz, near Procouplie, a Bulgarian oflicer
called Ferdinand Mioura, with the aid of four of his soldiers, seized
the daughter of Stania Boskovitcli. and having stripped and beaten
her on the stomach, cansed his dog to violate her.

The 2bth regiment of Bulgarian Infantry is bitterly complained
of all through this district.

From Procouplie we went to Kou reshumlia, and from there we
made excursions to the surrounding villages. At Ratcha, Stoiana
Andjelkovileh said that the Bulgars first undressed her, and then put
a piece of prepared wood in her vagina and il it. She is a young
inother, 30 years old, and added that her family were forced to watch
the whole proceeding and to spit upon her sexual parts. She was
photographed.

Everybody had the same stories to tell of the beating, torfure
and raping of women and of the beating, torture, and murder of
tmen, as we had heard everywhere else. Many houses have been des-
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troyed in this village and everything of any use has been carried off.
I rode through some of the neighhoring hamlets and saw altogether
the ruins of 20 houses and of 26 other buildings destroyed by fire. 1
should judge that fully 50 per cent of the buildings in the places I
visited had been destroyed, but as all the district round Kourshoumlia
has suffered in much the same way, T will give as an example what
I found in the village of Banya, which lies to the South West of Kours-
houmlia.

I went there on Cristmas day, 1918, with an interpreter, and a
pholographer, and spent the day in examining the people. In the
village ilself there remains one room only. Everything else, hotel,
villas, houses, baths, etc., have all been destroyed by fire. Aboul a
kliometer away, round a bend in the valley, was the only house I saw
that had heen left standing. It conlained two beds, two families and
two blankets. 1 was told that they were the only two blankets left
in the village. We lunched there, and remembering lhe lavishness
of Serbian hospitality, it is a commentary on the poverty of the place
when I say that all the village could offer us was a little Rakia (prune
brandy).

In December 1917, one evening, the Bulgars opened fire on this
house with a machine gun. They entered and Lhrew the children
(six in all) from one corner to another, thrashed the old grandmother,
Pana Stankovitch, on the naked stomach, took a younger woman,
(Leposava Stankovitch) into the woods, and thrashed her. On three
days this young woman was beaten four times a day on the naked
stomach with knotted whips previously wetted, besides having her
breasts pounded with gun butts. She showed me the scars on her
hody. Her breasts in particnlar were in a dreadful condition being
all covered with scars. She slill suffers much pain. One of the
children, a pretty little girl of 13, had been bealen over and over
again.

Returning to the village proper, I interviewed in the one room
lhat remains, as many of the inhabitants as I could in the limiled
time I had at my disposal.

Savela Mitroviteh, a widow with a 6 year old child, stated that
on December 18th, 1917, she was trashed four times ; that on Decen-
ber soth, 1917, she was trashed six times and two days later she was
trashed so often and so much that she was left unconscions. Of
course, she was always tripped naked to be beaten. Her stomach is
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badly swollen and covered with scars, and she has difficulty in
walking. :

Velika Dragoutinovich, an clderly married woman, saw her
17 year old son hung before her eyes ; on Lhree separate occasions she
was beaten with gun bulis, and was once wounded by a bayonet
thrust. She showed me her sears.  But that was not all.  On another
occasion she was stripped and the Bulgars pierced her tongue with a
bayonet, holding her head back so that she choked in her own blood.
This was repeated a second time with this difference that, after being
stripped, she was put on her back on the ground, the Bulgars stand-
ing on her breasts with their nailed boots and holding her head in
such a posilion that she choked again. Later she was put in prison
for 7 weeks and then interned in Bulgaria. There she was so beaten
and ill-treated thal now she is always ill and cannot work. When
she returned, she found that her house had been burned,

Styka Militch, an old woman of 7o, was stripped naked and ter-
ribly beaten from the top of her stomach to mid thigh, also on her
back. I saw her scars. She added that it was impossible to name
what the Bulgars had done to her. Her house also was destroyed.

Yelka Petrovitch, 25 years old, and a widow with one child, was
beaten three times, and lost consclousness each time. She was a
pretly woman and said that she was often kicked and beaten because
she defended herself from violation. Her three brothers-in-law and
hier grandfather-in-law were all hung before her eyes because they
could not tell the whereabouts of Kosta Petchanatz, the leader of
the Serb Insurrection of 1gry. Incidentally, everybody I spoke to
here said thal they had been beaten or otherwise malireated for the
same reason ; and all agreed that the leaders in Bulgarian brulality
were Tané Voyvoda and Kroum Voyvoda.

Ricynie Atchenitch, a young widow with a 3 year old daughter,
saw her grandfather and grandmother murdered before her eyes, and
because she asked why this had been done, she was stripped naked
and brutally beaten. In all she was thrashed more than twenty times
(corroborated by the mayor and others, who said also that she had
been violated), and her breasts were pounded with gun butts. When
I saw her, her hands were trembling badly ; she could scarcely stand,
and she was evidently in great pain. Moreover she has had no medi-
cal attention, because there is neither doctor nor chemist in the whole
arrondisement ; her clothes are in rags, her house and all that she
had is utterly destroyed ; and I do not see how she and the many

<
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others in like conditions are Lo survive this winter.  All the women
in this village have suffered in much the same way as these | mention.

Givadin Alexileh, a man of 6o years, showed e scars on his
stomach, made by bayomet thrusts. He was one of the 57 men,
women and children whom the Bulgars stripped, tied togelther, and
Leat all one day with whips, and sticks, and gun bults. They were
left out all night on the ground withoul any covering. This was in
December 1g17.

Blagoye Vidakovileh, a boy of 14, was al home when the Bulgars
came in, murdered his father and shol him twice, once in the thigh
and once in the fool. He could not tell me how often he had been
beaten. His brother was laken away Lo be inlerned, but has since
sever been heard of ; his home is burned to the ground.

Jika Krushitch, 48 years old, with lwo children of 1o and 8
vears, said he had been shot in the leg because when asked what he
was, he had answered « | am a Serb ».  He is still lame. He slated
also that his wife and every woman in the village had been violated
but dare not say so. To this the Mayor and the other men of the
village agree. His house also was burned.

Milorad Miletitch, 4o years old, with wife and lhree children,
was 80 horribly bealen on the stomach that he cannot work and can
scarcely walk., In June 1917, belore the insurrection, his house was
burned and hLis wife first beaten insensible, and then violated. He
himself was condemned to death, but managed to escape 1o the
‘woods.

Radoslav Yvitch, 55 years old, was badly beaten on the stomach
which is still swollen and much marked ; his wife was beaten and
violated : his daughter-in-law-lo-be, who tried to escape to the woods,
was caught and first beaten and then violated.

Raka Janjevitch, who was an invalid, was horribly beaten on the
stomach : his wife was bealen and violaled ; and his 2 year old boy
was bealen and stoned.

And so the story continued all day. Each had much the same
sort of thing to relale, and this village of Banya is only one of many,
where the same crimes were committed by the Bulgarian Army of
occupation.

At Kourshounlia we found the same thing over again, excepl
that branding on the stowach with red hol shovels was more pre-
valent than, for example, at Banya. [ zaw men with eyes knocked
out, with dreadful scars all oyer their bodies, wilh crippled limbs,
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one with a broken back, another who wilth a broken shoulder had
been Lhrown inlo a4 baker's oven where the heal was so great thal he
is now blind. | saw many who are unable to work and I talked
with a woman who had been healen on the stomach while she was
enceinte.  Her child was 4 months prematurely born, but is still
alive. Another woman’s arm was broken, after which she was
thrown on her fire. And a mother brought me her daugler who
had been so bealen and violated thal she is now insane. ;

At Velika Plana, we found thal everybody had some tale of bru-
tality Lo tell. Tt was just Banya, Ratcha and Kourshunlia over again.
Here we heard of two men who were violated, one, an old man of
sixty.  We have his sworn lestimony and the sworn testimony of two
witnesses.  Another old man of 75 was beaten and has dogs sel upon
ivimn. His wife was bealen also, his [wo sons were murdered and his
house is burnied. A soldier came back here after the wars lo see his
wife and family, but found that Lis wife had been shul up in his
house and burned alive, and that his 18 year old daughter had been
beaten and violated. He has five children to support and nothing in
the world.  Anothier man was murdered by being cul to pieces with
a knife : his wife was beaten and violated and is left with four chil-
dren. All five are nervous wrecks.

A young woman showed me her 8Smonths baby which had a large
hollow or dent on one blde of its Lead, caused by a blow from a
Bulgar’s gun butt. A 14 year old ‘boy was shot in the leg, just for
the fun of the thing. Another woman here was stretched uuL naked
on the ground by four Bulgars., and beaten on the stomach while
she was enceinte, until she had a miscarriage. She has been ill
ever since. A Serb soldier was released from a Bulgarian hospital
and allowed to come back here to his home. When he arrived, the
Bulgars here cut his troal. An old woman of 70 and an old man of
=5 were both beaten, naked of course. A girl of 18 was raped and
then burned to death.

Here also we came across the case of an old woman, Julka Niko-
litch, who greeted a Bulgarian officer with the words « Dobar dan »,
which is the Serbian [oun of greeting. Bul because she had not
caid « Dober den », which is the Bulgarian form, she was stripped
and beaten on the a{u_n__ncu I, bavonetted and kicked on the head.

\1 Alexandrove, 4t houses and 32 other buildings were des
froyed. 53 houses 1:emain. In one of the 41 destroyed houses,
%7 civilians were shul up.  The bhuilding ‘was then set on five and
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they all persihed. The Bulgarian lieutenant Asen Velkov, with the
help of sergeant llia Stoychev, beat to death an old man of 70. Both
Bulgarians were of the 5lh Cavalry Regiment, 2nd Squadron. Also
at Alexandrovo a little girl of 8 years was raped and died from the
effects.

The Archbishop of Nish told us (hat 23 of his priests were taken
away in one night. that all but two were murdered in cold blood, and
that the corpses were burned. The iwo who escaped have given
evidence of what they saw. Altogether, 1568 priests in the Archbisho-
prick of Nish were murdered. The Prefect of Nish told us that hund-
reds of ecivilians had been murdered in the old Turkiish Forl above
the town and buried in the moat. We disinterred corpses in the
indicated places and I have no doubt thal many were huried elsewhere
and will never be found except by chance.

At Pojarevatz, we interviewed a Bulgarian officer who was held
ihere as a prisoner. e confessed to extorsion and bealings, and told
us that his brother officers had all been guilty of the same things and
worse. As an example, he told us that a captain of his regiment
finding that one of his men had syphilis, gave orders that this syphi-
litic should go about in the villages and violate all the Serbian girls
he could. In consequence, the country round Pojarevalz is full of
this diseage. The rest of his evidence will be treated of in the report
ol the whole Commission.

I think I have told enough to show thal unquestionably the
Bulgarians did commit atrocities of the most foul and inhuman
nature. Barbarous treatment of the civilian population male and
female, old and young ; torture ; pillage ; extortion ; robbery ; mur-
der and sadism have all appeared in the testimony we have received.

It should be particularly noticed that nowhere was there ever
cven a prelence of a trial. The Bulgarians killed and tortured wit-
hout mercy whomever and whenever it pleased them so to do. And
they did not do these things in hot blood. They did them in a syste-
matic way and continued to do them during three years. 1 do not
claim that every particular erime was commilted by order. But I
do say that undoubtedly there was organized wholesale murder, and
that the reign of horror as such, was inspired by the Bulgarian leaders
«nd endorsed by the nation as a whole, with the avowed purpose of
Bulgarizing the country by the extermination of the inhabitants.
Yet their victims were all old men, men unfit for the army, or women

and children.
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This Commission has an enormous mass of information on the
subject, and in our full report we take up the question in more detail.
But even so, we know and can know only a little part of the horror
that Serbia knew during the Bulgarian occupalion.

The 25th Regiment of Bulgarian Infantry ; the Commitaji leaders
Tané, Krsta, Gavrilo, Kristo, Cazandjia and others ; colonel Kalkand-
jiev and major [lkov are particularly complained of.

With all respect to these who sit in judgement, I suggest thal a
nation guitly of such appaling crimes should be most heavily puni-
shed. For in the ecommunity of nations as in a community of per-
sons, the only safeguard against erime is the punishment of crime ;
and Law has no meaning unless it is upheld.

William A. DRAYTON,
Union Club, New-York.

N° 17

To : Officer Commanding Royal Air Force Base Depot, Salonika.
From : Lient. J. C. A. Owen, R. A. F.
Sir, 3 .

Yelerring lo your communication of Nov. and I beg to make the
following statement on the ill-treatment of Serbian Prisoners of War
al Philippopolis, Bulgaria.

During the month of March or April 1617 I, with olher British
alficers. witnessed the logging of a Serhian soldier or interned eivilian
who was put on his stomach and received a terrible beating at the
hands of a Bulgarian soldier, this was all done under Lhe personal
supervision of Lhe Commandant of the Camp al Philippopolis (Lieut
Nicoloff). while the Serbian was being flogged, he very naturally
Hincher_{ from the effect of the blow, in doing so he aised his hand
snd the Commandant Nicoloff promptly kicked him in the head, this
he did repeatedly.

1 have the honour to be, Sir, your obedient Servant,

(Signed) : C. A. OWEN,
Lient. B. A,
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N® 18

REPORT ON TREATMENT OF SERBIAN PRISONERS OF WAR
IN BULGARIA

L. Statement by Capt. C. K. Blandy, R, A. F.
Complaint.

When I arrived at Philipopolis, lient. Nicoloff was the Camp
commandant. One day in early March | was walking with lieut.
Owen R. A. F., and hearing a man erying looked up and saw a Serb-
1an being flogged by a Bulgar soldier, while the commandant, lieut.
Nicoloff was looking on. When the Serbian cried oul, as he did
several times, T saw lieut. Nicoloff kick the man in the face. We
were, of course, powerless to do anything.

2. Statement by lieut. R. W. Frazier.
Comparison of general treatment of allied prisoners

The French and English received the same treatment. The Serh-
ians were famished ragged wrecks, and were an example of what the
British soldiers would have been, without food, clothing and money
from home. | have seen them licking tins thrown away on British
mbbish heaps.

3. Statement by lieut. 8 .T. Beare, F'L. lieut. R. N.

Comparison of general treatment of allied prisoners

The French and English received the same treatment. The Serb-
ians were forced to live under such ferrible conditions thal a greal
number, at any rate, could not possibly survive. Everything pointed
o a systemaltic « killing off » of these unfortunate creatures. The
Roumanians were in much the same plight.



November 3rd, 1g1s.

To : The Commanding officer, Royal Air Force Base Depol.
Salonika.
Submilted

With reference to Base Depol note of the 2nd inst.

I have not seen myself the actual adminisiration of ill trealment
1o the Serbian prisoners, althongh 1 have been told of very many
cases from other officers, who, 1 understand, are reporling Lhese
instances. I beg, however, to make the following reporl as lo what
1 actually saw.

The general condition of the Serbian prisoners was really fer-
rible especially in “the winter. These men had no blankels, and a
greal number no boots at all. The remainder had various Lypes of
handages and sandals. Large numbers of them would crawl round
our Camp. picking up odd scraps of food and eat it, no matler where
it had been laving or in what condition it was in. Further [ have
ween some of them actually licking the emply tins which we had
thrown away. :

Large numbers of Serbians were buried aboul 100 yards from
our own barrack. Some of these men were buried in rough wooden
coffins, bul the majority in nothing al all. On enquiry as o the
cause of death one was told « Typhus », hut from the external appea-
rances of the bodies il seemed to me nothing bul sheer starvation.
Often one saw Serbian prisoners just drop down in the Camp and die,
always from the same cause. I have mentioned this to Bulgarian
officers, but they expressed no concern whatever.
on one had. from what we could see was cerlainly,
t was heing made on the part of the Bulgarians to
stop these large number of deaths. The prisoners of war were sup-
posed to receive ihe same rations as the Bulgarian soldiers in Camp,
but as far as 1 know very few deaths took place amongst these man.

There were also about 6o to 70 Serbian women, until about the
last two months, in the same hut as some of the men.

Lt. B. P. Hyde R. F. C. who was our doctor at Philippopolis told
A woman had arrived ad the Camp

The impressi
ihat no real effor

me ol a ease he was trenting.



with her back so badly bruised from being beaten with a stick, thal
<he conld not hear anvone placing a hand even lightly on her ack,

(Signed) . R. G. BERKERLEY,
[ieutenant R. N. V. R,
attad R, A. F.

N* 20

Salonika Airecraft Park, BR. A. F. of11/18.
REPORT ON ILL-TREATMENT OF SERBIANS BY BULGARS
Sir,

While 1 was undergoing imprisonment in the Prisoners of War
Depot at Philippopolis I heard and later saw the Camp cominandant
{logging Serbians in the next room to my own. On enquiring Lhe
reason why these Serbians were flogged 1 was told it was because they
were Serbians.

There were at one time seven occupants of the roomn which was
only two and a half metres by two and a half metres with a broken
window and a roof which kept out no rain.

The above incidents occurred several times between August 4th
and August 24th of this year.

At the beginnig of October 1918 about two hundred (200) Serh-
jans arrived at the depot and as there was no room in any of the bar-
racks these Serbians were left out in the open, and owing lo rain, and
the bad state their clothes and health were in, a number died during
the night. — I saw seven (7) bodies carried away but heard that fif-
feen (15) died. -

During my stay at Philippopolis, I noticed a llogging taking
place in the barrack square, close to the Bulgar Guard house. The
vietim in this case was I heard a Serbian woman, bul owing 1o a
sumber of Bulgarian Guards standing round 1 did not see Lhe victini.
Shortly after L noticed one of the Serbian women going from the
crowd lowards the Women's barrack. — I believe she was the vielim
of five (b) strokes.

[ have the honour to be, Sir, our obedient Servant,

Signed : Harold A. TRAGEY,
lieut. K. AL .
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N° 21

TREATMENT OF SERBIANS IN BULGARIA

From iy experience whilsl a prisoner of war in Bulgaria, the
treatment meted oul lo the Serbians was most inhuman. They were
underclothed and underfed. Several times whilst T was incarcerated
in different prisons on my way up to Philippopolis, | made com-
plaints to the commandant of these Camps, should he be able to
speak French, and the answer [ usually received was that « they were
only Serbians ». On one occasion in boﬁd the commandant, a 2 lieut.,
said to me « You are English, they are ‘5Lrblane, speak for yourself ».
In Philippopolis Camp I have seen hundreds of these Serbians in a
most pitiable condition. not only men hut women and children. I
have in my possession a photo taken with my camera of a Serbian
who died of starvation in the Philippopolis (amp and was left lying
oulside the cemetery which was about 50 vards from the barrack
occupied by the English officers.

The photograph shows very distinctly what he died of. When
dead they were given no burial service. 11 saw large groups of Serb-
ians arrive in the Camp in rags and bits of cloth tied round their feet
whilst the snow was still on the ground. The death roll in the Camp
during the typhus outbreak durmrr the winter appeared very large
from the amount of funerals Ialun.‘z place ontside our barrack.

(Signed) A. Leslie MOORE lient.,
bbth Rifles F. F. atlad R, A. F.

INe 22

REPORT ON TREATMENT OF SERBIAN PRISONERS IN BIULGARIA

When in Philippopolis prisoner’s camp | saw many Serbian pri-
coners of war and the condition they were in was deplorable. The
vast majority were in rags and were valking about in bare feet in the
snow in winter, as well as in summer. They all looked half starved
ond very many were sick and almost living skeletons. They received
a loaf of bread a day which was mostly maize and quite small, beyond
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this they received practically nothing. They were given no clothes,
their barracks wore often fearfully overcrowded, and many of them
were s0 hungry that they used to walk round the camp picking ap
refuse and eating it, especially in the winter of 1gi6i-17. Warking
parties of Serbs arriving from hill stations in winler were ofien in a
ohastly state. They were so weak they could hardly walk.

Many Serbs in this condition were flogged by the Bulgars, the
ustial punish ment being 5 strokes which in many cases was apt to
endanger their lives and in some cases must have been the canse of
their deathis. T gaw some of these floggings.

During one ol these floggings which was wilnessed by two Eng-
lich officers. the commandant lientenant Nikoloff went up to the Serb
as he was lving on the gronnd being flogged, and kicked the man’s
head. During {he summer (1918) large numbers of Serbs died in
our Camp and other parls of Philippopolis, and many were buried in
a graveyvard about roo yards from the Brilish Officers barrack. At
one time rongh wooden coffins were used but later lientenant NikolofT,
who was commandant carly in 1918, gave orders o the men burying
Serbians fo save the coffins, and they were thrown into shallow graves
without anything at all. T saw the commandant talking to them and
they afterwards said he had given them those orders. One Serbh, a
photograph of whom on a stretcher is attached, was being buried, and
[ asked the Serbs digging the grave whal he died of. They replied
<larvation and added that many of their friends had died of it and
that the expected to die loo. When I oave them some loaves of bread
the five of them scrambled for it like wolves, This photograph was
nnfortun ately the oniy one of its kind I was able to get.  No priesl
was present at their burial, and in many cases the graves were so
<hallow that the dogs partially unearthed them in the night,

After peace was declared many Serbs were concentrated at our
camp, and the barracks became so full, thal large numbers of half
ctarved ereatures were kepl outside withoul any covering all night in
(he rain, and during one night nine died, and one man died on the
steps of the commandanls house.

I also saw a Bulgar sergeant threalen a Serb, who was almost a
<keleton and could hardly stand, wilh a stick and drive him away
from a water tap when he wanted a drink.

Actually instances of hrutality T very rarely saw but the general
condition ni: the Serbs was Lerrible and one could nol help secing il,
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the one real reason being undoubtedly short rations and lack of clot-
hing. -

In spite of this the Bulgar commandant lieutenant Nikoloff fre-
quently imformed us that Philippopolis was the best prison camp in
Bulgaria.

The Serbian women prisoners in the Camp were in the same
ctate as the men, and althoug I was never able to witness the occur-
rence | was informed by Serbians that some of them were flogged in
our Camp.

(Signer) Edward S. COOPER,
Flight lientenant, K. N.

Ni'l 26
TREATMENT OF SERBIANS IN BULGARIA
November 1g18. -

From what 1 saw of lreatment of Serbians in Bulgaria 1 mustl say
that they were practically always treated in a cruel and inhuman
manner,

The men were underfed and underclothed in our camp, and |
have seen the men licking out empty tins trown away by our men.

I have also seen them eating grass snakes and frogs, as well as
nettles and dandelions.

If there was any shortage of soup or bread, it was the Serbians
who suffered.

I saw a woman come into the camp in a cart too weak to stand.
Her child was trying to get milk from her but she was unable to give
it any, and was crying.

At the small depot at Sofia, where I was put on my way up to the
camp at Philippopolis, I saw a Serbian lying on a rough string siret-
cher. This man had been hit somewhere and was paralysed in the legs
e was left for 24 hours in the sun without food, and whenever he
aroaned too loudly, a Bulgar wonld go up fo him and swear at him,
and shake him roughly. I saw several cases of death from starvation
at. Philippopolis, and the burial was most uncivilized, there being no
service or priest of any kind. There were many cases of flogging of
both women and men, although I have never been actually present at
one of these, but T have been told by soldiers of the guard in the eamp
when Lhey were taking [llll.t't'..
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I saw a Bulgarian woman and her small baby made to stand in
the barrack square all day in the sun as a punishment.

Signd ;). B AL O'DWYER, Captain,
Ist. Sherwood Foresters atid. R. A. F.
ond Nov. 1918.

IN® 24

Salonika Aircraft Park,
Salonika, 3/11/18,
Adjutant, R. A. F. Baze Depol.
Salonika.

Sir,

Re. treatment of Serbian Prisoners, I have the honour to report
as follows :

Owing to the faet that for the major portion of the time I spent
in Bulgaria I was away from the official English depot. I was conti-
nually in contact with Serbian officers and men.

1. In the depot of Philippopolis on or about the month of March
g1, I saw a Serbian soldier beaten in the most inhwman manner
possible.

The procedure was as follows :

The prisoner was laid flat on the ground, a Bulgar soldier who
«lood over him with a heavy slick struck him a violent blow on the
«mall of the back, the Camp Commandant who stood by then asked
the Serb a question. The Serb who could not or would not give an
smswer 1o the question, then had his head violently kicked by the
Commandant.

This procedure was carried on, a hlow, a question, then a violent
kick : heing powerless to interfere in any way, I finally left the pri-
womer who had already received at least 15 blows and kicks was still
heing beaten, and 1 could hear his cries even when T arveived al ny
parrack 1oo yards away.

The Commandant was named Ivan Nicoloff, and at the time of
this incident he was wearing a pair of heavy knee boots.

i e S Dentist Civil Prisoner.

This gentleman who acted in a medical capacity for the Bulgars,
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related to me the following treatment which he received at Philip-
popolis.

I was very friendly with this prisoner, and although I was in the
depol at the time I did not personally see him being flogged, but I had
the story from him, and again from several English soldiers who saw
the incident, and both stories corroborated.

For a trivial reason he was marched out by orders of the Com-
mandant the same Ivan Nicoloff and beaten until he lost conscious-
ness,

On another occasion for no reason whalever the Commandant
struck him a violent blow on the face. |

Captain BRANKOVITCIH, Serbian artillery Officer.

After my first attempl lo escape | was sent to Kirdj Ali (Thrace),
there I et Captl. Brankovitch. He was living alone in an under-
ground room, with earthen floor, no bedding of any description had
been given him. He had already been there over 12 months and had
not seen or spoken with anotlier Serbian Officer.

As food he had given him 300 grammes of bread, and lwice per
day a little thin soup. His « crime » consisted of the fact that he
insisted he was a Serb.

The Bulgars said that as he came from Pirot (Morava), he was a
Bulgar, and if he would change his name to Brankoff and say he was
a Bulgar, he would be free and receive preferential treatment, as he
insisted that he was Serb he was kept in this dreadful place.

I myself lived for g months with this Officer, and on my release
he was slill there.

As I have to write from memory 1 find it extremely difficult to
remmember isolated cases of ill treatment of Serbs because my own
memory has been affected, but I'can say in general that I have seen
Serbs struck and otherwise ill treated very many fimes.

[ have spoken to scores of Serbs both Officers and men, and have
heard the most awful stories of their treatment but as 1 did not perso-
nally seen these things, much as I belive them, I cannot write aboul
them. But this I can say that all the Serbian Prisoners were in a
Jdate of semi-starvation and had for clothing only what they stood
up in.
To my mind the most pitiful picture possible is te see a large
party of Serbian prisoners on the march from one place to another.

In every case is the man ernaciated, ragged and withoul boots,

and with a wild apprehensive look.



Now thal the Serbian Officials are in touch with their prisoners,
[ think the sight of these poor people will be a definite answer as to
how they were treated.

The bad treatment even continued after peace was declared.

One day after peace was declared a parly of Serbs perhaps oo
arrived at Philippopolis.

It was raining very heavily at the time, but in spile of this they
were left oul all day and night in the heavy rain, wilthout cover of any
sort, with the result that on the following morning 6 were dead, |
mysell saw 2 carvied away.

I spoke to several of the Serhs (in Serh) who Lold me That they
had had pothing whalever Lo eat that day.

That afterncon when ralions were given oul 1 slood by.

Several loaves Hoo granumes ones were brought forward and cual
inlo b piecies, a fifth of a loaf 10 granumes was given lo each prisoner,
o large tubs of cheese (cereney) were brought forward also, but I
did not see any issued, and after the priconers had gone [ looked in
the tubs and saw the cheese still there.

I have seen several Serbs badly beaten and know of at least lwo
cases where the man has died the same day, one of whom I saw
buried in the depol graveyard at Philippopolis.

This is about all that 1 can remember with any certainly.

I have the honour to be, Sir, your most obedient Servant,

Sgd/Sydney SMITH Lieut. R. A. F.

N° 285

November 3rd 1918,
REPORT ON TREATMENT ON SERBIAN PRISONERS OF WAR
IN BULGARIA.
From : Lieut. II. . GAYNOR, K. A. F. PHILIPPOPOLIS.
. The general treatment was altogeiher inhnan and these were
innumerable cases of flogging.
5. The accommodation was extremely bad and insufficient.
3. The food was <o totally insufficient that the Serbian prisoners
came round the English barracks and were glad to pick up and lick
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the tins which had contained food. They even rushed eagerly and
consumed the contenlts of tins of food which had been thrown away
owing to the contents having turned completely bad in transit from
England.

4. There were many cases of ill-treatment. One of the mosl
marked oceurred after the armistice had been declared. A large
body of Serbs were brought to Philippopolis Camp and were left in
the open in pouring rain for al least 36 hours, in their ragged elolhes.
Reveral died in a few yards, and in view of, our barrack. I am nol
aware of the exact nuinber of deaths, hul they said that fifteen of their
number died during the period.

The Commandant of the Camp carried a riding crop with which
to hit the Serbs when visiting their quarters.

Signed : H. F. GAYNOR, Lieul.
Royal Air Force.

N° 26
Salonika, 8-21 december 1g18.

The Serbian Consul General, Salonika.
Sir,

- 1 would like to bring to your nolice, several facts of Bulgarian
alrocities which i wittnessed miyself during a forced stay in Sofia
during two years and several months.

I arrived from America on the rgth July 1915 to help the Serb-
ian Red Cross. At the time of the Serbian evacuation I was in Priz-
rend where 1 was taken prisoner by the Bulgarians on the 24th Nov.
1915 and where 1 saw 1any horrors and atrocities perpetrated by
Germans and Bulgarians. Bulgarian soldiers have been knocking
out elosed doors, burning houses to the ground, robbing everything
ihey could lay their hands on, and where there were women, they
were subjeet to uml}e&kahlé indignities, not even children of the ten
der age of 12 or 1] years being spaved. Many were the women, that
were oulraged, many cilizens killed and and their houses turned into
stables.
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I presented myself at the Bulgarian gth Red Cross Division where
[ was put under guard of (wo soldiers and had to work like that
33 days. Every fourth day I received a quarter of a loaf of bread wit-
hout anything else to eat, which weakned me 0, thal | thought would
die soon. In order to gel out of this I asked Lady Paget, also a pri-
soner of war, lo intercede for me at the American Legation in Sofia.
I was sent there arriving on the 1st of Jannary rg16. At the Railway
Station I found some Red Cross Ladies and Sisters whom I asked to
direct me to the American Legalion, but they treated me rather stran-
gely, asking my guards who I was and where T came from. — when
told that I came originally trom the Serbian Red Cross, they ordered
the men to take me to Head Quarters, where T was pul into a dark
and cold room. The following day their Commander Teneff asked
me what I had come to Serbia for. 1 answered him to help the Serb-
ian Red Cross and asked him (o lake me to the American Legation, at
which he replied that he did not know and did not recognise any
American Legation, that on the contrary, he would like to send me as
a prisoner to Asia. So | remained under great sufferings for seven
days in prison and at last they sent me to the prisoners camp. There
an oceasion presented itself to communicate with the American Lega-
tion, and with difficully | was taken out of the camp, sick and utterly
exhausted to such au extent that T was scarcely able to speak and tell
what I had gone through. Eventually [ was sent to M, Guéchoff the
President of the Bulgarian Red Cross, and there T have been working
for over two years.

During the short time of my life | have visited many counlries
and seen many things, but never anvihing as terrible as the Bulgarian
Nation. While working under M. Guéchoff at the 3rd Military Red
Cross Hospipal for ver two ears, I wiltnessed many brutalities and
cruelties perpetrated by the Bulgarians on Lhe poor downtrodden Serb-
ian Nation, for instance on the rSth May 1g16 I went by order of
D* Sofronieff, Director of the Hospital, with two sisters to the Railway
Station to wait for wounded — a closed carriage arrived with aboul
200 Serbians soldiers and civilians, but only three of them alive —
all the remainder Lilled with terrible bayonel wound from which even
the three live ones had several to show. 1 approached one of thew
with a terrible gash on the right side of the chest, and asked him in
# whisper, who had been killing all these poor people in the waggon
-— the poor follow hearing me speak Serbian, answered me, but with
difficulty and scarcely audibly thal the Bulgarians have taken all able
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bodied men and sent them to Nish, on arrival there they had been
lecked up in a waggon by order of the Commandant, and after leaving
Nish for Sofia had simply been bayonnetted to death on the road.
Asking him where they all came from, he answered, some from
Vrania, Leskowac, Pirot, Kurshumlje, Prokupije and all other places
that were under Bulgarian occupation. The poor fellow was scarcely
able to continue, speaking still he told me yet : « Sister, I am going
ta die here: [ feel I cannot live any longer. [ am a native of Vrania,
my name is lovan Radesavlewitch, I pray vou, Sister, to tell the whole
world and espeeially the Serbians, that we all have been killed right
out here simply because we are Serbians. » These were his last
words, I changed his dressings, but on being put into the Sanitary
Cart he died. There remained two more, wounded also but slightly
less — these the Bulgarians took to the Hospital for treatment. At
once Bulgarian officers and soldiers protested that Serbian soldiers
should not be together with them, as a matter of fact no Serbian ought
to have any Medical aid at all. So the two poor fellows were taken
the fourth day to the prisoner camp without having had their atro-
cious wound healed. What has become of them I don’t know, nei-
ther could I find oul, where those dead in the waggons were put.
That transport with these dead bodies had been escorted by 30 Bulgar-
ian soldiers who aldso did the killing.

Through all these horrors T remained at Sofia where I saw more
and similar atrocities. On the 17th April 1917 I happened to see a
train arriving with about a 1000 civilians, — men, woomen and chil-
dren. All those poor people were taken by lhe Bulgarians to a big
solitary house about 1o kilom. from Sofia Station in the open field,
where the all were massacred. That house always served for the
same purpose. A second train which arrived the same day with
interned civilians, women, children, and soldiers was sent further
on to Asia where the prisoners were distributed in different towns.
On the 28th April 1917 I was Orderly Sister on duty at the Station
aboul 1o a. m. when two trains arrived with Serbian children of
from 3 [o 15 years of age among them a few women. The first train
load of about 60o boys was taken by the Bulgarians to the ahove
mentioned solitary house and there coolly massacred ; the second train
was sent further on, but I do not know what has become of those
poor children.

On the 15th July rg17 there arrived at the 3rd Military Hospital
in Sofia where I was doing duty a Serbian churchman — a Bishop.
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As soon as the Bulgarian officers and soldiers found ont that it was
a Serbian Bishop, they threw hLim immediately out of a second story
window. He was still alive after his fall but unable fo speak, could
not therefore tell me his name and where came from. From there
he was carried to the 4ih Military Hospital where the poor man
died after 3 days. The Bulgarians searched him and finding 30.000
dinars on him simply took them away for their own use.

Yours faith fully,
Elisabeth SHOOSTER.

IN° 27

REPORT ON BULGARIAN ATROCITIES IN THE REGION
OF PROKURPLIE

We the undersigned, Pierre Dufaux and Jean Martin certify
that we proceeded to Prokuplie on January 6th rg19. We were
brought into the presence of 17 men, woman and young people of
the neighbouring villages, most of them from Dobrotilche, whose
declarations were translated by M. Yanitsch, professor of Theology.

From the concording declarations of these 17 persons, it appears
that during the first parl of the Bulgarian occupation, the Serbian
population was subjected to all manner of vexations on the part of
the Bulgarians. As soon as the revolt broke out it was repressed
with horrible cruelty, without distinetion of age or sex ; women and
children were tortured when they were unable to state where the men
persued by the Bulgarians were hiding.

An old woman told us that she had three sons, of whom two were
killed, the third, aged 13, had his heat cut.

The Mayor of Dobrotitche stated that the Bulgarians ordered the
Serbians of the village to unite fo fight their own countrymen, and
demanded, from his village, a contribution of 10000 frs. One of
the men present stated that the Bulgarians had stolen 4600 frs from
him. Two children were beaten because they could not say where
Serbian soldiers were hiding. The eruelties were done in this village
by officers and men of the 25th Bulgarian regiment.

Mme Vassila Micatchevitch of Dobrotitche saw her child carried
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off by the Bulgarians. This child, aged 12, was massacred, and the
Bulgarian soldiers returned lo tell the mother that, before killing him,
they had torn oul his eves and teeth.

Another woman found massacred the body of her child of 15,
who had been carried off by the Bulgarians.

Mme Julka Angelina Ivesitch, whose mother was burnt alive, was
herself horribly ill-treated. A Bulgarian soldier sat on her chest
whilst another having heated a shovel in the fire, burnt all the lower
part of her slomach and her thighs to the knee. Seized by the nose,
she was also thrown violently against the wall and lost consciousness.
All her possessions were taken by the Bulgarians.

Mme Perunica Yiditch, of the same place, made a similar decla-
ration as regards the burns and the barbarous method employed by
the soldiers. She added that the pretext given was Lhe taking part
by her husband (who has been killed) in the revolt. In order to
obtain from her information, the Bulgarians said her three times
that she was going to die, and fired blank shots at her. They then
laid her in a grave and filled in the earth. Since ravens are black,
she said, the world has never seen such barbarity. As names of
Bulgarian officers, she remembers the christian name of one, Ivan,
and the family name of another, Iiskof.

After these declarations, we saw with our eyes, on the bodies
of several men present, remains of wounds from several bayonet
thrusts. Also on the bodies of these two latter women, the very deep
marks of burns which have completely deformed the lower parts of
their bodies : stomach, lower stomach and interior side of thighs.

These marks coincide exactly with the declarations previously
inade by the victims,

in faith of which we have signed : |
Uskub, january 13th, 1grg.
Pierre M. R. Duraux,
Representative of the « Suisse » (Geneva, Switzerland).
Jean MARTIN,
Representative of the « Journal de Genéve » (Geneva, Switzerland).
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IN° 28

PROTOCOL OF POLICE INQUIRY DRAWN UP ON JANUARY
7TH 1919 IN THE VILLAGE OF LIOUBOTIN

Respecling the assassination of Serbian soldiers prisoners of war,
commitled in the village of Lioubotin, sub-prefecture of Istip,
prefecture of Bregalnitza, about October soth 1915

The inquiry was held on the site of the crime, in the presence
of the undersigned citizens, inquisitors and witnesses named : Sova,
widow of the late Mita Pavlovitch, Pana Mitkovitch, Mitar George-
vitch, Pana Ristitch, Yovan Ristitch and Yovan Nicolitch, all of the
village of Lioubotin.

Was present, during the investigation and the exhumation of
the bodies, the substitute of the doctor legist, the medical major of
Reserve, D* Voislave Kouioundjitch, who examined the corpses and
skeletons and pronounced his expert opinion upon them,

The undersigned functionaries and inquisitors have, on site,
remarked and verified the following :

The place where was committed the assassination of the Serb-
ian soldiers, prisoners of war, taken from the Istip Military Hospital
about October 20th 1g15, is situated in the suburbs of the village of
Lioubotin, on the site named « Stoudena voda ». It is situated at 7 to
800 meters in a straight line from the village, and above the village
road, which leaves the village at the north-west, in the direction of
Istip. This road on leaving the village, crosses a valley of which the
south side is the steeper and narrower, falling towards the Lacavitza
river and forming the stream which passes to the west of the village.
The valley below the road is wooded, and the upper portion at the
north side is oval and flatten, and cut up into fields with few trees
and brushwood, which are used as landmarks. Following this stream
further to te north of the road, this valley becomes longer and more
and more narrow, taking the form of small valleys and creating a
ravine which was formed by tropical rains.

Near the summit of the ravine, from where it commences, about
150 melers from the village road, is the place where were killed the
Serbian soldiers whose bodies were buried.

At the first glance, the ravine which hides the erime is almost
unnoliceable, as it was level with the field belonging to Kiazim
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Domazette Mihemed, of Istip, and which lies around this plant-covered
hill.  The upper part of the hill is marked on the general superficies
of the ground by a hollow 2 to 3 meters long in the ground and a hole
made by water 3/4 meter deep. On the lower side of the hill, judging
from the ground falling towards the south, one sees immediately five
posts deeply embedded in the ground, to protect the hill from the
water which rushes down the ravine with great force in the wet sca-
son. The hill is 25 melers long, and 2 to 4 meters wide in parts. In
ihe hole near the posts, we found a broken bone from a man's hand,
several ribs and many remnants of uniform cloth of grey colour, half
rotten, as worn by the Serbian soldiers in 1915. Near the hill, we
found the lower jaw of a man, with the teeth in good condition, as
well as several bones from hands and legs, all white and clean, washed
by the rain. A hundred meters further off, we found a pelvis bone.

The witnesses present showed the hill where were the mortal
remains of the Serbian soldiers assassinaled, and where they were
buried by the witnesses present, by order of the executor of the crime.
The witnesses declared that the soldiers were massacred and buried at
the right hand side and north of the hill, that they were not obliged
to dig a trench specially for them having a more or less deep ravine.
The corpses were thrown in anyhow, somelimes two or three rows
being superposed.  After having thrown in the bodies, the ravine was
tevelled. Later, the rains washed away the earth which covered
them, and the dogs of the village, when tearing the flesh from the
bones, have spread the bones in various places. The peasants, filled
with pity, have on two occasions covered the corpses with earth and
postz.

We commenced to remove the earth at the lower side of the hill
from 0,50 to 0,76 deep. We immediately came across skeletons
with skulls and remains of their military uniforms. We photogra-
phied in the first place the position of the first skeletons, then the
corpse of a man in a fair state of preservation, but nevertheless de-
composed.

This having been done, we took out the skeletons and the
remains buried with them. In the first rows, the bodies and skel-
etons were separated, dismembered and mixed with the earth, without
flesh. We found broken bones which showed signs of violence.
In the lower rows, we found skeletons more regularly arranged and
in groups. Right at the bottom of the pit, we found bodies which
had retained the shape of human beings. We exhumed a body with



the hands in front of the face, in military uniform, puitees round the
legs and white woollen socks, with hair on the head and a black beard
not shaved. The thorax of this body was broken at the left hand
side, ahove the right breast. The bones were covered with blood.

In the same place, we found four skulls with military caps, as
worn by Serbian soldiers.

After complele exhumation, we found 87 (eight seven) corpses
and human skeletons, of which we could not establish the identity.

Amongst these bodies and skeletons, we found -

1° Four corpses which have retained the form of human bhodies,
with all their membres attached. The flesh was transformed into
a white and dense mass. They were dressed in uniform. We could
not eslablish their identity.

2° Bight mens' trunks in the same state, without head, arms or
legs.
3° Eighty three skulls separated from the skeletons, of which
25 had relained their hair.

All these skeletons, except those in 1 and 2, were dismembered.

The numbrer of skeletons found were counted from the number
of skulls found. From the numer of skulls found in the pit we esti-
maled that there were in all eighty corpses of assassinated Serbian
soldiers. ~ We can with certitude asserl that there were many more
corpses in the pit than those we were able to count, when we take into
consideration the bones found outside the pit and that, from the peas-
ants’ statements, many were dispersed by the dogs of the village.

Amongst the skulls exhumed, three were found in the upper part,
and at the bottom of the pit, under the remainder of the body, and
from this we can state with conviction that they were buried under
their bodies, which proves that they were cut and thrown into the
common grave.

We also found in the common grave :

a) Large quantities of Serbian military uniforms in a decayed
state, but which have retained the colour and the form of the material
of which the uniform was made, as well as the facings.  Several
amongst these are of grey colour, like the Serbian uniform, and there
were also some of blue colour, as worn by the Serbian gendarmerie
in 1915. We also found, as the Serbian soldiers wore, as well as

- part of the national costume such as woollen belts, the samaos which

the Serbian soldiers wore under their uniform coloured woollen
socks, doublets etc. We also found three boots known as « tzokules ».



b) We found 13 one-franc pieces — Serbian dinars — with the
effigy of King Peter the First, coined in 1915, and two nickel 50 cen-
linie pieces, with the Serbian crown.

c) We found 8 military mess-tins in white metal and an alumi-
ninm plate, as used in Serbian military hospitals.

@) We found numerous small military effects such as metal but-
tons, pencils, small mirrors, an oxydised bronze medal of which the
design is worn out.

e We found four caps of Serbian military uniforms, of which
one was covered with blood al the part near the neck.

/) A white-metal ring and a rubber bracelet. 1t is said that these
two objects were thrown in by a countrywoman who was present at
the massacre of the soldiers, and who, in order not to be haunted by
these atrocities, threw them from her hand inlo the pit.

g) We fonnd in the pit three round stones of three to four kilos
weight.  As there is no stone near the pit, we remarked that they had
been brought there.

The pit wars completely dug over. It was 25 meters long, 2, 3,
or 4 meters wide, and rmbo to 2 meters deep.

The skeletons were again placed in a fresh tomb and afler the
religious service, it was marked with a cross and surrounded by a
hedge.

The effects found and detailed under b, ¢, d and f were taken
to the inquirer’s office. The doetor legist gave competent opinions.
Y

From the witnesses’ statements and the confession of the execu-
tors of the crime, we have come to the following conclusion :

The Serbian soldiers who were taken from the military hospital
al Istip about October »oth 1915, were brought to the village of Liou-
botin Town Iall, in an old house belonging to the witness Jovan Ris-
road from [stip to Radoviste, two hours’ march from Istip. The sold-
iers were brought to Lioubolin by night and imprisoned in the Liou-
botin Town Hall, in an old house belonging (o the witness Jovan Ris-
litch, and in another where the gendarmes were quartered. All these
buildings are elose together and the superficies of same is g95.50 sq.
meters and able to conlain 100 to 150 soldiers with their guards.

According to the declaration of the wilness Pana Ristitch, in the
Liouse in which he lives, were lodged two Serbian gendarmes under
the supervision of the executor of the erime, who were also killed,
amongst the last, at the place of execulion.
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From the houses, the Serbian soldiers were taken bound to the
Place of execution, across the fiolds and by a path which runs parallel
to the road (referred to in II) to the pit.

The soldiers were killed in the field at the right hand side of the
pit, and their corpses thrown into the ravine and around. The exe-
cution commenced in the night and the burial towards dawn and
was completed very late in the day.

As the place of execution is not far from the village, we consider
that in the village the cracking of the rifles could be heard. Further,

.the executors of this crime, who accompanied the soldiers, also kil-

led three Serbian soldiers who could not walk, being very ill. The
corpses of these three soldiers were not buried until a long time after-
wards. One of the corpses was never buried. It lay at the spot
named « Bressie » three quarters of an hour from Istip and decom-
posed there. The skeleton has not been found. The two other corp-
ses were seen for a long time at the side of the road, near « Seimeno
Grobiste ». One was very superficially buried at the side of the road,
at the spot known as « Grabie ». Searches in the hill which was
shown as being the tomb of this corpse, resulted in neither skeleton
or remains being found. We are of opinion that the dogs took this
corpse from the earth and carried the bones far into the neighbou-
rhood. _

According to the declaration of the witness Pane Michkovitch,
the executors of the crime took from one of [he gendarmes the money
he was carrying, his savings, and it is probable that they did the same
with the other victims. Further, they also took some clothing, which

_ they wore,

The identity of the murdered soldiers, also the number of sold-
lers taken from the hospital and sent to Lioubotin {o the place of
execulion have not yet been fixed, but there is in existence {he origi-
nal registers of the Istip military hospital for this period, from which
we shall endeavour to establish the identity of the murdered sold-
iers. According to these registers, there remained in the Istip military
hospital, after October 14th 1910, one hundred and eighteen Serbian
soldiers ill, who were laken from the hospital under pretext that they
were to be sent inlo Bulgaria to be interned, and were sent by Rado-
vichte to the place of execution at Lioubotin. The massacre at Liou-
botin therefore falls after October 14th 1915, as in these original regis-
lers it can be seen that the soldiers came to the hospital on October
13th 1915, and that the Serbian soldier named Pavle (Paul) Yoniado-
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vitel born at Oudrechna Nevessigne district, in Bosnia, died on Octo-
ber 14th 1915.

The date of the exccution is undoubtedly between October 14th
and »6th 1915, during the period when the war hecame stabilised and
when the Bulgarian civil and military authorities were introduced.

N° 29

REPORT OF THE PREFECTURE OF BREGALNITZA

N* 457, January 13th, 1919, re. an Inquiry made at the Istip
Cemetery. on the graves of the Serbian soldiers killed by the Bulgar-
tans during the retreat of the Serbian A rry in 1915,

We yisited to-day the Serhian Military Cemelery at Istip, situa-
led beyond the barracks and, from information received from Hous-
seine Yachar and other men who buried the Serbian soldiers killed
and massacred by the Bulgarians in 1915, we remarked :

L. — On the Hill where the old Tukish Powder Factory stood.

Al 100 melers to the north of the old Turkish Powder Factory,
near a redoubt, are buried the bodies of six Serbian soldiers, of which
four are laid side hy side and the others upon these four. Three of
the bodies had fractured skulls. They were hardly covered by 10 cen-
Limeters of earth.

Il. — In the square below the civil and military cemetery near
the brook. -

90 to Go meters lower down this brook, near the hill to the left,
we found 26 naked bodies. One hody only was covered with the
remains of a cloak or waterproof such as Serbian officers wore. Near
this body, we found a note-book, ten pencils, lwo razors, one hair-
clipper and a purse containing 4o dinars. Further along, we found
lwo snuff-boxes in white metal, of which the lids bore the photo-
graphs of the Prince Regent of Serbia, two mess tins and a water bot-
tle. On the leg of one body was a laced boot. Two heards were sep-
arated from their bodies by 1mbo and 2 meters distance. Several
skulls were smashed and we found broken bones on several bodies.
One body had a broken tibia. )

All these bodies were covered with 1o to 15 centimeters of eartl.
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III. — On the right bank of the stream, near the fountain.

At o5 melers to the right of the brook, we found seven bodies
near the cemetery All were naked and piled upon one another
hecause the grave was very small.  Amongst these bodies two were
found with their legs bent. Near one body we found two metal but-
tons similar to those worn by Serbian gendarms on their old uni-
forms, Four skulls were fractured.

IV

Twenty meters beyond grave described in II, in a straight line,
on the right bank of the stream, we exhumed twelve bodies, of which
five had fractured skulls. We found here many remains of great-
coats, tunies and waistcoats belonging to Serbian soldiers. Near one
body, we found a tunic such as Serbian gendarmes used Lo wear, old
uniform with steel buttons. .

From Housseine, the tzigan’s, evidence, who buried the hodies
those bodies found here and in those of par. 111, were killed in the
streani, over the grave, and their heads were fractured by rifle-butts
because they were Serbian soldiers.

V. — On the same side of the stream, but lower down,.

100 meters beyond grave 11, the ex-commandant of the Bregal-
nitza division exhumed seven bodies and immedialely reburied them
in the same place. However, on Housscine's indications, we found a
meter further on, another grave from which we took five further
bodies of Serbian soldiers. On the five skulls, three were fractured.
According to the evidence of the said Housseine Yachar, there were
buried in this grave five Serbian soldiers who were all bound, and he
removed the ropes when he buried them. All these soldiers were kil-
led by Bulgarian irregulars,

N° 30

Statement made by Sova, widow of Mite Pavlovitch, of Lioubotin,
aged 3.

I live Lioubotin, with my children, on my husband’s estate.
During Bulgarian occupation, T remained in the village and can give
the following information on the slanghter,

Serbian soldiers, captured in the sy rrondings of Islip, Radovichte,
St Nikola and on Ovichie-Polie, were brought to Istip sick, tired out
and hungry. Three weeks after the Bulgarian invasion, the new
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authorities were already organized and some day, at g p. m., 150
Serbian soldiers were taken from Istip to Lioubotin and shut up in
the Town Hall and also in Yovan Ristitch’s and Pava Ristitch’s houses.
in Lioubotin also. The escort was formed of 8 Bulgarians, 4 soldiers
and 4 Comitadjis, all of them in Bulgarian uniform. The names of
the Comitadjis are : Ilia Ristey of Cholour, Rista Kotsef of Lioubotin,
George Ristev of Doliane and Ilia N... of Versakov. A little later in
the night another comitadji, named Nika Ivanov, of Bolvan, arrived.
The escort was in command of George Ristov, who during the Bulgar-
ian occupation acted as policeman. And Risla Kotsev used to enter
the houses gathering strings and boasting of having found the real
way « lo exterminate all the Serbian race ».

Said Serbian soldiers were tied up, taken out of the village and
every one of them was stabbed. The slaughter lasted all night :
poniards, bayonets, knives were used. The blades struck anywhere,
in the head, the breast, the stomach. Brought fo the ground by the
first blows from some of the executioners, the victims were ended by
the others. The « tender-hearted » men were used as seniries. One
of the executioners distinguished himself : Rista Kotsev, 45 years of
age. The vietims actually asked him to be quick about his job, such
a torture was it to them to see Lhe comrades being killed in this
bloody way, and so slowly, since the executioners took a rest from
time to time, smoking and making fun. The inhabitants of the vil-
lage were compelled to undress and unshoe the dead coldiers, and
to dig the graves : at the same lime the executioners wenl on their
perverse work.

The bodies were sunk into a big hole, about a mile N. W. of
Lioubotin. But the dehth was not sufficient, and the dogs got out
man limbs and bones. A heavy smell of decayed flesh invaded the
neighbourhood for a long time. 1 know all this because my fields
are not far from the spot.

I do not know if, among le slaughtered soldiers, some of them
came from the Istip hospital. But 1 know that about that time,
other Serbian soldiers were killed in Istip too. 1 do not know the
names of the Bulgarian officers or authorities who ordered the slaugh-
ter, but I can state that, at the time, Bulgarian authorities were already
appointed and in office. The killing took place three weeks after
ihe enemy took possession of the town.

Above staterment was officially made before the Sub-Prefect of
lstip on December Sth 1g18. :
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N 31

Deposition (Extract) by M. Hartoun Gazarian, M. D., born in
Aleppo, Syria, physician in charge of the Bregalnitsa Department
Permanent Hospital. The Doctor is an Armenian and remained in
Istip after the Serbian troops had left the place, waiting for the
Bulgarian authorities.

..... At that time about two hundred Serbian soldiers, sick or
wounded, arrived at my hospital. T tended them immediately.

A< soon as the Bulgarian authorilies arrived, | was ordered to
remain in the hospital until the arrival of the Bulgarian physicians.

On their arrival, under the direction of Dr. Alkalai, the hospital
Was given over to them, and wounded Bulgarian soldiers came from
Krivolak. One day, arriving in the morning al the hospital — it
was about the 13th of Octobar . [ did not find a single Serb in i,
lasked where they had been sent to, and was told that they had been
renmoved to Strumitza and from there they would probably go to
Bulgaria. But the population was whispering that they had been
nurdered on the way.

All the time T remained in Istip, Bulgarian authorities hehaved
very severely and imhumanly with {he population, especially with the
Serbs, Kutso-Vallachians ang Hebrews, everything being comman-
deered away from them without payment nor voucher or receipt.

The said Authorities were particularly ferocious with the peasants
and other rural elements, suspected of sympathy for the Serhs, A
good many murders took place, influential people such as the
Inayors, etc... being the vietims in most cases.

I have been several times requested by the Bulgarian Authoritjes
lo make a post-mortem examination of people who were officially sup-
posed to be naturally dead — among these were peasants, mayors,
and well known people. In every case | found that they had been
murdered but, of course, official statements could not be made.

By way of example, I will mention here the case of both the pre-
sident of Radowichte Parish and his brother. In January 1916, |
was requested to hold a post-mortem examination in the case. A
military judge was present. The corpses were sa putrid that an iden-
lification was impossible. The heads, and also some of the limbs
were missing. _

The parents of the victims stated thet they had been assasinated




by a Bulgarian Comitadji of Radowichte, the name of whom I do not
remember. i

The Bulgarian Judge said in my presence that he thought it
barbarous Lo commil such excesses ; in spite of it, he never did anyth-
ing against the criminals.

In Leopoltsi, Sokolari parish, Kotchani district, I held another
post-mortem examinalion in the case of the brother of the Parish
President who had been interned in Bulgaria and assasinated. I have
been told that the Grdovisi Parish President had been murdered too.

A good many such murders took place — bul they always were
concealed to me, because being a born Armenian, | was supposed to
be friendly to the Entente and to Russia.

On the whole, the impression I have from the time I stayed under
Rulgarian direction is most painful. Everyone who willy nilly did
not consent to call himself a Bulgarian was a mark for all kinds of
persecutions or worse, and lived under a perpetual menace of being
sent to camp.

The above deposition was written at SERBIA’S HOME OFFICE,
SALONICA, on October 24th, 1g18.

N° 32

Report of the Mayor of the Parish of Chichava, dated november
ond 1918, on the murder of 33 Serbs

On March 1st 1917, a detachment of Bulgarian soldiers and
police arrived at the villages of .Chichava and Lomnilza, and sur-
rounded these localities, ordering the men — having fixed bayonets
— to proceed immediately to the place named « Batchevilchte ».
After having assembled all the men of these two villages, they gave
orders {o the women and children to leave these villages with their fur-
niture, and proceed immediately to the town of Vlassolintze.

This was done, and the women and children, in carts requisi-
tioned in the villages and at Vlassotintze, left for Vlassotintze, accom-
panied by Bulgarian soldiers. Major Avramof, with the remainder
of the soldiers and the Police Commissioner Beltcho Barnekof, pro-
ceeded to « Batchevichte ». They immediately began to divide the
sssembled men into bwo parties. On one side they placed males aged



under 14 and over 6o, and on the other those between 14 and fio,
ordering the first party to rejoin the wonien leaving for Vlassotintze,
and the second to remain and await further orders. They were inf-
ormed that they would be interned in Bulgaria,

The first party was hardly a few hundred mieers away when
Major Avramof rejoined them and ordered the men 1o hand over all
the money they had on them menacing to kill any who hid the
amount they possessed. He thus {ook from, !

! Stanko Ilitch of Chichava, 200 dinars.
Theodor Stamenkovitch, of Chichava, 240 dinars.
Pelar Stoianevitch, of Chichava, 980 dinars.
Georgie Milenkovitch, of Chichava, 60 dinars.
_ Filipe Stoilkovitch. of Chichava, 808 dinars.
| Mita Stoilkovitch, of Chichava, 172 dinars,

| Simon Miljkovitch, of Ghichava, 100 dinars.

Petar Yovitch, of Chichava, 4o dinars.

Crista Yovitch, of Chichava, g5 dinars,

Procope Michiteh, .of Lomnilza, roo dinars.

Gortcha Michitel, of Lomnilza, » dinars.

Yovon Stoikovilch, of Lomnitza, 5o dinars.

After having taken all this money, Major Avramof retraced his
steps and returned to the group awaiting at Batchevichte. In [he
same manner, he ordered these to hand over all sums they had on
them: and hide nothing under menace of death. In this way, he
extorted from :

Georges Stoianovitch, of Chichava, 100 dinars.
Petar Stanoievilch, of Chichava, 250 dinars,
Miloutine Stankovitch, of Chichava, 200 dinars,
Petar Stoikoviteh, of Chichava, 1500 dinars,
Stoiadin Stanoievitch, of Chichava, 4o dinars,
Tassa Stoilkovitch, of Chichava, 100 dinars.
Alexandre Dimitrieviteh, of Chichava, 23 dinars.
Michailo Stoianovitch, of Chichava, 30 dinars.
Crista Stoianovitch, of Chichava, 100 dinars.
Arsa Stoianovilch, of Chichava, 16 dinars.

Mirko Stamencovitch, of Chichava, 350 dinars.
Dragoutine Stoilkovilch, of Chichava, 20 dinars.
Dobrivoie Stoilkovitch, of Chichava, 10 dinars.
Thomas Mitrovitch, of Chichava, 150 dinars.
Ouroche Stoilkovitch, of Chichava, 10 dinars.
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Traiko Stoianoviteh, and his son Milorade, of Chichava, roo

dinars.

Stoiane Krstitel, of Chichava, 100 dinars.
Bojidar Stanoievitch, of Chichava, 20 dinars.
Vassilie Milenkoviteh, and his son Ouroche, of Lomnilza, 120

dinars.

Dragouline Mladenovitch, of Lomnitza, 1.000 dinars.

Svetozar Stoilkoviteh, of Lomnilza, 3fo dinars.

Michailo Yankovitch, of Lomnitza, 300 dinars.

George Michileh, of Lomnilza, 624 dinars.

Gavril Stoilkoviteh, of Lommnitza, roo dinars.

Dragoutine P. Stanovilch, of Lomnitza, 1.boo dinars.

Yovan Svetkoviteh, of Lommnilza, 700 dinars.

Petar Stankovileh, of Lomnitza, 700 dinars.

Dimitrie Zdravkovileh, of Lomnitza, 723 dinars.

Michailo Stamenkovitch, de Lomnitza, 813 dinars.

The pillage finished, they gave the order to go forward. They
went in front and the men followed them along the Vlassotintze
voad, After having advanced a few hundred paces, they ordered
the men to leave the road and then led them a further few hun-
dred meters, along the side of a stream.  When away from the road,
they ordered the peasants to take off their belts, and the straps which
did duty as belts, and bound them with same. When all were

hound,
At

they fired on the peasants and killed them all.
this place were killed.

_ Petar Stanoievilch, of Chichava, aged 16.
 Alexander Dimitrievitch, of Chichava, aged 16.
_ Marco Stamencovitch, of Chichava, aged 15.

. Dobrivoye Stoykovitch, of Chichava, aged 16.
. Ouroche Stoylkoviteh, of Chichava, aged 16.
. Bojidar Stanoievitch, of Chichava, aged 14.

. George Stoiadinovileh, of Chichava, aged b4.

. and his son Bojidare, of Chichava, aged 18.

. Traiko Stoianovitch, of Chichava, aged b6.

~ and his son Milorade, of Chichava, aged 17.

_ Vassilie Milenkoviteh, of Chichava, aged b6.
and his son Ouroche, of Chichava, aged 16.

. George Stoianovitch, of Chichava, aged 56.

Miloutine Stankovitch, of Chichava, aged 21.

_ Petar Stoikovitch, of Chichava, aged 45.
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16. Stoiadine Stanoievitch, of Chichava, aged 2b.

17. Tassa Stoilkovitch, of Chichava, aged {5.

18. Michailo Stoianovitch, of Chichava, aged 5-.

19. Crista Stoianovilch, of Chichava, aged H4.

20, Arsa Stoianovitch, of Chichava, aged Ha.

a1, Dragoutine Stoilkovitch, of Chichava, aged 35.

22. Toma Mitrovileh, of Chichava, aged fo.

23. Stoian Crstitch, of Chichava, aged 48,

24. Dragoutine Mladenovitch, of Lomnitza, aged 35.

25. Svetozar Sloilkoviich, of Lommnilza, aged 16,

26. Michailo Yankovilch, of Lomnitza, aged 56,

27. George Michitch, of Lommitza, aged 53.

28. Gavrilo Stoilkovitch, of Lomnitza, aged /8.

29. Michail Stamenkovitch, of Lomnitza, aged "HR,

32. Yovan Zsvetkovilch, of Lomnitza, aged 58.

31. Pelar Stankovitch, of Lomnitza, aged 5.

32. Yovan Svetkoviteh, of Lomnitza, aged 58.

33. Dimitrie Zdravkoviteh, of Lornitza, aged 5H6. _

After having killed and pillaged the peasants of these two vil-
lages the Bulgarians sel fire to the villages and burnt two hundred
and thirly-two houses and other huildings at Chichava and Lom-
nitza. s

On leaving, the Bulgarvian soldiers carried off one hundred and
eighty oxen and Kine and a large numiber of ewes, sheep, goals and
pigs. The houses which were saved from the fire were completely
pillaged by the soldiers. Everything was carried off, even the doors
and windows.

The men guilty of this massacre, pillage and burning, are the
following :

Major Avramof, native of Vidine ; Sub-Prefect Stefan Ivanof
Baitochef, native of Letchevtze village, sub-prefeclure of Tchous-
tendil ; Police Commissioner Nicolas Baikonchef of Trn ; Mayor of
Parish of Chichava and his Secretary Theodore Stoitchef of Kostro-
chovtze (sub-prefecture of Trn) and a cerlain Miltcha, in the pay of
the Vlassotintze secret police.




e

N° 33

ASSASINATION OF SERBIAN PRIESTS by BULGARIANS

List of the Members of the Clergy assassinated by Bulgarians
1. — Killed on the Bulgarians’ arrival
1. USKUB Department

1. — Viichentic, Metropolite of Uskub Department, Uskub Dis-
lrict,

5. — Tsvetko Nechitch, Uskub Districtl.

Both were found by the Bulgarians in Prizrend and taken to
Ferizovitch for a few days. Later on, they were convey ed further, to
the spot where they were killed, the corpses burnt. Acecording 1o
some, this spot is on Kachanik road, according to others, on Gnilane
voad. But several people say, instead, that it was the Turkish
Cemetery in Ferizovitch. One thing is certaint they were killed al
the request of Neofite, the Uskub Bulgarian Bishop.

3.— Yovan Tassitch, member of the Eeclesiastical Tribunal, Uskub
District.

In November 1915, one night, he was taken from home. It is
<aid that he was killed near the railway bridge and his body thrown
into the Vardar river. :

4. — Archimandrite Guerman, Uskub District Uskub Depart-
ment.

5 . Abbot Melentie, Uskub District. Uskub Department.

6. — Atanassie Petrovitch, member of the Prizrend Ecclesiastic
Tribunal, Prizrend District.

7. — Necha Atsitch, Uskub District, Uskub Department.

8. — Petar Spassitch, Uskub District, Uskub Department.

9. — Traiko Kovatchevich, Uskub District, Uskub Department.
ment.

ro. — Tsveliko Popovitch Uskub District, Uskub Department.

r1. — Panko Yovanovitch, Uskub District, Uskub Department.

5. — Andjelko Nechitch, Uskub District, Uskub Department.

13. — Petar Dimitrieviich, Usknb District, Uskub Department.

14. — Rista Yovtchevitch, Uskub District, Uskub Department.

15. — Abbot Ibrissant, Uskub Distriet, Uskub Department.

16. — Monk Sava Roitch, Uskub District, Uskub Department.
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All were arrested in Uskub, escorted towards Bulgaria, but killed
on the way. The principal detachment wan seen passing Kumanovo.
From Lhere nobody knows where the people were led lo. They were
arrested and sent away when Neofite, the Bulgarian Bishop, arrived
in Uskub, and al the latter's request.

17. — lgnale Georgeviteh, Velesse District, Uskub Department.

Having nndressed him naked and forn his beard, Bulgarian sold-
iers killed him in his yeard on October 3oth. 1915.

18, — Serafime Markovitch, Velesse Dictrict, Uskub Depart-
menl. :

In November 1915, stabbed by the Bulgarian Comitadji Uskub
first tore his beard, pul out his eyes. Nearly dead, they hung him in
gallows where he died suffering horribly and shouting : Long life to
the Serbian Nation | Afterwards, they took him from the gallows and
feft his body for the dogs to feed on.

o, — Bregalnitsa Department
1. — Yevlimie Tehavdaroviteh, Ovicha-Polis Dislricl, Bregaln-
itsa Department.

Had been curate of Gorgna Douchnitsa Parish, District and
Department of Nich and afterwards, of another Parish. He was killed
by Bulgarians on his way lo the internment camp.

3. — Monastir Department

6. — Traiko Mirtcheviteh, Prilep Distriel, Monastir Deparl-
ment.
Had his throat eut in Nikola Yovanovitch's pastnrc:r—grmlml. at a

spolt called « Samokovo », where peasants, men and women, were

Lilled also.

a1. — Kosta Yankoviteh, Krouchevo District, Monastir Deparl-
pient. E

fiad his throat cul by comitadjis. Same fate had his danghterin-

law and grandson John. Buried near the closet in the ym‘d of his

honse,
: Tassa Stankoyitel, Garate of Kitchel, Kitchevo Districl,

Monastir Department. Killed in l_1i.- village on December 12th, 191b.
93, — Dimitrie Velkoviteh, Curate in the neighbourhood of
Stabbed with bayonets, and kitled.

i3 ——

WMonastiv,
h. — Ochrida Department

2. — Sretchko Djouritch, enrate.
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Killed by soldiers at the Bulgarians arrival.
5. — Tetovo Department

25. — Despole Protitch, curate.

Interned in Bulgaria where he was killed.
26. — Rista Popovitch, curale.

Killed in his yeard.

97. — Toma Arsiteh, curate.
Slaughtered with his wife.
28. — Rista Andreiewitch, curate.

Not respecling his old age (70 years), Bulgarian Soldiers and
Comitadjis rode on him as if he were a horse, taking his beard for
bridle. After torturing him for days, they dropped him in a well
which they afterwards filled.

2g. —Tassa Kognevitch, curate of Krapa Parish.

30. — Yovan Tsvetkovilch, curate of Tsrechgnevo Paris.

Both were tortured in December 1g1d, at the request of Stoian
Blajev, Sub-prefect of the District, and in his presence, Their limbs
were buried near the building of the District's Sud-prefect Offices.

6. — Department of Prizrend

31. — Kosta Yovanovileh.

Freedom was granted him in Ferizovilch, and he was allowed to
gn back home {0 Ratcha, Kragujevalz Department (territory:
occupied by the Anstrians). But he was killed near Vranie, on his
way there.

35. — Canon Danilo.

Bulgarian soldiers, helped by Albanese, Killed him in the monas-
tery with another priesi and 50 soldiers and refugees found in the
same monaslery.

-. — Department of Prichiina

33. — Yovan Andjelkovitch, curate of Nerodimlié Parish, Grat-
chanitsa District, Prichtina Department.

Though very old, he was killed on November 14th 1g1hH by a
Bulgarian military priest because, on being asked aboul his natio-
nality, he answered he was a Serb.

34. — Dena Debelikoviteh, curale of Lipliane Parish, Gralcha-
mitsa District, Prichtina Department.
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35. — Stanko Dimitrievitch, Gralchanitsa District, Prichtina
Department.

On November 2/4th 1915, about evening, he was called by Bul-
garian soldiers saying he was wanted to administer the last sacra-
ments to an unknown man, and killed by them.

36. — Canon Kirile. — Killed by Bulgarian authorities on his
way to Bulgaria. :

37. — Kosla Popoviteh, eurale, Guilane District, Prichtina De-
partment.

38. — Kosta V. Popovitch, curate of Petrovate Parish, Guilane
District, Prichtina Department.

39. — Yossif Popoviteh, curate of Petrovale Parish, Guilane
District, Prichtina Department.

ho. — Djordje Popovitch, curate in Guilene District, Prichtina
Department.

h4r. —Yanitchie Popovitch, curate of Kirmilane Parish, Gui-
lane District, Prichtina Department,

f2. — Djordje Popoviich, curate of Domorovato Parish, Gui-
lane District, Prichtina Department.

43. — Petar Popovitch, curate of Ropotovato Parish, Gui-
lane District, Prichtina Department,

44, — Todore Roujitch, curate in Guilane District, Prichiina
Department.

8. — Kumanovo Departiment

All killed in Vranie vineyards, beginning of January 1gr6.

45. — Abbot Vladimir Popovitch, Precheve District, Knmanovo
Department.

46. — Canon Arsenie Nikolitch, Prechevo District, Kuma-
novo Department.

47. — Yovan Popovitch, curate, Prechevo District, Kumanovo
Department.

All three killed on December 24th 1915 near Sukvista village,
not far from the monastery. The corpses were sprinkled with ker-
osene and burnt,

48. — Mladen Zdravkevitch, Prechevo District, Kumanovo
Department.

4g. — Milan Popovitch, Prechevo District, Kumanovo Depart-
ment. :

50. — Traiko Deikorovitch, Prechevo District, Kumanovo De-

partment,
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51. — Toma Stankovitch, Prechevo District, Kumanovo Depart-
ment.

Assassinated on December 1oth 1g1b near Buianovats village,
on Davidovats road. Oe of them, Zdravkovitch, was compelled to
drag the vehicle to the spot were he was murdered. Another, Stoia-
novitch, had his tongue pulled out before being killed. The two
last named were also tortured before death.

5a. — Todore Palamarevitch. — Brought away for internment,
he was killed on the way near Vranie.

9. — Vranie department
53. — Axentie Michitch.
54. — Axentie Stoianoviteh.
5h. — Stoian Yovanovilteh.

Taken away from home on December 12th 1915 and killed on the
way.

56. — Manassie Popovitch.

57.— Mihailo Mladenovitch.

Killed on December 1oth 1915 and thrown into Kornevats river.

58, — Manassie Popovitch.

59. — Kosta Popovitch.

6o. — Sava Popovitch.

61. — Stamenko Stoikoviteh.

Killer near the Morava River, not far from Vraniska Bania
and thrown into said river.

fa. — Milan Tsvetkovitch.

Killed in November 1915 on the Nich — Pirote road.

63. — Rista Popovilch.

64. — Ilia Popovilch.

65. — Manoilo Popovitch.

66. — Kosta Popovitch.

Killed near Surdulitza on December 27th 1915.

67. — Miloie Petkovitch.

Taken from his home and killed on the way somewhere.

68. — Dimitrie Atanassievitch.
Killed on the Nich — Pirote road.
6g. — Stevan Kommenovitch.

no. — Petar Velikovitch.
FEal— Trendafil Kotstich.
na. — Mihailo Ignatovitch.
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Arresled in Leskovats and taken away from the town on Novem-
her 17th 1gr5. Killed not far from Surdulitza, near Vrla-Reka.

73. — Zdravko Popoviteh, eurate of Babitsa Parigh, Leskovals
District, Vranie Department,

Taken from his home in November 1915 and killed,

7h. — Yovan Djikitch, eurate of Turckovals Parish, Leskovats
District, Vranie Department.

Killed on the Djepe road on January gth 1910,

75. — Omufrie Popovitch, Vlassotintsi District, Vranie Depart-
mnent.

Sent 1o Pirole and killed 1 1/9 miles from Vlassotintsi, in the
night 6/7th December 1915.

76. — Todore Popoviteh, Curate of Vlassolintsi Parish, Vlasso-
Llintsi District, Vranie Department.
77. — Dimitrie Zdvrvakovitch, eurate of Kuchevik Parish, Vlas-

golintsi District, Vranie Department.

Killed on the way 1o Pirote.

78. — Svelezar  Milenkovileh, curate of Konopnilza Parish,
Vlassolintsi District, Vranie Department.

Taken away from his refuge in Nich, had to join the Aleksinats
group of priests and was killed near Yelachnitsa on November 18th
191h (see n° g1 to gg).

10. — Taplitsa Department

=g. — Kosta Prvuloviteh.

hilled on the Gorgnane — Leskovals road.
80. — Rista Popovitch,
Killed on the Ratcha — Nich road, on December roth 1915.

11. — Nich Department

Si. — Dobrossave Markovitch, Nich Distriet and Department.
82. — Luka Marianovitch, Nich District and Departmient.

83. — Yovan Z. Popovitch, Nich District and Department.

84. — Yanko Yankoviltch, Nich District and Department.

85. — Stoian Stamenkovitch, Nich Districl and Department.
86. — Marko Yankoviteh, Nich District and Department.

Arrvested in Nich, after the arrival of the Bulgarian Bishop Vaar-
lam. After being imprisoned for a few days in the Nich fortress,
they left on Nov. 11th 1915, about g a. m., under escorl, for Bela-Pa-
lanka, where they arrived at 10.30 p. m, and slept in a public house.
Next morning, they were supposed lo go on fo Pirote, but soon after
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midnight, the escort awkened them, and they marched on to about
t 1/ miles where they had to step into lhe lields right of the road,
near Kremenilza village ; in the Yankina Padina defile, al a spot
named Golemi Kamen, they were killed about 2 a. m.

8. — Dragoutine Pechitch,

88, — Milan Milkovitch.

89. — Svetozar [itch.

go. — Canon Kiriak.

p1. — Yossif Popovitel. — AL the time of the occupation, was

4l home, Taken away, he was murdered with the Leskovats Group of
Priests (see n™ 69-77).

g2. — Avram Milovanovilch.
93. — Mileta Stefanovileh..
oh. — Djordje Z. Yovanovitch.
gh. — Dimilrie Stankoviteh.
g6, — Milan Djord jevileh.

g7. — Douchane Popoviteh.
98. — llia Koitch,

99. — Tsvetko Bogdanovitch.
160. — Mladen Dinitch.

This group was laken from Nikoline Grad prison on Nov. i8th.
1915 and assassinated near Yelachintsa village, not far [rom Nich-
Pirote road.

Among the proofs of this murder, the Savings-Bank book of Sve-
tozar Milenkovitch of Konopnitsa Parish, Viassolinals District, who
was in this group (see n® 78}, was found on the spol.

101. — Yerome Yevlitch.

Killed on the Nichi-Pirote road, very likely near Yelachnitsa.

r0o. — Djordje Tchemerikiteh.

Being in Prizrend, where Le was born, at the time of the Bulgar-
fan occupation, he 1eft hor home, but was killed somewhere on his
way (Guilane — Yranie — Surdulitza).

103. — Svetolik Antonievitch.

Being at his father-in-law’s, in Leskovals, was taken away and
killed with the Leskovats group of priests {see n® 69-77). E

12. — Department of Kruchevals

104, Qava Pelkoviteh, curate of Tehitchevats Parish, Raja-
gne District, Kruchevats Department.
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105. — Miloutine Milenkovitch, Rasilia District, Kruchevats
Department.

Being both in Nich, were arrested and taken away with the Nich
group of priests (see n* Si-go).

13. — Department of Pirote

0. — Alexa Yovanovitch Zanga, eurate of Pirote Parish, Pirote
District. -
He also was taken away with the Nich group of priests — but

being very old, he could not follow to Bela-Palanka and fell from
exhaustion. He was beaten for this ; put into a chariol the next
day, November 12th 191b, alighted near Kremenitsa where he was
Killed and thrown into the Nichava river. (The body of a priest was
found on the shore of this river near Bela-Palanka).

107. — Djordje Pechitch, curate of Smrdan-Bagna Parish, Ni-
chava Distriet, Pirote Department.
108, — Dragomir Yovanovitch, curate of Sukovats Parish, Ni-

chava District, Pirote Department.
Both priests relreated to Nich with the Army, and surrendered
lhere. Laler on, they were put under arrest and killed with the

group.
109. Stanko Kostitch.
110, — Yordan Nenlchiteh, curate of Pirote Parish.
111. — Ilia Popovitch.
112, — Duchan Popovitch.
Nich Priests. (see 1* 81 to go)
113, — Djordje Yovanovilch, Archimandrite, curate of Ras-

nilsa Parish — killed on the way from Nich to Pirote, mosi likely
near Yelachnitsa.

114. — Yanitchie Guguchevitch — killed in the monastery and
thrown into Nichava river.

11h. — Milan Popovitch, priest, Nichava District, Pirote De-
partment, — killed on the way from Nich to Pirote.

116. — Canon Serafine, Nichava District, Pirote Department, —

killed in Surdulitza, on December 24th 1915, where he had been
escorted to with a group of refugees.

14. — Toplilsa Department
r17. — Djordje Petrovitch, priest, member of the Eecclesiastic

Tribunal, Zaietchar Distriet.
118, — Sima Yovanovilch.
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119. — Vladimir Rachitch, eurate of Vrajogrnisi Parish.
All three killed in Kralievitsa.

120. — Milenko Gaitch, Curate of Veliki-Izvor Parish.
121. — Jivoine Tassitch, Curate of Kralievo-Selo Parish.

Killed on their way to Bulgaria, very near Veliki-Izvor Village, at
the spol named « Chotunovo », on November r2th 1915, and buried
in a ditch.

122. — Radissav Pechitch, Curate of Grliani Parish.

123. — Petar Savitch, Gurate of Slatina Parish.

124. — Lazar Popovitch.

Killed somewhere on the Zaietchar — Veliki-Ivzor road, on
December 1st 191b. :

125. — Lagzar Petrovitch.

126. — Milia Bissitch.

128, — Dobrossav Milenkovitch.

12g. — Yoislav Markovitch.

13c. — Kosta Kostitch.

131. — Vassilie Sindjel, principal of the Ioly Trinity Monastery.
lery.

Killed on their way from Knajevats to Zaietchar on December
13th 1g971H.

132. — Djordje Jivkovitch, curate of Vrbitsa Parish.
133. — Petar Dimitrievitch, curale of Vrbitsa Dislricl.
134. — Canon Djordje, principal of Suvodole Monastery.

Killed on December 28th 1915 and thrown into the latrines of
Vrbilsa School.

15. — Kraina Department

135. — Bogossav Stekitch, curate of Roglievo Parish, Nego-
tinski District, Krainski Department.

Captured in Nich, was taken away and killed with the Nich
group of priests (See n™ 81 to 90).

136. — Pavle Yovanovitch, curate of Velika-Yassika Parish, Ne-
gotinsky District, Krainski Department.

Killed in the neighbourhood of Zaielchar.

1375. —Mihailo Chunditch, curate of Plavgani Parish,

138. — Yordan Miletitch. -

Returning from Prichtina where they had fled to, they were
killed on the way.
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1. — Assasinations committed during the occupation in 1917 & 1918
1. — Kruchevats Department

139. — Mladen Popovitch, curate of Ribare Parish.

On November 25th 1917, was atrociously tortured by Bulgarian
soldiers and comitadjis in Ribare village. His beard with chin skin
was pulled outl and put on a wall, He was obliged to look at it
After many tortures, was killed.

14o. — Avram Yovanovitch,

o. — Nich Departiment
1h1. — Petar Marinkovitch, curate of Trgnani Parish.
142. — Yovan Anlitch, curate or Greiatch Parish.

Taken away on November 28th 1917 from the Morava Depart--
ment Sub-Prefect’s Mansion, in Jitkovats, he was killed in the same
night and his corpse thrown inlo the Morava river near Aleksinats
road.

145, — Miloche Milovanoviteh.

Although very old, was taken in March away from home lo a
forest where soldiers tortured him, culting his tongue and ears, brea-
king one of his arms. Afterwards, they killed him with bayonels.

144. — Strachimir Boulitch.

In March 1917, imprisoned in the house where the Soko-Bagna
Town Major had his offices, he was beaten, had his hands tied up
and, taken out of town, was tortured and killed, his body left to the
dogs 1o be torn up.

Crimes n”™ 143 & 144 were committed on orders received from
Major Tenedjiev.

3. — Toplitsa Department

145. — Vassilie Antitch, curate of Rondelie Parish, Prokuplie
District, Toplitsa Department. '

In March 1917, was taken from his house, had to eross the river

Toplitsa and was savagely stabbed with bayonets ; the right arm was

severed and the corpse had eight wounds.

1hy. — Krsta Popoviteh, curate of Kurchumlia Parish, Kossa-
kuplie District, Toplitsa Department.

Killed by bomb during a fight of insurgents with the Bulgar-
ian Army in March 1g17.

147. — Dimitrie Dimitrieviteh, curate of Barbatovals Parish,
Prokuplie Distriet, Toplitsa Department.
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Being interned, fled from Bulgaria and fought wilh the irregu-
lar troops. Captured, he was imprisoned in Nich Fortress (Decem-
ber 1917) and, later on hung.

148. — Pavle Popovitch, curate of Kurchumlia Parish, Kossa-
nitsa District, Toplitsa Department.
149. — Krsta Popovitch, curate of Kurchumlia Paris, Kossa-

nitsa District, Toplitsa Department.
Both killed in Kurchumlia in March 1g17.
4. — Vranie Department
150. — Petar Tsvekovilch, curate of Preko-Pichelitsa Parish,
Yablanitsa District, Vranie Department.
In March 1916, was led by soldiers to a forest and bayoneled.
5. — Prizrend Department
151, — Canon Sevasliane Loukitch, Superior of Holy Trinity
Monastery, Podgorski Distriet, Prizrend Department,
In August 1917, brought to Uskub on Major Sarasrov's order,
and hung there on General Tochey's order.

1. — Killed by Albanians

1. — Rachke Department

152. — Toma Protitch, Novi-Bazar Department.

153. — Kosa Koulagiteh, Curate of Novi-Bazar Parish.

Both retreated with the Army to Mitrovitsa (Kossovo) where the
Albanians killed them in the presence of Austrian soldiers, and threw
ihe bodies into the Ibar river on December 4th 1915.

». — Prichtinag Department

154. — Canon Sava, brother, in Lhe Gratchanitza Monastery and
Confraternity, Gratchanilsa District, Prichtina Department,

Killed on the way near Preluja Village.

3. — Prizrend Department

155. — Djona Stoianoviteh — Lynched and lorn to pieces.

IV. — Priests killed by Bulgarians on territories occupied

by Austrian troops

156. — Axentie Radosavlievitch, curate of Semendria Parish.
Retreated with the troops to Nich, where the Bulgarians arrested
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him on the pretence of informations wanted. They killed him on
the way.

V. Names of the priests who died in Bulgaria from Hunger,
ill-treatments or other calamities

1. — Nitchifor, Archbishop, Prizrend Department, died in Sofia
on January 1st. 1918.

5. — Trifoun Radivoievitch, Prizrend Department, died in Kar-
lovo on July toth 1916.
3. — Mihailo Stoyanovitch, Morava District, Nich Department,

near Trevna.
Died working on the road performing unskilled labor.

4. — Dimitrie Popovitch, Vranie Department, died in Haskovo.

5. — Radivoie Stevanovitch, Omolie District, Pojarevats Depart-
ment, died in Krdjalia. \

6. — Pahomie, monak, Nichava District, Pirot Department, '
died in Sofia.
= _ __ Andra Liubitchich, Rame District, Pojarevals Department,

7
died in Sliven.

8. — Miliutin Yelenich, Poretchie District, Kraina Department,
died in Gorgne Panitcherevo.

g. Yovan Todorovitch, Pirot Department, died in Gorgne Panit-

cherevo.
10. — Damnian Issailovitch, Prizrend Department, died in Gor-

gne Panitcherevo.
(1. — Pavle Yankovitch, Pojarevals Department, died in Gor-

gne Panitcherevo.
12. — Militch Popovitch, Rame District, Pojarevats Depart-

ment, died in Gorgne Panitcherevo.
13. — Yovan Popovitch, Zablonik District, Yranje Department,

dier in Eski-Djoumai.

14. — Dimitr Dieux, Velesse Department, Died in Eski-Djoumai.

5. — Miloche Karitch, Brza Palanka, Kraina Department, died
in Eski-Djoumai. :

16. — Jivo Ivanovitch, Pojarevals Department, sent half dead
as convalescent and died at home three days later.

17. — Stoian Nikolitch, Massuritza District, died in Eski-Djou-

mai.
.8. — Monk Agatangel, Poretchie District, Kraina Department,
died in Chumen.



19. — Yakov Voukotich, Poretchie District, Kraina Department,
died in Chumen.
20. — Isaie, Prior of the Convent, Mlava District, Pojarevats
Department, died in Chumen.
1. — Dimitrie Petkovitch, Nich Department, died in Eski-Djou-
maia.
REMARK

Above list is far from complete ; many are the victims on whom
10 information has reached us yet. Nevertheless as concerns the land
occupied by Bulgarian troops, the above is sufficient information,
since the names of the priests who dissapeared or were taken away
by the enemy prior to his retreat are known. But in the land occu-
pied by the Austrians, many priests had to follow the retreat to Bul-
garia where they were imprisoned first, then released on condition
to use the Vranie-Surdulitsa-Nich road. And Bulgarians killed them
on the way, or near the Nich slanghter-house. The real number of
victims will only be known when all priests abroad will be back
home. The missing ones will be enquired upon. Also the various
examinations made now will bring facts to light. i

Comparison from information to hand :

Assassinated priests (death proven up to DOW) oo cvsins 156
Died of Misety -« L otoinilon et eeae s s e a1
Totel of 3he Dead i oo daniinivr s s srems e dpidlsiios 177
Priést who came back 1o Serbia, after the liberalion of
the territories, from internment CamMps ..........---c-- 137

Among the dead are two bishops. Also two bishops among the
priests who came back.

Ne 34

REPORT OF THE PRIEST MILYA A. YONTCHITCH, ON THE ASSAS-
SINATION OF TWENTY PRIESTS AND ONE OFFICER BY
BULGARIANS IN THE NIGHT OF NOVEMBER 11/12 1915,
NEAR KREMENITZA VILLAGE, ON THE ROAD CONNECTING
BELA-PALANKA WITH PIROT. -

In spite of all official statements that Bulgaria would remain
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neutral to the end of the European War, everybody knowing what Bul-
garians really are was convinced that it could not be, and that Bulgaria
was only awaiting the best possible opportunity for attacking Serbia
treacherously, in the back. This unspoken belief, based on the well-
known Bulgarian felony, came frue on October 15t 1915, date of Bul-
caria’s War declaration to Serbia.

PIROT, border-town, although fortified and defended by valour-
ous troops, was abandoned as a consequence of the retreat of our
detachments fighting in Vranya and Zayetchare, and also because of
the advance of Austro-German armies in the North of Serbia. The
evaculion of all adminisirative departments, and also of the inhabi-
tanls who guessed what Bulgarian ferocity would be, hegan on Oeto-
her 12th 1915, 1 left, in my turn, for Nich by the last train of Oclo-
ber 13th with my family. Nich was full of refugees. I found there
many priests from Pirot and surroudings, and also from other Serh-
ian regions. We discussed whether we had betler surrender to the
enemy or escape lo a more distant spot. We decided the surrender,
in order to remain with our parishioners, and partake of all good and
evil which could befall the souls entrusted to our care. Several of
us, before taking this step asked for His Eminency, Archbishop of
Nich, Monsignore Dossitey’s advice, He answered that himself would
stay, but could not advise anyone to stay or go. Every priest had to
acl according to his own feclings and conscience.  We took the deci-
sion above related, and waited for the Bulgarians to come.-

They entered Nich on October 23rd 1915, in the afterncon.

Already four days afterwards, they started their criminal admi-
nistration by the internment of His Eminency, Archbishop Dossi-
ley and of his Deacon, Milintine Kotsitch, At the same time, the
priests were officially invited by the Town Major of Nich to come to
his offices : he said he was very fond of the clergy and glad to make
our acquaintance, also that he had asked the Government wheter we
could be allowed to resume our office or else be interned. He added
that should we be interned, we had nothing to fear. We would be
his offices : he said he was very fond of the clergy and glad to make
knew by this that we were going to be interned — and we did not
wait long.

On November 5th, it was publicly announced by drum beating
that all priests, High Schools professors, School leachers and other
Employees of the Government or of the Town had to call on or before
the 1oth of November at the Major's offices to receive a Cirenlation
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Permit. Most refugees were anxious to get one, not knowing the
treachery of this. All priests, 16 of us, went there on November the
~th but instead of receiving a permit, we were kept one by one and
escorted by soldiers, bayonet on the rifle, to Nich Fortress where,
we were put in a dungeon. Prisons were crammed with soldiers,
state emloyees and civilians.  Not enough room to lie on the ground ;
we had to sleep seated. The dirtiness was undescribable, the treat-
ment ferocious, the food being refused to prisoners. In short, all
thal could make us feel the ferocity and barbarity of the rules was
done fully and mercilessly. Bulgarian soldiers are splendid thieves

bots, shoes, slippers, upper garments, watches, etc... everything was
good for them. The priests were treated even worst than the rest,
not being allowed the customary short walks in the prison yard and
being left without any food whatever for the four days we remained
there (=th to 11th of November)., On leaving, at 6 a. m., we found
{hat our number had increased to 22. We were ordered to take with
s all our belongings and step out into the yard where we joined Soo
or hoo Serbs (soldiers and civiliang), including two officers, all ready
to go. The column was led by a Bulgarian N. C. O. 1o Bela-Palanka,
where we arrived at 10.30 p. m., having left Nich at 9 a. m. — Bela-
Palanka Town Major, Reserve Officer Zarie Stoyanov, of Sofia, recei-
ved us on the steps of an abandoned inn. He told us maliciously that
he excused himeelf of such faulty billets for the night, and that we
had 1o make the best of them and rest ; also that we would not leave
the next morning before 8 a. m. for Pirot, on our way to Sofia. The
fact is he persuaded us that, we were going to rest all night before
marching again next day. We ate what we had been able to get in
Nich and, without a blanket, laid on the floor, tired out by the long
march of the day. But s soon 83 wg WELe soundly sleeping, loud
coices awoke ns saying : All up ! a wire from Sofia orders us to leave
immediately as we must calch in Pirot the Sofia 6 a.m. train. We
profested saying we were too tived to walk, but rifle butts answered
us, hitting our hacks. We were driven harshly out of the inn, coun-
ted, and al 1 a.m. we were in fours on the Pirot road. Yankovitch, a
Nich priest who died since, wanted to fill a bottle with water on pas-
sing a bridge, but Bulgarian soldiers called him names and sayed :
Whal's the good of fetching waler, since we are nearly « there ».
We had alveady noticed, on leaving the inn, that a N. C. O, was whis-
pering something to the soldiers, orders, very likely, and we began
fearing the worse. All the time, we were being told lies. About
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t 1/2 miles from Bela-Palanka, before arriving at Cremenitsa vil-
lage, the column had to stop ; we were told it was for rest. Five mi-
nutes later, we resumed our march, but we had gone scarcely a hund-
yed yards when the « guide » in front ordered loudly to leave the
road and walk in ploughed ground on the right towards a defile in
the mountains. We stopped all of us to enquire why we had to
leave the road, and we were told that it was a short cut for Pirot
and Sofia. But we did not move and implored the soldiers not 1o
{ake us to the mountains ; we offered them all we had, but this was
aseless. We were forced on, and a soldier cried out : « What ! you
are afraid | You suspect us wrongly, because we also have children
of our own. » We walked throngh the field and entered a valley cal-
led Yankova Padina. At a spol called « Golemi Camene », the guide
in front ordered to stop. At the same time, all soldiers escorting us
van to the rear and fired volleys in our backs. A few of us fell imme-
diately. The reports were lugubrious in the full night, 2 a.m., and
{wo priests, Tichomir Popovitch first, and John Z. Popovitch after-
wards fled to the mountains, followed by one of our officers. On
seeing this, I did the same, but when reaching the top, I received
a bullet in the back, under the left shoulder-blade, and fell, but rose
again at once running down the other side of the mountain. I saw
a bush and hid there.

At that time, two soldiers came running and firing. Catching
sicht of the iwo running priesis, they followed them. I seized the
opportunity, and ran to a larger bush which I thought a best hiding
place. But a Bulgarian soldier saw me moving and cried to me :
Are you one of us # Not receiving any answer, he fired in my direc-
tion. The bullet struck the ground under my left knee, in which I
felt the commotion. Said soldier, not hearing me move and perceiv-
ing the two priesls followed by his two comrades, joined them. I
kept quiet some time, watching for any other coldiers to come, but
not seeing any, 1 retraced my steps, crossed again the mountain,
found the ploughed ground and the direction we had followed to
enter the defile. But I was afraid to fall accross the three soldiers who
had pursued the two priests and had to come back, or to be discovered
in some other way, and I went to rest between a rock and a small bush,
twenty steps inside the mountain. | saw an officer and two soldiers
yiding from Bela-Palanka, later on several soldiers with pick-axes,
spades and shovels, also a large kerosene tin. Isaw also the corpse of
the priest John Z. Popovitch brought from the mouniain, where he
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had fled to, to the spol where the others had been assasemat.ed All
this before 6 a. m., day-break time.

The following priests perished on this spot : Archpriest Do-
brossav Marcovitch ; the Nich Priests : Louka Maryanovitch, John Z.
Popovitch, Yanko Yankovitch, Marko Yankovitch, Sava Petkovitch
of Tehitechevats, Stoyan Stamenkoviteh of Barech, Dragouline Pe-
chich, of \dglﬂsd. l)ldgouur(, Yovanovitch of Soucovo, George Pe-
chitch of Smrdane, Jordan Nentchitch of Pirot, Stanco Kostitch of
Yaglovik-Yzvor, ITlia Popovitch of Bela-Palanka, Douchan Popovitch
of Klissoura, Milan Miljkovitch of Malotchane, Bogossav Steritch of
Raglievo, Miloutine Milencovitch of Bochniane, Svetosare Ilitch of
Houm, Archmonk Kyrivak from the Hilender Convent Mission in
Nich., and Alexis Yovanovitch, of Pirot, 8o years old, who had rem-
ained in Bela-Palanka. He was killed the next day near Cremenilsa
village about g a. m. and his body was very likely thrown in the
Nichava River, since a few days later on the body of a priest was found
in the river.

Had I been wailing for the soldiers on the spot of the slaughter,
1 would have been killed, too. I therefore crept on the rock as soon
as everything was silent and, seeing nothing, ran to a small wood
where 1 gol rid of my ca%ﬂork undressed as far as decency allowed
and crossed a small pasturp -ground to hide in a closed gdlden. Look-
ing towards the spot of the crime, I was a cloud of smoke arising : the
priests were being burnt with kerosene to get rid of any and every
sign chowing the vietims to be priests. The inquest held later on
the subject by the Prefect of Bela-Palanka department confirmed it.

I did not stop long where I was, and about g p. m. arrived in Po-
nore Village, entered a house and found in it a peasant with two
women and a child. I asked for water and rest, not disclosing who
| was — saying instead I was a shoemaker. I wanted scissors to cul
my beard. They had none, so T cul it with the peasant’s knife. He
questioned me, and I told him that, my children having never seen
me with a board I was cutting it nol to frighten them on my return,
after being away so long. He believed me. Leaving the village I
found on the road a bulgarian chariot. I asked if the man could drive
me to Pirol. On the way there, 1 told him I was a tradesman. |
arrived in Pirot at 1 p. m. without having been discovered. [ hid at
once and remained there from November 1ath 1915 o June 28th
1917, i. e. until General Tassev’s amnisty for all those who had taken
part in the guerrilla warfare or had hidden.



Advised by my friends, I appeared before the Bulgarian authori-
ties on June 28th 1917, and went home, in Pirot, quite free up to
August 7th 1918, when I was imprisoned for 4 days and afterwards
interned in Eski-Djumaya. T stayed there up to Serbia’s liberation,
coming back for good to Pirot on October 21st, 1918,

Above report was handed on December Sth 1918 to the Pirot
Sub-Prefect.

N° 35

HOW MY FATHER. ONUFRIE POPOVITCH, GURATE OF VLASSO-
TINTZI CHURCH, WAS ASSASKINATED (N THE NIGHT OF DE-
CEMBER 6/-TH 1915, 2 MILES 8. E. OF VLASSOTINTZL.

My father who, with his two daughters from Brousse, had taken
fuge at his married daughler’s, came back to Vlassotintzi on Novem-
ber 28th 1915.

On December 6th, a week later, Ivan Baykuchev, Sub-prefect,
born in Trn, celebrating his nameday, invited him for the same day.
Among the other guests was Stoytchev Stevan, Captain of the st Gom-
pany, 4snd Regiment, Sofia Division. Said Captain was born in
Sofia, his father being judge in this Capilal’s Court of Appeal. The
Caplain’s private address there is ro Tzar Sena Streef.

That very night, aboul 11 p. m., two Bulgarian soldiers, bayonet
on the rifle entered our home and informed my father he had to leave
immediately with them for Bulgaria. My father, 6o years old, did
not feel very well on that parliculier day and asked them to come
back the next morning, adding that he would try o get a horse by
then. But the soldiers answered him that they would not allow himn
10 ride since they, themselves, had to walk.

My father gol ready ; as he was going to lake some money, his
guards did not allow him to go out of their sight and ordered my sister
to go and fetch it.  On leaving they enjoined us not to leave the house
this night — otherwise it would be blasted by order. My father
begged of them to allow him to take his blanket and some linen ;
they forbid hin.

He was first imprisoned, but soon after the same two soldiers,
wilh two more, came to take away and escort the prisoner.

Crossing the Town Bridge on Vlassina River, a whistle was heard.
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The escort stopped seeing an Officer nearing. Bul it was only a
N. C. 0., Balobanov Nikola, who exchanged a few words with the
soldiers and joined the group. -

Near Manastirichte Village, 2 miles 8. E. of Vlassotintzi, the Bul-
carian soldiers stabbed my father, with knives, on the head, neck and
also in lie breast and stomach, finishing him with blows of rifle
butt on the skull. They robbed the corpse of 3000 francs in paper
money, 6 gold 20 franc coins, a watch, and buried il in a 1b inch
deep grave.

Baykuchev, the Sub-prefect’s brother, coming from Sofia told he
saw my father in Pirot, sitling in a cafe, waiting for a horse to ride
back to Vlassolintzi, — having been released. Bui Lhe rumor was
srowing thal my father had been assassinated, and many people were
sure of it. None dared say anything, for fear of the Bulgarians.

Soon afterwards, no doubt was possible. My family had found
and recognized the corpse. My mother begged than the Sub-prefect
lo be allowed to have a funeral made according to custom. But the
Sub-prefect denied it was my father's body, and required proofs.
Seven days later, my mother brought him rags of the apparel and
the false teeth of the late curate. After many hesitations Baykuchev
anthorized a secret funeral of the body. He gave orders to us for
the bier to be sent by carriage, covered with straw, for burial on
the other side of the river, avoiding to cross the bridge. Bul at the
same time he, Baykuchev, informed Captain Stoytchev, who was
then al Leskovats. of what the family wanted to do, giving orders
that the burial should be prevented. On the nexl morning, a ser-
aeant came and fold us that if anybody of our family touched the
arave, our house would be blasted.

On the same day, two Bulgarian oflicers went with soldiers (o
{he spot where the murder had taken place. The corpse, which the
severe cold had kept whole, was undressed and cul in pieces. The
flesh was scattered on the soil, and the hungry dogs ate in the dirt
the remains of iy dear father. A guard of three soldiers in the night
and one in the daytime was on the spot to prevent people from getting
near, Three days afterwards, the guard was recalled, no trace being
loft of the assassination. But a man, paid by my family had been
on watch all the time.  As soon as the guard had departed, he inform-
ed my family who went with two sachs to gather the soiled remains
and buried them in the vineyard.

We have still my father’s garmenls, showing how he was kil-
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led. The collar has three holes, made by the knives. The waisteoat
has twenty, — one of them, al the place covering the heart, being
larger.

The principal authors of this erime are : Major Stoytchev Ste-
van ; Baykucheyv Ivanicha, Sub-prefect ; [vanov Zarie, Mayor of Vlas-
colintzi : and Balobanov Nikola, sergeant, born in Sofia.

2

Dimitrie PoroviTcn,
Schoolteacher in Vlassotintzi.

N° 36

REPORT RECEIVED FROM THE MORAVA DISTRICT SUB-PREFECT
DATED NOVEMBER 15TH 1918 ON PERSECUTION OF PRIESTS
OF SAID DISTRICT

1. — The Curate of KORMAN Parish, Milan Yovanovitch,

stayed in KORMAN when the evacuation took place. According to a

report from the Mayor of Korman, corroborated by other informations,
the Bulgarian Authorities abused from the beginning M. Yovano-
vitch and interned him very soon in Bulgaria * he came back from
this country on the a7th of last monlth.

ANl real and personal estate of his was pillaged, destroyed or
burnt (his home was burnt). The Bulgarian Sub-prefect, A. Ne-
choff, took from him more than 9bho francs, leaving his family and
himself without any means of living.

The little time he remained in his parish, the interdiction to of fi-
ciale pronounced by Varlaam, Bulgarian Bishop of Nich deprived him
of his duties. A Bulgarian pope from Kazanlik, named Todore Pe-
choff, was senl to Korman to attend Parish work in Yovanoviteh's
stead.

All the time the latter was interned in Bulgaria, his wife and chil-
dren lived in Veliki Chilegovalz in ulfer misery, ill-treated and even
tortured. .

5. — The Curate of KULINA Parish, Michel Stoyanovitch, from
Nich District, stayed in Kulina after the evacunation of the place. Bul-
garians sent him soon [o Bulgaria, for internment. He died in cap-
tivity. His wife and children are in Alexinatz, wilhout any means
of living. All the family's property was pillaged and destroyed.



3. — The Curate of GREDETIN Parish, living in Gorni Adrovalz,
Archpriest Svetislav Juyovitch, left with the Serbian Army on October
sgth 1915. He is now in Nice (France), as Serbian Military Chaplain.
Al real and personal estate belonging to him was destroyed. He has
noe family in the district.

4. — The Curate of Jitkovatz, Lazare Martinovitch, stayed in
liis Parish after the evacuation. He died from ill-treatments on Ja-
nuary Ath 1916. After his death, the Bulgarians abused his family,
especially the daughlers. A Bulgarian Officer planned to violale one
or them but a German Druggist intervened and this crime was left
undone.

5. — The Curate of Trniane, Peter Marinkovilch, stayed in his
Parish after the evacuation. He was many a time bothered by Bul-
carian Authorities who ill-treated him and his family, obliging him
to give them money. On March 10th 1977, he was on an intern-
ment list for Bulgaria, but having paid a certain amount, he was
released and went back home. Nevertheless, he was sent under escorl
to Jitkovatz sub-prefecture two or threc days afterwards, spent one
night in the town, and disappeared on the nex| evening (1bth of
March). It is asserted that pope Peter had his throat cut open on
the Morava Bridge, his body being thrown into the river. A priest’s
cap was found some time later on the riverside and a human corpse,
with a toothless skull, in a thickish not far off. This was the priest’s
body.

All his property was pillaged : his daughter-in-law and her four
children were ill-treated and tortured. One of his daughters died
from ill-treatments.

6. — The Curate of GREIATCH, John Antitch, was allowed up
to March 1917 to remain in his Parish, but frequently, he was sum-
moned by the Bulgarian authorities to Alexinats, kept a few days
in prison and released.

In March 1917, all the District was under Terror Rule ; the 25th
Bulgarian Regiment committed then numberless atrocities. Priesl
Antitch, raher ill, was taken on a chariot to Jikovatz by order of the
Sub-Prefect. e never came back having been killed near Alexi-
nats, on the bridge, by Ivan Angheloff of Sliven, of the Bulgarian
Police, and Elie N..., a gendarme convicted of numberless atrocities.

The priest’s property was completely pillaged. His family is
now in dire misery.
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At the time when the Priests Marinkovitch and Anfitch were
ynurdered, the Jitkovalz Sub-prefect was TASHTCHIEFF, famous for
his eriminal activily.
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N° 37
Statement by Ahmet Ussein, ex-Major of Prjievo :

T am just back from Bulgaria, having been interned there since
April 1916. 1 have to make known the abominable crimes the Bulga-
rians committed against our countrymen. In Karlovo were about 8oo
civilians from Old Servia and Hoo to oo soldiers, fed with only some
sort of soup, made of waler and bread, and daily exposed lo the ill-
treatinents of the Civil and Military Authorities. For instance I saw
a young girl schoolteacher being beaten because she had not allowed
a camp's officer lo take advantage of her. Two other girls received
»0 blows with a stick because they did not work quick engouh. They
complained lo the officer in command of the camp of this eruelty ; he
answered Lhem : You are Serbs. It would he better to Kkill you all !
All interned had to work on the roads, repairing them or keeping
them clean night and day. Hungry, sick, they were often whipped
harshly by soldiers and gendarmes.

Among the interned were 200 priests whose work was to break
«lones on railroads ; Bulgarians required money from those who
wanted to escape such labor. Two Members of the Servian Parlia-
ment were living in camp in the same condition as the other priso-
ners. But whenever a foreign mission visited the Camp, they pre-
sented themselves and obtained from the Bulgarian authorities some
clothing, linen and bread for us-a real treat. But they were removed
to Plovdiv and, before leaving us, they received before all of us 2b
blows with the stick because they refused to admit they were Bulgar-
jans.

This statement was received by the Negotin Sub-prefect Novem-
ber 10th, 1918.
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N° 38

Statement by Ahmed Mustapha, of Kenali.

When the Bulgarians fled in 1916, they took away my oxen and
chariots and obliged me to drive them from Bitol to Mogila and after-
wards to Prilep. where we had to slay seven davs without bread nor
any food whatever. On the seventh day. I went Lo the sergeant and
begged of him lo give me bread, or to release me. He struck me-
this was his answer. 1In the evening he took the oxen from me and 1
never knew since where they are. I was sent to a detachment doing
stonebreaking on the Kitchevo road, and T was given a hammer to
work. We were nearly naked, and without shoes: as soon as we com-
plained of hunger or exhauslion, we were beaten unmercifully .
Every days, ten to fifteen of us all.  All the money I had on me was
taken by them ; this was done lo everybody .

The food was very poor and scanty. On the Kitchevo Road, we
received every day a piece of cornbread, less than 8 oz., and every
evening & meatless soup—more like hot water than anything else.

Never was any cloting served out to us - no linen either . Who-
ever did find an old sack was Incky and made with it some sort of
a carment.  No hut and no shelter in our camp. We were not even
allowed to have fires in the open. Our camp being on Kitchevo
Road in the winter of 1917, 1 declare under oath that during the
fortnight in which the cold has heen so severe (January) ho 1o Ho
frozen hodies were found every morning .

Being in Prilep , we were shown gallows, and told that this was
lo be our fate if we did not obey. Same lhing in Gradsko. 1 never
<aw anyone hanging on these gallows, but it was said thal many
Serbe were hung in the night.

Like all those taken into slavery, I suffered from hunger, and
| state that all those who succombed were viclims of hunger.

This Statemnent was received by the Morihovo sub-prefect, No-
vember 23 rd, 1918.
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IN° 39
Statement by ITakul Selim of Kenali.

In 1918, eight days before the evacuation of Kenali by the Bul-
garians. one of their patrols took me to Bukovo, and from there to
Jovagnevise and Prilep, where | stayed four days. Afterwads, some
of us retraced our steps in the direction of Bitol, to do front work,
digging trenches and carrying munitions. I went as far as Snegovo,
with coils of barb wire carried by tow of us. I worked two months
in the trenches and left again for Prilep first, to slop in a place just
behind called « Varosh »n. After the Snegovo shells, we had to suf-
fer here real tortures. Breaking large and hard stones with heavy
hammers, we had to [ill each of us a large case, used as measure.
Anyone behind in his work received ten blows with the stick imme-
diately.

When working on the front, we received a loaf for four, But
on arriving in Varosh, the food was less and worse : 4 1/2 pounds
of corn for 2 or 3 days. We roasted the corn or ate it raw. After-
wards we received some corn flour, a ration for four.

With me were my brother Mussa, Ali Kerim, Sali Demicha,
Jachar Jakub, Tcherim Bairam, Mural Djafer, Bairam Omer, Arslan
Jacher, Adem Jacher. All died, some of hunger, others from the
blows received ; Mehmed Rucham, Sali and [ are the only survivors.
Both can confirm what T have said.

On my return home, I learned thal Bulgarians took away all my
cattle, and my brother Mussa’s too.

This statement was received by the Morihovo District Sub-prefect,
November 23td. 1918.

IN° 40
Statement by Aden Betchir, of Kenali.

When the Bulgarians arrived here, they arrested me immediately
and sent me to Bifolj, where 1 was imprisoned until said town was
evacuated. In their flight, the Bulgarians took me with them to
Prilep.
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In Prilep, T was again in prison for nine months. Real torturing
began there. We had only 4 oz. of bread a day and a jug of water.
I was taken out of the room only once a day for bodily necessities.
In four small rooms, we were a hundred of prisoners. Said prison
was underneath Marko Fortress. In those nine months, more than
2000 people were brought tied up for the night, and taken out the
next day in the same fashion. At last, T too Teft with 19 fellow-
prisoners, under escort of four guards by motor lorry for Gradsko
aud from there by train for Chumen.

In Chumen we were brought to a barb wire enclosed camp in
which were already 5.000 prisoners : Serbs from Serbia and also
Russian and Greek soldiers. We had 11 0z. of bread daily, but noth-
ing else. No hospital in camp, so that 15 to 20 people died every day,
and we had a good many sick. Whoever asked for a doctor was
beaten. Corpses remained two or three days on the spot before being
buried, On leaving Chumen, we went to Provadia, a forest in which
we cut wood during 100 days. Afterwards, we came back to Chumen.
and, from there, went to Lom-Palanka.

In the Provadia Forest, I very often had to eat the bark of young
frees, because we were fed on meatless soup and received no bread.
In Lom Palanka, we had to load and unload barges. 1 did this work
four months, receiving blows now and again. I saw prisoners,
exhausted, fall into the water and drowning. I saw also two of them
who drowned themeslves wilfully, to escape such sufferings. I could
nol myself endure it any more — especially the cudgelling — and
fled to Rumania with Omer Kapil on a raft tied with strings we made
in the night — we slept then in the barges — and to which we tied
ourselves by the belt. We had but a very faint hope, but death itself
would have been welcome then. On the opposite shore, Rumanian
shepherds came to us and handed us over to the Authorities.

I assert that in Chumen Camp more than 1.500 people died dur-
ing my stay there. 1 say under oath that the only causes of such a
terrific death rate were hunger and bastinadoes.

This statement was received by the Morihovo District, Sub-pre-
fect, November 26th, 1g18.
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N° 41
REPORT

received from TANASSIE UROCHEVITCH, Archpriest for Toplitza
Department, on the atrocilies committed by Bulgarians in
Internment Gamps.

The Rerbian Priests in the ferritories occupied by Bulgarian troops
having been murdered wholesale in October and November 1915, all
those listed for internment in Bulgaria expecled death from day to
day. A good many, fearing lortures, tried to commit suicide during
deportation ; those not strong enough bodily died on the way or on
arriving at the camps.

1 will name the following by way of examples :

Priest Dragoliub Popoviteh, Gurale of Butchie (Fimok Depart-
ment) : atiempt at suicide in Zayetchar Prison. He seized the revol-
ver of a gendarme (policeman) and aimed at his chest, firing twice.
Bul the bullets did but seratch the skin covering the ribs. In spite
of his wounds, he followed to Bulgaria but not hy the same route.
Instead of via Widin, he was taken to Sofia via Nieh and Pirot.

Priest Peter Popovitch, Curate of Brestovatz (Kraina Department):
attempt at suicide in Negotin Prison with the guard’s rifle. The
wound in the chesl was most severe, It is a miracle he did not die
from it.

Priest Stanko N..., Curate of Balta Berilovilza (Pirot Depariment):
committed suicide on the way o Bulgaria, throwing himself from
a bridge inlo Nichava River, and was drowned. He escaped thus
the atrocious death suffered by all his comrades ; all the group was
murdered by the Bulgarians near Bola Palanka :

Priest Andra Liubitehileh, Curate of Veliko Gradichte and ex
M. P. Old age and poor health made him unable o stand the journey’s
hardships. He died in a street, in Sofia, Was buried in this Capit-
al's cemeterry.

Priest Dimitri Popovitch, the old curate aof Ratai (Vrania Depart-
ment) was obliged to walk in the snow and the cold, with his luggage
on his back, for eight days. He arrived al Haskovo Camp, tired out,
and died b or 6 days afterwards.

Canon Patromie, of Divlian Monastery (Pirote Department), died

of exhanstion and fright as soon as arrl ved in Krdjali Camp.
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Priest Dimitri Petrovitch, Curate of Lok-Bania, was deported in
191~ only, when infernments had been stopped a long time already.
Nobody can tell what he had to endure in the prisons and on his way
1o Eski-Djumaia, where he was interned — even himself, mad from
tortures and anguish, is unable fo talk aboul it. People who lived
with him noticed though, on his face, hands and chest, numerous
marks of blows. In flashes of half-lucidity, he says that the guards
il-treated him continually. He was in camp aboul six months and
died, refusing all food for fear to be poisoned.

Other priests died in Internment Gamps, in Bulearia, from bad
food, want of medical attendance adn inhuman trealment. Their
names are :

1. — Radosav Stefanovitch, Gurate of Laznilza (Pojarevatz
Department) died after his guards had beaten him with the bult of
their rifles. Was very old and nearly blind. Having been robbed
in the Nich Prison, he was in utter misery, pennyless, when he died
in Gornie Panitcherivo. :

4. — Paul Popoviteh, Priest from Pojarevalz Department. Died
also in Gornie Panitcherivo.

3. — Michel Popovilch, Priest from Rabrovo (Pojarevatz Depart-
ment). Died in Gornie Panitcherivo.

4. — John Todorovitch, Priest from Pirote Department. Died
in Gornie Panitcherivo. :

5. — Trifune Dimitrievitch, Archpriest of Prizrend. Died in
Karlovo.

6. — John Popoviteh, Curate, from Vrania Department. Died
in Eski-Djumaia. :

~. — Damiane Isailovileh, Member of the Prizrend Ecclesiastic
Tribunal. Died in Gornie Panitcherivo from exanthematic typhus.

8. — Monk Agatanghele, from Kilendar Convent, detached to
ihe Belgrade Ecelesiastic Tribunal. Died in Eski-Djumaia.

9. — lgumen Isaie, Principal of Vitovnitza Convent (Pojarevalz
Department). Died in Chumen Hospital.

‘6. — Jacob Vukovitch, Curate of Maidanpek (Kraina Depari-

ment). Died in Chumen Hospital.
1. — Dimitri Bogdanovitch, Priest from Veles. Died in Eski-
Djumaia.
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12. — Stoyan Nikolitch, Curate of Kievo (Vrania Department).
Died in Eski-Djumaia.

3. — Miloche Karitch, Curate of Chtulitza (Kraine Department).
Died in Eski-Djumaie.

th. — Miliutin Yelenith, Priest from Bela-Palanka. Died in
Sliven.

The interned priests were brutally and harshly treated. Since the
day of our arrest to the day of our release, we have been used as
ordinary criminals. We were always shut in, and an armed guard
followed us everywhere. Only a few priests had in Karlovo the privi-
lege of living for a certain time in private houses. But this trifling
exception sel apart, nobody was ever able to leave prison or camp
outside the enclosure. Even when going to mass, a guard was with
us. When the camp was short of drink water, we went for water in a
column, four in each fille, and did anyone step ouf, he was hrought
back energetically by the butt of the guard's rifle.

The food was neither healthy, nor sufficient. The bread was
exclusively of corn pretty often, but normally of a mixture of barley,
rye, wheat and corn. In 1918, the daily ration was brought down to
11 and even g oz. For long, the only meat served out in Eski-Dju--
maia was poor mutton or smoked goat. The smell was so putrid that
many prisonners could not eat it. Many priest, nnable to get over
the disgust for such meat contented themselves with the bread ration,
and this was not sufficient food to keep them in good health.

In all internment camps of Bulgaria, the supplies were handled
in such a way that the people in charge of them were growing rich
at the prisoners’ exense. In Gornie Panitcherevo, for instance the
Camp’s Manager, Lieutenant Kristo Semerdjieff, and in Eski-
Djumaia, the Manager's assistent, Nicephore Petkoff made lots of
money. They were dismissed, it is true, but much too late.

Only in Karlovo have priests been employed for garden and agri-
cultural work. In Eski-Djumaia, they cleaned the rooms and the
ground inside the enclosure of the camp, dug and cleaned latrines,
brought the rations from a distant sport, and water to the kitchen.
They carried away manure and refuse, washed the floors, carried fuel
wood, ete...

Tt looks as if all Camp Managements had acted on the principle
that the people must be crammed into very narrow lodgings. In
Haskovo several sheds were always empty, but we had to live in two



n

— I

or three rooms only. The Authorilies were deaf to our entreaties for
more room, and empty sheds remained so. The smell of the latrines,
too near the dormitories, the promiscuity of people and apparel, the
dirtiness and yermin, ete... were fatal to the prisonners’ health. Lice
and buegs swarmed. We visited our bodies the best we could, and
swepl the bugs with bean leaves — somelimes as many as 8o to 150
stuck on the same leaf | Some desinfection apparatus was in camp,
but his efficiency was not sufficient for such a large place. Priesl
Yovan Todoroviteh died from infection received through lice.

All means were used to grab money from us. In Gornie Panit-
cherivo, Lieutenant Semerdjieff is a rich man with the money he got
from priests, officers and rich merchants. He promised furloughs
or even release if money was given to him. But when Lhe interned
one had been deprived of all he had, the promise was not kepl. In
Eski-Djumaia, Nicephore Petkoff had imagined real taxes levied on
priests. Such shameful methods did not come to an end before our
release.

IN° 42

; REPORT
received from Zagorka M. Yovanovitch Schoolteacher on Bulgarian
Crimes in the region of Alexinats

Bulgarian cruelties are undescribable : bealing wonmen with a
Jarge stick was a daily occurrence during all occupation times, and
a few instances arve subuiilled here,

One day, in Augusl 1917, I found in the schoolyard a woman lay-
ing on the ground, with a swollen head, frightend and frightful. 1
asked her what it was, and she told me things which made me shiver.
ond Lieutenanl Konnev, commanding in Rajanj, two other officers and
aboul 4o soldiers circled her house, in Pankovatz, ook away her hus-
Land, Sreten Stochiteh, and gave her blows unlil she fainted. They
said the cause of this chastisement was thal they hated the Bulgarians
and had expressed the wish that the Serbs would soon be back. On
recovering her senses, she was beaten again on the back and the sto-
mach, fainted again and woke up the next day on the road ; she was
quite alone. She could nol move. Peasants passing by told her they
saw her husband dead in a ravine. The love for her young husband
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(lie was only 1g9) acted so strongly on her that she could rise and
went lo the Bulgarian officer commanding in Djunis, for a permit
to take the body to the cemetery. It was refused to her. 1 may add
thal he poor woman was pregnant,

2. — From same village were taken away to Rajanj: Obren Milen-
kovitch and Jivadine Stochitch, aged 25 /26, aceused of not being fond
of the Bulgarians, and also of having declared they were Serbs.

In Rajanj, they remained about twenty days and were examined
and cross-examined several times, and were sent back to Djunis —
for taking leave from their family, were they told, before deportation.
Bul it was instead for being excuted in (he presence of family and
friends. Obren, <ecing his father among the crowd, cried to him
Save me, father, I have done nothing ! And the father presented
himself to the officer in command and told him, kneeling : Sir | have
me hung, but give my son his life |

Two soldiers seized then Jivadine, put a bandage over his eyes,
and killed him with several shots. Two other men dragged Obren
to a tree, pul a string round his neck and hung him.

The officer who examined the case and gave the verdict was from
the 4th Company of the 3oth complementary Regiment. His name
is Konnev. He was then in Rajanj.

3. — Aboul August 29nd 1g17, at 6 a. m., the officer command-
ing in Djunis received an order brought by courier. He sent a de-
tachment to Kaonik which returned two hours laler with a young
man, half dressed, named Liuba, son of Miloche Stevanovileh, of
Kaonik, 17 years old. Liuba was followed by a good many women,
old men and children. One after the other, they were asked ques-
tions and, meanwhile cries of terror were heard from the spot where
they had assembled. They were accused of dreaming of greater
Serbia, or else of having children or brothers on the front. They
were then to Aleksinats, where this torment continued. The mosl
zealous tormentors of our population have been Major (mow Li-Colo-
nel) Roussev, of St-Zagora, and Lt-Colonel (now Colonel) Dobrey,
both of the 3oth Complementary Regiment.

In Aleksinats, nearly all were released, but Liuba and a 6o year
old woman, Radoika Vessitch. Some day, all Kaonik village was
summoned (o a plain near by, and these two victims were brought
for execution. Liuba asked for the favor to go to a small wood not
far off to change linen. He came back len minutes afterwards with



the Serbian cockade on his hat. He Iooked as if he was going to his
own wedding. Very gay, he smiled and told the soldiers : Do as
ordered | Old Rodoika has not been less heroical. She kissed her
people, lit a church taper and waited for the bullets. The first ones
did not bring her lo the ground. She stayed upright until she was
u sieve. The German officers present admired the heroism of the
Qarbian woman, but did nothing to prevent the Bulgarians from c¢om-
mitting these crimes.

Were also bastinadoed : a woman, Persida Kostiteh, of Kaonik
(506 blows on the back and the stomach) : Dragolium Kostitch, 11
vears old, Milena, daughter of Rodoie Djonitch (a strong girl before,
now of very poor health) and many others in this village and in those
of the mouniains, near Ribarska Bania, weré many human bhones
can be seemn.

N° 43

REPORT RECEIVED FROM PROFESSOR VELIMIR LAZAREVITGH,
ON THE CRIMES COMMITTED BY BULGARIANS
IN GUEVGUELI GANTON

On contmission received from the President of the Inquiry Com-
inission held on the Crimes committed by Bulgarians in Guevgueli -
Canton. commission dated December 3rd of this year, [ visited the
territory of Mirovalz Parish, inclhuding Mirovise, Petrovo, Galarovo,
Smokvilsa, Miletkovo, Davidovo villages. Having heard officially
what the people had to say, [ beg to submit the following report :

In all the villages of this Parish, Bulgarian Soldiers and Autho-
ritios commilted all sorts of violences on the population. Comman-
deering took place in all of them, and in every house, the inhabitanls
being left bare. All the best families were interned, especially those
in which father, son or brother had served in the Serbian Army. The
Bulgarian Soldiers being billeted in Serbian homes, violences took
place every day ; wonien and young girle were violated. This hap-
pened, for instance, to Helen, Yandjel Stoyanovileh’s wife, of ad-
vanced age and mother of four children. The Bulgarian soldier who
did il was called Sande. One day he appeared with four horses and
wanted to put them in the house. The abovenamed lady opposing
this was assaulted and dishonored by him. The poor woman, fear-
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ing for her fame, never told it before she knew she was pregnant.
She went then to the Parish Hall and related what had happened.
She was advised there not to kill the child. On the day she was fo
deliver, the police was sent to protect her. In the upper part of
the house in which lived this woman, a certain quantity of hay was
ctored : the day before they fled, the soldiers of the 5th division put
the hay on fire ‘and the whole house, valued at 25 Turkish gold pounds
was burnt.

Bulgarian soldiers violated, in June 1916, Losane Anaslasevitch,
wife of Anastase, of Miroctche, on her way from the mill. They
caid to her : « I we give our life for Macedonia, we wanl something
for it »n The two of them did the stupration the one after the other
The woman was taken ill from the commotion and called the Doctor
to her, but did not tell him the truth. Feeling pregnant, she went
to the Parish Hall and said how it happened. The Parish Authorilies
promised lo take care of the child, but she never received any help.

Peter Ruchkoviteh’s wife says : One day, 1 was watering our
Indian Corn and Watermelon Field, near the Vardar, when I noticed
that the flow of water had sLopped Surprised, I tried to find out
the cause and saw, at a turn, that the water was derived towards a
neighbouring field. And all at once, before 1 could move, I was
assaulted by two Bulgarian soldiers. One of them kept my mouth
closed with his handkerchief, and held me close in his arm while the
other did what he wanted from me ; they changed places to give the
other fellow his turn. They fled, leaving me lying on the ground. 1
lold nobody, but about St. L.onctantlnps day, T had a child and all
women have since kept aloof from me. 1 live since in shame and
unhappy at my fathers’ here, in Miroviche.

Rista Krstoviteh’s wife says : that working one day in her Indian
corn field, where she was with a litlle brother of hers, she was assaul-
led and violated by a Bulgarian soldier the name of whom is unknown
(¢ her. To achieve this, said soldier had put the point of his bayonel
near her throat, saying he would kill her if she resisted. This hap-
pened in 1g16. This woman was since interned in Bulgaria where
she had a child who died in Drama, on the way back to Macedonia.

‘Her husband, in the Serbian Army Service Corps, died when working

on railroad repairs. She found her home empty and pillaged.
Maria Dimitrieviteh reports that having gone to the woods for
logs, she was assaulted there by three Germans she could not under-



stand. One of them had a sporting rifle and threatening her with it,
violated her. The child horn from it died two months old.

Djordje Gligorovitch, of Davido Village states : The Bulgarians
took from us all the cattle, paying nothing. They gave sometimes
receipts, but they could never be cashed bearing no date nor the name
of the commandecering party. The pay office was not mentioned on
them. The peasants were obliged to work on the roads, repairing
them and did not receive even bread for it, the enemy soldiers having
scarcely enough for themselves. Everywhere, the soldiers violated
women : but this was known only nine months afterwards, when chil-
dren were born. Up to now, only two women had a child. The hus-
band of one of them served in the Serbian Army. He was told that
his wife, Velika Bogatinovitch, had been dishonored. but nevertheless,
he allowed her to stay in his house. The other woman, named Fidana
Ristoviteh, hid her shame as long as she could and only when the
child was born did she say that Bulgarian soldiers had violated her as
a vengeance because her husband, reported missing since the retreat
of the Bulgarian Army, had distinguished himself as supporter of the
Serbian Ideas.

In Smokvitse Village, Bulgarians violated Mitza Yantchevitch
(now living with an old man of Petrovatz), Chitchirina Athanasso-
viteh, Raina Ristovitch, Fida Sveyovitza, Kata Ivanovitch, Maria Yo-
vanovilch (who married afterwards Yovan Stankovitch of Mirotvche).
etc... Altogether 17 women.

In Petrovo Village, Bulgarians killed in an Indian Corn field, at
a spot named Kriva Reka, a man called Risto Djuravitch-Yovanoviteh.
The soldiers wanted to gather the corn, and he opposed it. They cud-
gelled him to death. An inquiry commission was sent to the place
where the crime had taken place and had the corpse exhumed, but
found the death quite natural. All the village knew that this pea-
sant had been killed with sticks. Laler on, a rumor was spread that
he had been killed by Russians or Turks. But there is nol the leasl
doubt that this is a Bulgarian crime. The deceased was 42 years old.
He left five children now in the charge of their grand-father, Djuro
Yovanovitch.

Peter Dimovitch, Guard of the Petrovo Forests under Serbian
Administration, was arrested for being a supposed partisan of the
Serbian Ideas. In 1917 he had to pay 6oo francs, as ransom, to
escape internment. This money was received by the officer in com-
mand of the 1st. Battailon of the 1st. Division, Todor. (The surname

9
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is not known lo him). He was four months imprisoned in Prishtina.
Nicolas Noi, of the samie Division, took from him 350 francs because
lie refused to give him straw. ITe had also lo pay a 250 francs fine,
and another one of 165 francs because he was not able to give 160 tur-
kish liras, as required from him. He was fined too for having
said to a soldier who had tried lo violale the daughler of the village
priest, that it was a shameful act and thal such crimes had to be stop-
ped once for all.  Patrols of soldiers in arms dragged him right and
left. His house was searched several times. Once a group of soldiers
knocked at his door after midnight. IHe refused to open the door.
They broke it open and rushed into the house prelexting a search.
But in l‘(‘ﬂ]il'\' they pillaged it, taking away all his corn (10 tons), a
cow, 1 goals, three baskets of butter, a large quantity of soap, ete...
And ihey came back to lake all the straw. On the day before the
evacuation, the Bulgarians took from him 5.360 francs belonging to
the Church.

They look from Yovan Pechevitch, Petrovo Village, 50 goats,
4 oxen, 4 pigs, 1 mule, Jooo measures of corn, 200 or 300 of wheal
and rye, 6 turkish gold liras and /4 silver watehies, All this was
done when the owner was absent. On his return, he found the door
broken open and the house being plundered. He fought with some
soldiers « finishing the job » and received a severe blow. He was
persecuted because one of his brothers was in the Serbian Army.
Djordje Djalakoviteh’s wife was robbed of all the sheep, corn, straw,
ele...  Very poor, she had cried and begged for something to be left
for hel food. But her prayers were not attended lo because she also
had a brother in the Serbian Army. In the homes where no man was
lefl, the women kept watch on the barns and granaries, but the Bul-
garian soldiers drove them away with their bayonets saying : When
the French Army come, you will have all the bread you wanl.

In the \1“cl“i_‘b of \hmvlcht\ Parish, inlernment was not applied
Blindly : only the best Serbian lcuml:e% particularly those having
someone in the serbian Army, were listed.  First the inen were taken
away, then the women. On Bulgarian lerrilory, the man was not
interned with his wife and Lluldwu they were kept separale in concen-
tration camps. guarded by sentries, where they remained two or three
months before being sent somewhere else.  In Mirovlche, ;uﬂoplu to
be interned had threp days to get ready for the journey, bul in other
places, this respite was not granted. The people left leaving house
and fields unprotected. Vassilka Peirovilch, a woman of Miroviche,
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who was interned with her mother in Bekovo Department, says on
this subject : We were taken from home a few days before St Elie's
day. The Mayor informed us three days in advance that we would
be taken to a place he could not know. He advised us to take with us
bread for three days, a waler jug and a blanket for all the family.
We had to leave all the cattle and furniture, for enemy use. Eight
days later, our husbands were interned. We were escorted all the
way and the soldiers treated us inhumanly. We were nol allowed to
leave the column even for physical necessities or to fetch waler.
Whoever infringed this rule was sentenced to death. Many women
were struck with the butt of rifles. Our husbands were taken to
Provodia, near Chumen. In the last period, we had nothing to eal.
On our return, we found our homes empty.

_ Lazar Gligoroviteh’s wife, of Miletkovo, complains that the Bul-
garians burnt her house, after pillaging it. Before, the officer in
command of the 5th Regiment, Dimtiar Samardjicff had been bille-
ted in her house with 10 men. The house was valued al 25 turk-
ich liras, and the furniture was worth f4.000 f[rancs. She knows
the names of two of the soldiers who took part in this crime : Laza-
voff and Pantchoff, of Rutchtchuk. The soldiers obliged the inhabi-
tants to declare they were Bulgarian. On leaving, they put the
church on fire.

Yokov Kara-Yovanki, of Miroviche, states : We were inlerned
on about St. Elie’s day, the men frisl and then, separaled from them,
the women. We were seven from the same village. My wife and
children were interned in Donie-Lukovo (Orechovo Department).  As
to me, I was taken to Provodia (Varna Depariment). On the way we
had to submit to all kinds of bad treatments, We had to walk quic-
kly ; we were even obliged to throw away our garments and the winter
linen to accelerate our step. The police (gendarmes) threatened us
with death and struck us for the least thing. Nobody could leave
the column, whatever his excuse. In Chumen, two Serbian soldiers
were killed because they had stepped out for physical necessities.
They were robbed of all they had and buried in a difch. The inte-
rned ones were left two months in a barb wire enclosure, sulfering
from hunger. Only at the end of the internment were they allowed
to work. We, of pure Serbian origin, have been specially ill-used.
From my house, nothing remains bul the walls. Everylhing was
pillaged and taken away. My eslale was worth 20.000 francs. Now,
1 could not raise on it enough lo feed on.
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Very often interned Serbs, working on Bulgarian estates, receiv-
ed no pay for their work. For instance Rista Russovitch, a woman,
was never paid by Ilia Badjkoff, for whom she worked.

Konstantin Yovanovilch, of Miletkovo, states that the Bulgarians
had asked him, for formality’s sake, if he was willing to give to the
Bulgarian Army what he had. He answered he was so poor thal
what he had was hardly sufficient to keep him alive. But neverthe-
less, everything was taken from him. And the same thing was done
in all the houses of the village, nothing being paid. We dared not
leave our homes and could not resist, therefore the Bulgarian gathe-
red themselves all the corn in the fields, and destroyed what they
could not take away. When leaving, they uttered their disappoint-
ment and rancor in a most violent way : Sons of Macedonian wh....,
did they ery to us, we had the war because of you and, now, we are
wrecked | On leaving too, they put the church on fire which was
entirely the prey of the flames. They had used it to store the rations
and the ammunition. The Holy Books aad the Service requisites
were burnt too.

During the War, all males and females in the village, from 15
to 6o years of age were commandeered for the fatigue duties. No food
was given them ; only lately did they receive a slice of bread each,
about a quarter of a corn loaf. Oificers and men were billeted in
our homes paying nothing althongh they had plenly of money.
The German soldiers were billeted in the school which has been dete-
viorated by them completely. When billeting the troops, the officers
measured by steps the rom available, leaving only a tiny space o the
family, all the rest was for the soldiers.

Djordje Belovitch, of Davidovo, member of the Parish Council
under Serbian Rule and, for some time, Parish Cashier, was depor-
ted to Bulgaria and inlerned in Chumen with two brothers of his.
Their wives and children were interned in Pehovo. Seven other fami-
lies from the same village were interned, their estate pillaged and
destroyed. They were not even granted the necessary time to pre-
pare for this journey, being immedialely taken away and escorted.
From the Delovitch family, 295 shegoats were taken, also fo sheep,
s000 measures of corn, 3000 of straw and a large quantity of rye, wheat
ele... In the house of this estate, sergeant Stevan Tchustanbegoff
took a sewing machine. All the fields of this village and of all
others in the same parish were devastated.

Andon Djordjeviich, of Davidovo, stales he does not know the
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motives of his internment. He was taken away with a group to
Galitch. Orechovo Distriet, and their wives were interned in Kneja,
came district. Men and women had lo work for their food, better
caid for some food, because all suffered from hunger. On the road
fo the internment camp, they were not allowed to leave the column
even for physical necessities, for fear they might run away. They
were abused for the least thing, and very often beaten. They had to
walk with naked feet, and it was a problem to find some stuff to
cover the body with. On the road, a good many Serbian soldiers,
prisoners, were met ; they were in the same condition. Once they
<aw a Serbian soldier with two sheep on his back and a Bulgarian,
very likely the owner of the sheep, struck him on the head with a
hig stick becaunse, nunder such a burden, he stumbled and could not
walk straight. At several places, they saw Bulearians beating Serb-
ian soldiers working.

Nr) 4 4

REPORT RECEIVED BY THE INTERALLIED COMMISSION
OF INQUIRY ON TIIE CRIMES COMMITTED BY BULGARIANS
IN SERBIA

The undersigned, commisioned for inauiring on Bulgarian cri-
mes in Vlassotintzi District have ascertained as follows :

1. — We traveled for information in the twenty following pa-
rishes : Brodatz, Vlassotintzi, Gorgni-Orachatz, Gredelatz, Darko-
vatz, Dobrovatz, Devan, Dobro-Polje, Kalanatz. Kruchevalz, Kanon-
nitz, Orochatz, Predeyan, Prissyan, Ruplie, Rawvna-Dubrava, Svot-
gya, Negotinalz, Tzrna-Trava and Chichavatz.

5. — The following report results from a few days only of inves-
tigation, and embodies therefore but a feeble part of the numerous
crimes, inquiring lawfully on which would necessitate many
months. But had we time enough to do this, how could we describe
at length, or even approximately, the full cruelty of the Bulgarians
and the diversity of their methods in showing it. Only a summary
is possible. Tt appears that Vlassotintzi District suffered less than
others, for instance Yablanitza, Kossanitza or Prukuplie districts ;
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bul from what we have seen and heard here we can infer the martyr-
dom of those districts which are shown as having suffered most.

Without exaggerating what we have seen, we can state kno-
wingly thal the words « pillage, robbery, assassination, fire », are
most feeble for expressing the doings of Bulgarians in this part of
Serbia. So evident are the crimes, so frequent and diversified, that
not only was it impossible for ordinary people, with a seanty voca-
bulary at their command, to amplify, but even to relate the real hor-
ror of what happened. For instance, a man appears before us onee-
ved, having lost the other eye through blows from the Bulgarians.
Well, his appearance is a fact, and what he says cannot amplify nor
lessen the truth. Deaf people, cripples from broken arms or legs,
or those who have had their ears cut or show scars or other marks on
the body are clear testimonials of their word.  All these victims used
to ery bitterly at the end of their evidence. Other « testimonials »
are the corpses of those who were assasinated after having been tor-
tured, and the bones found here and there, half eaten up by dogs.
In short we can say thal many people were assassinated or burni,
many others died of wounds received, but that nearly every inhabi-
tant was bealen and robbed of his all. Lucky exceptions are those
who did not feel how hard has been the fist of our enemy.

3. — This distriet has been ruled, like all the rest of Serbia,
by co-existant civil and military authorities. Whenever measures
were taken for the extermination and martyrdom of the Serbian
race, they worked on a common aceord. When the agents of the
Civil Power did something on their own, our people suffered double,
hecause those of the military power did not keep behind, and vice-
versa, For instance, when soldiers pillaged somewhere, the gen-
darms (police of the Civil Power) came soon afterwards and took
what had been left. Often, before the pillage, the inhabitants were
beaten, the women violated and the head of the family toriured on
the pretence of making him say where weapons were hidden, or
where Serbian insurgents could be, But the real motive was often a
search for money. At all hours, day or night, everyone was fear-
ing for his life. Anyone in the Bulgarian Army, Officer or private,
conld kill and take away all he wanted ; and all moveables went
with them. Complaining to superior officers was worse : ill-treat-
ments ensued, It is true that sometimes the eriminals were bronght
hefore tribunals, bul it was a very Plalonic satisfaction since no pu-
nishment was effeclive and, moreover, the prosecutor was treache-
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rously punished for it or even assassinaled. The soldiers called
« Wheat-reapers », « country-police » or « millers » commilted uni-
maginable alrocilies. Bastinadoes, all kinds of abuse and the depre-
cating words for the « Rerbian mother » were daily occurrences.
The stick struck on all occasions, even the least, as shown by the fol-
towing two exemples : a poor fellow was publiely bastinadoed be-
cause he answered « il you please », instead of « at your command »,
and he lost one eye from it | An old woman was atrociously beaten
because she implored in the following words soldiers who invaded
her garden for potaloes : « My children, leave something to the old
woman who worked all summer ». — Many people were beaten
twice a month for no other motive than ruling the population more
easily by frightening it.

The principal aim of all authorities, civil or mililary, was to gel
rich quick at the expense of the Serbian people. For instance, Bul-
earian priests married for money children 14 or 15 vears old. And
to inerease the number of marriages, they promised that brides and
bride-grooms would not be interned. But quite the opposite was
done : the bridegrooms who have not heen interned were sent to the
Bulgarian Army.

On the door of all offices was the inscription : « Here Bulgarian
only is spoken ». Everybody had lo attend the meetings when Bul-
garian speakers proclaimed the « Morava » to be Bulgarian and
asserling that the province would remain part of Bulgarian territory.

4. — Besides the Town Major, the Sub-prefect, the Mayor, who
were Bulgarians, an office, called the « Inquiry Office » was opened
in Vlassotintzi for obtaining « confession » from people supposed
to be « guilty ». Anyone brought there was first bastinadoed and
otherwise tortured beiore being sent to prison. When the accused
conld not walk from blows received and this was frequently the
case — he was helped out by two Bulgarians. Everyday, people liv-
ing on the Town Square heard the cries of the unfortunates being
lortured. The favernkeeper witnessed all these horrors.

h. — We give below in tabulated form a olimpse of what Bul-
garian rule meant for the Districl :

Comniitied in 1g1h :
Public Assassinalions ............... 3 S
Secrel ASsassinalions o 4 oo ve s e nada 0
Basttad ot e e A e e el 12



LOTTTITES Lo fa il b bevies sy aate e e s mlsatazob e o dmice)
Banes ..o vecvioe b v s e s b sy 6
Ransoms, pillage and robbery .......... 3
TS T el s S S SRR T 2
Deaths from blows received ............
Bastinadoes followed by pillage .......... 8
in 1916 :
Public Assassinations ............oe0--
Secret Assassinations .................
Bastinadoes . ......civsnneaien e oan 7
LI ER st ot o e B GRS 5% et e
RLGR S b o i W G
Ransoms, pillage and robbery .......... S
R SN e S e e e T
Deaths from blows received ............ 5
Bastinadoes followed by pillage .......... 9
in 1g17 :
Public Assassinations .................- 64
Secret Assassinations .........o-o.o o 39
Bastinadoss . s e dimein s s supas ho
R OTEITES 1oie s e oot it Wi ato s il igky 48
RApES b wossio v o0 e s cimnls =i e 1bH
Ransoms, pillage and robbery .......... 163
e e e Gl e e 202
Deaths from blows received .......... 13
Bastinadoes followed by pillage .......... ho
Maimed during deportation ............ 2
Burnt in HOUSES « cucvm s e vm st rpon s v 3
Drowned in W, G, .o i nnone.. 1
in 1918 :
Public Assassinalions ............o.- e
Secrel Assassinalions ........ ool
BastinadOBs oo .- vo s v smai e s e 67
A Wi ATk o L S 8 A e e L 3
T R RS RRR e L e e 3
Ransoms, pillage and robbery .......... 6
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T i ot v P A SR T 22
Deaths from blows received ............ 8
Bastinadoes followed by pillage .......... b
Totalling 1915 to 1918 both inclusive :

Public Assassipations .........0.....:.. 72

Secret Assassinations ............ .. ... hb
Bastinadanaai. oL i e s i 13D
P baren BT ey S e R 51
Rapes o L ke 2l
Ransoms, pillage and robbery .......... 187
= T R R U e e 316
Deaths from blows received ............ 21
Bastinadoes followed by pillage .......... 100
Maimed during deportation ............ 2
Bariif iR BOUSEE . 0. o it s ave aitn b atai ied 3
B o (o e b (B B e R o e I

6. — We claim particular attention for the following crimes :

a) Fires, murders, hangings and pillage in Kruchevitza, Tzrna-
Bara and Chichava villages ; ;

b) Secret assassinalions of the Priest Onuphriye Popovitch and
of Blagoye Ililch, living in Vlassotintzi.

¢) Mihailo Pavlovitch, beaten to exhaustion and thrown, half-
lead, in the latrines ;

d) Rape of a little girl 7 or 8 years old ;
¢) People burnt alive in Tzrna-Trava ;
f) Women murdered wholesale in Tzrna-Trava.

g) Ravna-Dubrava school put on the fire when the Bulgarians
relired after the armistice and capitulation.

7. — The complainants cannot, in most cases, give the exacl
names of the officers and soldiers who committed the crimes. But
from information to hand, the following are among the criminals :

Major Chappov, in command of the 17th Complementary Com-
pany, born in Pleven.

ond Lieutenant Petkov, in command of the 3rd Company of the
i7th Complementary Group. '
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and Lieutenant Stevan Vassiliev, Chief of the Griminal Police
Office, born in Kazanluk.

Ivan Nikolow, Mayor of Vlassofinizi, horn in Vrania and living
i Sofia.

Caplain Stevan Stoilchev, in command of the 1st Company of
the 4ond Regiment of the Sofia Division, and his servant, Peter Saley,
born in Teteven.

Nikolas Balabanov, N. C. O., born in Sofia.

Ivantcha Baikuchey, Vlassotintzi Sub-prefect, born in Trn.

Zariyve Ivanov, Mayor of Vlassotintzi, born in Trn.

and Lieutenant Ivan Tochev and Corporal Petko, both of the
3rd Company of the 42nd Regiment, Sofia Division.

Yanko Rabakdjiyef, Quarter-Master Sergeant of ihe and Com-
pany, 17th Complementary Brigade. :

Leon Avramov, N. C. O., 12th Company, 11th Territorial Regi-
ment, born in Vidin.

Lieutenant-colonel Kutintchev, of Ruchtchuk.

ond Lieutenant Naidan Cheptanov, of the 1gth Alpine Detach-
ment, 17th Complementary Brigade, born in Troyan, and his servant
Anton Damyanov, born in Sliven.

Police Agent Beltcha Braneuof, of Kazanlik.

and Lieutenant Terziyev.

Quarter-Master Sergeant Rista Guenov, of Tcherveni-Breg,

Ivan Sokolov, private, 17th Complementary Brigade, born in the
Istip region.

Arsen Uzunov, born in the Bela-Slatina region.

snd Lieulenant Batchvarov, born in the Bela-Slatina region.

Metodie Nikoline, the Bulgarian Secretary of Chichavatz Parish.
horn in the Tehustendil region.

Lieutenant Daskalov, of the 15th Complementary Brigade.

Private Stanoie Randjelov, born in Klissura, living in Sofia.

Djordje Natchev, Comiladji of Plovdiv region.

Corporal Nikolas Baikuchev, of Trn.

Vassilie Nikolov, of Lommnitza, Trn region.

Corporal Tzone Popov, born in Trn.

Nicolas Dobrikov, private, 5th Mountain Battery, bogn in the
neighbourhood of Tzrno-More.

Lieutenant-Colonel Nakov, of the 6th Complementary Brigade.

Leonida Papov, of the information office, 17th Complementary
Brigade, born in Ressan, )



Private Ristov, Signal Detachment of the 4rst Regiment.

Private Milan Spascov, 6th Brigade, born in Varni.

and Lieutenant Kassabov, born in Kratovo, 17th Complementary
Brigade. He assassinated men in Kalna, burnt houses in Ravna-
Dubrava.

Lientenant Stoyanov, of Sofia, 6th Complementary Brigade, and
Corporal Yordan Dimitriyev, of Yambole. They assassinated 14 in-
nocent men in Veliki-Krlchimir.

Rustem, hairdreszer in Bela-Slatina. Appointed for the bastina-
does which took place in Gligorie Mitkovitch's café (bar).

The cruelty of the Bulgarian General commanding in Nich is
specially mentioned : he ordered a wholesale murder of all males bet-
ween 16 and 60, and the internment of all the rest, as was done in
Chichava.

Signed : Srelen Diniich, schoolteacher, Todor Milenkovitch,
schoolteacher, Tchirilo Yandovitch.

Leskovatz, December solh 1918,

IN°® 48

REPORT RECEIVED BY THE INTERALLIED COMMISSION
OF INQUIRY RE, THE MURDER OF THOMAS DJURDJEVITCH,
PRESIDENT OF THE SMEDEREVO TRIBUNAL, THOMAS
ZAFIROVITCH, M. P., THOMAS Z. MIHAILOVITCH, TRADESMAN,
AND THOMAS MIKITCH, JUDGE AT VRANIA TRIBUNAL.

1) Statement by the widow of Thomas Djurdjevitch,

My husband stayed with me in Prichtina, our children being
ill.  The Bulgarians came soon. We lived in a house belonging 1o
a man, called Monarem-Aga, and Thomas said he was a tradesman
because the Bulgarians, on their arrival, had announced that all
State employees and dignitaries would be arrested. We were wait-
ing in Prichtina for the Belgrade train to run under Bulgarian mana-
gement. One day, after Christmas, the Prichtina Town Major sum-
moned Thomas, and having received him friendly, told him he knew
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who he was, but being over fifty, there was no danger for him fo
be interned. He added that, should my husbhand want to leave Prich-
tina, he would give him a pass to go anywhere he wanled to, allow-
ing him even to stop in Vrania, to gather things we had left there,
on our way to Belgrade. Al that time, we suffered much from the
cold, shivering all night on old and hard straw-mattresses laid on the
floor, and Thomas asked the Town Major to grand us passes for Vrania
to take there our bed things before going to Belgrade. On arriving
in Vranie, The Station Officer, Latcheff, took brutally from my husb-
and’s hands the papers. We found our house nearly in ruins, and in
the rooms, still habitable, the Bulgariand had put horses and oxen:
No trace of furniture of clothes could be seen. We could hardly find a
shelter in the place : no inn, and the people we knew would not
have us their homes, such was the terror in Vrania. A good many
well-known citizens and priests had already been killed, and the inha-
bitanls were afraid to be accused of connivence with my husband if
they accepted us in their house. On the following day, January Ath
1916, Thomas presented himself at the Parish Hall ; in the afternoon,
he called at the Town Major and received the necessary papers to go
to Belgrade with all is family. Bul these papers had to be signed too
by the German Officer and this could not be done the same day,
although Thomas and I waited in his office up to 8 p. m. He told
us then he had no time to attend to this, and asked us to leave our
documents and come for them at 8 o'clock the next day. In fact,
they were given me the next day, and nol used to Bulgarian trea-
chery, I ran gladly to our house, hopeful at seeing us safe from the
blooddripping claws of our enemies. I found Thomas on the thres-
hold, ready to go out : Major Ilkoff had ordered him to bring the
papers back, pretexting he wanted some information from such an
eminent man, and this obliged him to ask my husband to stay a few
days more. On the same evening, my husband went to llkoff’s, but
came back one hour afterwards, accompanied by soldiers. He told
me Ilkoff had found lodgins for us a bit further off, next to a work-
shop, and that we had fo stay there. On January gth, Thomas was
summoned again. He asked then Major Tlkoff to deliver him the
passes and to allow us to leave, explaining why we could not stay,
withont the least comfort, in a cold, liny room. Ikoff answered :
« Bring me from your Town Hall a document signed by the Mayor
and three witnesses certifying you are not a rebel, and I will let you
go. » When Thomas came with the required certificate, Ikoff exa-



mined him again, and my husband, weary of such dilatory ways,
answered him : « I am a Serb, patriotic and honest. You will get
nothing out of me to the contrary. » And Ilkoff threw the passes and
the railway transportation papers into a drawer, which he closed,
saying : « Well then ! you will remain here until yon gel a bil more
yeasonable » And for that day, the examination was over. On
January 22nd, we heard that Ilkoff was going to be sent somewhere
else, and that Colonel Kakandjieff, who had ordered so many slaugh-
ters in Leskovatz, was appointed in kis stead as Vrania Town Major.
On the same day, about noon, a man came to us and advised me to
bring Hkoff a few hundred francs begging of him to let us go. Tho-
mas, in a temper, answered : « 1 do not want my wife to implore a
Bulgarian, and I have not spared money for this use. » The man
left, and on the same evening, four men, bayonet at the rifle, led by
a sergeant, took Thomas away. Before the door, in the shadow, I
saw Kakandjeff and Ilkoff. I was not allowed to wish my husband
@ood-bye, and he could not take anything with him. Suspecting the
worse, I went to the officers, threw myself at their kness, and, weep-
ing, asked them to spare my husband’s life. Ikoff stammered a
fow words — I understood he would take care of him — but Kal-
kandjieff, exasperated, took him by the arm, and both went off. 1
ran behind the soldiers to know where they led Thomas, but one of
them saw mie, stopped, aimed at me with his rifle and howled, fu-
riously : Go back | Under this menace, I retraced my steps home,
and the group went on. Opposite the house in which we lived, was a
canteen where a few Bulgarian doctors, a Pope walching us by order,
ex-comitadji called Nicolas Pelkovitch, and a few officers took their
meals. Taking no heed of time, hour, politeness, I rushed into the
room in which they were, and besecched them to have pity for my
children, and to speak for their only bread-earner. Behind me was
my daugter Militza, the elder. who followed me. Moved, I think,
by our tears and despair, the officers looked al us, exchanged a few
words and asked the Pope to take.us to the Prefect and have an au-
dience granted us. Also to protect us against the patrols. I was
told that the Prefect was an influential man, who look care of the
interned, and that it was advisable to try and have his protection.
As soon as I was introduced to the Prefect, Dr. Dimitroff, 1 kneeled
before hin and ask him merecy for my husband. He spoke to me
encouragingly and comforted me with promises : he would do all
that could be done, sending a wire to the Tzar of Bulgaria explaining
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him our sorrow and unfortune, and he was very hopeful my hus-

‘hand's life would be saved : on the other hand, his interniment was

nearly certain. But my husband was Killed. I never saw him since
he was taken away [rom me.

5) Statement by the widow of Thomas Zafirovitch.

Thomas Zafivoviteh, was suffering from a chronic inflammation
of the kidneys, from arterio-sclerosis and also from heart's desease ;
he had frequent crisis of the latter. His life was often in danger,
but attentive treatment and eare prolonged his days. Ilkoff, the
Bulgarian Major, was billeted in his mansion and went often to see
him. Several times, he met the doctors in the patient’s room, and
assisted to the drugging when he was in a crisis. One day, in the
second half of Decemiber 1916, llkoff called to his room Thomas
Zaphiroviteh's wife. The Station Officer, Laicheff, was present. In
« brutal way, they told her that it was impossible to have her hus-
band any longer in Vrania, because he was a public man and, as
«uch, must he interned, whether ill or not. Frighlened, because
<he knew what crimes they had committed before, Mrs Zaphirovilch
implored them and promised them money for allowing her husband
to remain in Vrania until he was cured ; afterwards, they could do as
they wanted. But her entreaties were vain. A few days later, ‘Tho-
mas was summoned at the barracks. At that time he was attended
lo by two Bulgarian doctors, Petkoff and Markoff, and Mrs Zaphiro-
vitch asked the latter for a certificate that her hushand was not well
cnough to go to quarter ; this document is still in her hands. Ilkoff
did not bother Thomas for a few days and asked again the wite to
come and see him, saying lo her during the conversation : « You are
vich : go with your hushand to Sofia and live there. » She underd-
tood that her husband could not stay much longer in Vrania, and
promised that as soon as Thomas would feel strong enough for the
journey, they would go. Quite aware of Bulgarian treachery, she
had a new certificate, drawn up by doctors Markoff and Petkoff,
with a view of producing “this document if a new internment order
was issued. Thomas did not leave his bed, and his cure was slow and
difficult. Te was so feeble that he eould hardly walk down the few
steps from his room into the garden, and went back immediately
to bed. Seeing him so ill, his wife hoped that the Bulgarians would
not have the cruelty to intern him, and that he would die in his
home. On the soth of January, the examining magistrate called
and said harshly : How long are you going to stay at home ?  Am I
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lo call on you for the examination ¥ He ordered Mrs Zalirovitch out,
closed the door and remained alone with Thomas. His wife never
knew what was said then. When she came back in the room, Tho-
mas was so tired and nervous that she did not ask him anything, fear-
ing a crisis, On the same day, withont notice, Major Ilkoff and his
adjunct Kraneff, with two doctors, Sapudjieff and Vassiliell, entered
Thomas room. The physicians were commissionned lo ascerlain
how ill Thomas was, as the two other doctors might have been bri-
bed. They were of opinion that the patient could be interned in
spite of the two certilicates shown by Mrs Zaphiroviteh, and although
just before, in the very presence of Ilkoff, Dr Markoff had drugged
the patient during a crisis. She begged and entreated. [t was use-
less. No pily. On January 23rd 1916, in the evening, four sold-
iers in arms, led by Sergeanl Popoff, who has been so famous, came,
and Thomas was ordered to get ready to leave. Desperate, Mrs Za-
phiroviteh eried and wepl, calling to her help the Prefect, Dr Ivan
Dimitroff, who since two weeks lived in the house, billeted in Hkolf's
apartments. To her cries, Dr Dimitroff a rrived and ordered the sol-
diers to leave Thomas alone, such doings being contrary fo Law.
« Kill him here, bul do not torture him ! » — The sergeant draw his
sabre and, furious, replied lo the Prefect : « Go back! [ do not know
you ! 1 have an order to lake him away. 1 cuta good many heads
up to now, and I can also cul his ». Mrs Zaphirovitch wanted to give
her husband warmer boots, beeause he had in his room nothing but
Lhin slippers and thin clothes. But the criminals did not allow it.
« Not one step forward | » shouled the sergeant, and brutally he took
Thomas away, not heeding his desease nor his wife's tears and des-
pair.  The next day, she went to Colonel Kalkandjieff, on whose or-
der Thomas had been arrested, and asked for mercy and also where
he was. The Colonel replied : « I took him. Go lo quarters, see
lkoff, he will tell you. » Mrs Zaphirovitch went to llkoff who said
e did not know where her husband was ; besides, he could write
(o her soon. She called on him later on a second time, and he told
her will irony : « You go to the Prefect, yon want wires being sent 1 »
So everylhing was useless, and Mrs Zaphirovitch understood that no-
body could he approached by her in the matter. Everyone swore he
knew nothing aboul il and was most eruel.

3) Statement by the widow of Thomas Mihailovitch.

On November i5th 1915, my husband had just gone out when
| 015, m just g
Bulgarian soldiers in arms entered our house and asked brutally :



Does the tradesman Thomas Mihailovitch live here ? I answered
that this house was his, and that he was not at home. In the room
were at the time our neighbour, Djoka Nikita & Ilya Denitch, an ex-
tradesman. Doubting whether one of them was or not Thomas, they
took them both with them; but on leaving the house, they met my hus-
band who had to join the group. All three were led to quarters
where, by order of the officer in command, the two first arrested were
released and Thomas kept. My children and 1 spent the night in
{ears. Having no man-servant in the house lo come with me, 1
was obliged to wait until daybreak to go for information. Very
early, I called at the officer’s office and begged of him my husband’s
liberty or, at least, to tell me why he had been arrested. He ans-
wered me that his liberty was out of the question ; on the opposite,
he would be interned because he was guilty. He showed me a pos-
ter of welcome to the Allies we expected in October, on which my
husband’s name was as member of the Organization Committee. My
husband was also to get the flags ready for street adornment, This
was his crime. I was desperate and did not know what to do. For-
tunately, General Boyadjieff came to Vrania on the 18th of the
month, I made up my mind to go and see him, explaining him the
case and asking from him my husband’s liberation. The General
received me and promised to go into the matter. By his order, Tho-
mas was set free in the evening of the 20th and sent home, but for-
bidden to leave his house. Two months elapsed. Thomas never
went out, and Bulgarian officers or men were constantly billeted in
our house. The Station Officer, Latcheff, came twice to our house
and asked the soldiers why did not Thomas go out. He added : He
must be a rebel to hide as he does. He knew that my hushand stayed
at home by order of the Town Major. My husband was therefore
in a strange predicament, not knowing what to do, in order to please
everybody. He was very much afraid of being arrested again; the first
time, all he had on him had been faken from him : watch, purse,
pocket-book, and when he was sel free, he did not have the pluck
to ask them back. In spite of all this, a sergeant and two privates
called on January 23rd to arrest my husband. In my despair, 1
begged a German Officer, a captain, living in our house, o see the
Bulgarian Town Major and intercede for my husband. Our teras
— my five children’s and mine — moved him and he went twice to
quarters, insisting on the fact that my husband had been the last two
vears trading in Belgrade and was therefore to be considered an Aus-



-._'[45_.

trian subject who had taken refuge in Vrania. But this was useless.
Tomas was deported and never saw his family again.

4) The colleclive statement I:y Mrs Djourdjevitch, Mrs Zafirovitch
and Mrs Mihailoviteh.

With our three husbands, another man, Thomas Mikitch was
arrested the same night by soldiers who pulled him out of bed. All
four were together in the Parizl school, having caten nothing, and
lightly clad although it was freczing outside. At midnight, exactly,
they were laken by soldiers, bayonet at the rifle, in the direction of
Surdulitza, along with four other eitizens of Vrania. But, seven days
afterwards, said four citizens were sent to Bulgaria meanwhile our
martyrs remained in Surdulitza where ihey have been executed. We
have this information from the inhabitants. Thomas Zaphirovitch,
M. P., and Thomas Mikilch, Judge, could not walk alone. They
were helped each by two soldiers, one under each arm. A healthy
man can- walk from Vrania to Surdulitza in five hours; but the unfor-
tunate martyrs, exhausted and ill, strained all they could to advance
slowly with terrific pains. Who knows if they had ever reached Sur-
dulitza if a German soldier, at the general request, perhaps also moved
by pity, had not received them in his supply waggon. They arrived
on January 24th, at night-fall, in the ill-fated Surdulitza, where so
many terrifying scenes, the telling of which freezes Lhe blood of civi--
lized people, took place. Our hushands were lodged at headquarters,
in a dirty, ice-cold room, with no wooden floor nor the least furni-
ture. The lice of the preceding victims and the bitter cold tortured
them. They remained lwo days without food being not yet « lis-
ted » for rations | On the tenth day, they were thrown out and kil-
led by bayonet thrusts. Thus ended their torments. We tried to
send them linen, medicine, sngar, tea and paid somebody to bring
the parcel to them. But the Surdulitza Town Major did not allow
the delivery. Later on we were told by wilnesses that our hushands
had fried to buy shirts through their guardians, but that this also
had been forbidden. They slepl on their overcoat, a stone under the
head. Thomas Zaphirovitch’s wife sent to the Town Major, through
somebody, both certificates from Doctors Markoff and Petkoff, asking
him to free her husband for illness. But her petition was rejected.
When Thomas Zaphirovitch was led out for®his execution, he was so
exhausted that he fell on the threshold of the inside door and was
killed there. He could not go further. Surdulitza citizens say that
the three others were bayoneted in a valley, not far from the town.

10
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N° 46

REPORT ON BULGARTAN ATROCITIES THE REGION
OF LESKOVATS

There is not one home, in the Turekovatz Parish, which did not
complain to me, during my inquiry, of the cruel and criminal Bul-
garian rule they suffered from during the three years the enemy occu-
pied the territory. [ heard officially only 250 people in this Parish,
bul the facts revealed are quite sufficient for a positive indictment
against the mereiless system applied by Bulgarian Authorities. The
culprits are not individuals acting stealthily, but civilians or soldiers
of all rank and condition committing officially or privately all cri-
mes — pillage, theft, rape, ill-trealments and torlures — as a matter
of-course, on the recognized principle than Bulgarian rulers can do
whal they please with a subdued population. Nevertheless, I will
name all those T could identify.

Turekovatz village, seat of the local tribunal for the 12 villages
of the Parish, is about 2 miles distant from Leskovatz, left of the
road running to Lebane. Geographical position opened it from the
onset to invasion, and, in fact, from the firet to the last day of Serb-
ian slavery, terrorism has been most violent there. Three times, it
was the prey of flames ; everybody, including old people, children
and women was swepl with sticks and the butt of rifles oufside the
village, meanwhile the Bulgarian soldiers set fire on order lo the
houses, barns and sheds. All real and personal estate of the well-
jo-do peasants, who had founded their little wealth on indefatigable
labour and the vicinity to town, the natural riches being thus worked
to the utmost, was annihilated. All concievable means were em-
ployed by the Bulgarians to pillage, ruin and destroy this resourceful
place. And the poor people, reduced to slavery, were defenceless.

A poor old man, Kosta Tassitech, of Turekovalz, was searched
coveral times and tecovered his freedom by money. The last coins
he had pot aside, were extorted from him in the most barbarous way.
One evening six men struck him with the butt of their rifles and
ordered his grandson, aged 16, to get a fire ready. They then put
{he old man near the flames and burnt his right side until he had
given his last bil of money.

By similar tortures, bul mostly with the aid of a big stick only,
or of an oxnerve cudgel, or simply of the butt of the rifle, the follo-

\
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wing were pillaged : Marian Mitroviteh; Stanko Ivanovitch (8o years
o]d) his wife and his daughter-in-law; bvolumr Blagoyevileh; Sanda(
wife of Mika Yeuemmlt{,]l Tanka, w rfc of Givane Stankovileh; Nata-
liya, wife of Toma ;\lf!ks[tc]n, Deka, wife of Gorlecha Yanitch and her
sister-in-law, Perka, who died under the blows received ; Keva, wife
of Duchan Stankoviteh; Stanko Marinkovileh, the neck of whom was
tacerated with a knife, and his brother Todor; Iliva Andrevevitch (80
vears), Stanko Andjelkovitch, Gortcha Pechitch, Govko Mitich,
Traiko Michitch, Sanda, mother of Givane Ilitch.  All these were mer-
eilessly beaten and pillaged without the least cause for it by Bulgar-
ians passing trough the place, the names of whom are unknown.
They used to come in groups of three to twenly soldiers, at any time
of the day, and struck the inhabitants with sticks, oxnerve cud-
gels and the like, or the bult of their rifles, as< long as the vietim
stood the blows. Such abuse had grown into a real habit, and the
peasants used to say that it was a Bulgarian way of greeting the Serbs
good morning or good night.

Such terrorism was folerated and even made use of by the Mayor
of the Parish, Dimiltriye Tavradziva, of Trn, by Dimitrive Ardaloy,
of Kariovata, by Lieutenant Krsta Phillipoy, by 2nd Lieutenant Iva-
nov, of the 17th Company. And did anybody complain of these five
L!l[Illl]d[‘s, bvdlmcv took place afterwards on the least opportunity.
Yovka, wife of \wllko Zlalanovitch having refused to give a hen for
nothing, was atrociously beaten ; Sanda, \\110 of Mika Yovanovitch,
because she would nol give a pair of stockings ; Dinka Stankoviteh,
for taking bread to her son, aged 16, Miloche, who was in prison and
murdered the next day ; '\hia Saviteh, aged 78, for laking his cat-
tle out to his own fields ; ; Todor Tlitch, because his ]ﬂr}llg‘h was bro-
ken : ; Stoyane Milenkovilch, because his chariol broke in work hours ;
Mllan ’\Iau_nko\ltch, h{-.:.-a.u_e his animals did not walk quick enough
(on complaining, he was beaten too by the judge and the Bulgarian
gendarme until the blood flowed from his mouth). Cruelly beaten
also Svetozar Blagoyevitch's mother for protecting her cows same-
hody wanted to take away ; Yovan Mladenoviteh (who died from the
blows received) for laking Lis sister-in-law’s defence ; Djordje Milko-
vitch and Vida, wife of Dimitrie Zlatanovitch, for refusing to give a
lamb. Rista Krstiteh's daughter, Ljubitza, aged 12, was violated four
times because she did nol guard callle prope rJ\. Bojana Stando-
vitch, the same, for a lamb, and Djordje Mikovitch was bealen because
the only pig he had left was not fat enough. Stoyko Stanoievitch
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himsell harshly beaten for being late at a fatigue, oxen having to
be led somewhere.

This fatigue, to take the oxen out, and also the obligation to be
on guard, were often siratagems to rob the people of their money
or of their cattle. And in such cases, the victims were struck, too,
as happened to Yovan Markovitch, Krsta Stoikovitch (whose father
was robbed or 150 gold coins of 26 franes each and of his silver watch
and killed), Petar Ilitch, Yossif Yovanovitch.

Such fatigues were imagined mostly by Dimitrie Tafradziya,
Mayor of the Parish, but this even was too much trouble, and later,
he simplified his method. e required moncey. and those who could
not bring any, were threatened of special fatigues, of death, of intern-
mnent or of being sent to the Town Major of the District. We can
say that one inhabitant out of two, in this village, was robbed in
this fashion.

Besides all the above crimes in Turekovalz or Petrovatz — arson,
tortures, stickbeating, pillage, robbery — the Bulgarians are guilty
of raping innocent and defenceless women. Roska, wife of Traiko
Philippovitch, stales : « One night, six Bulgarian soldiers entered
our house, in which I was with my daughter-in-law, a young and
beautiful woman. The six of them violated her, each in his turn,
and bealed me because I look her defence. My danghter-in-law left
my house and took refuge at her father’s, in another village. The
next day, two more soldiers called and wanted to see my daughter-
in-law, being sent, very likely by the six. They searched all the
house and, nol finding her, threw themselves on me, already an
old woman, doing both of them violently what they had come for. »
Keva, wife of Stevan Dimitriyevitch, was beaten at the very time her
daughter-in-law Timka was raped. The following women have now
venereal deseases from having been assaulted by soldiers : Nikola Di-
mitrivevitch’'s daughter, of Karadjordjevatz ; Roska Stochiteh, of
Relanovatz ; Miloika, wife of Rista Zlatkovitch ; Draga, aged 16,
daughter of Tzveta Yolzich, of Belanovitz, and also the latter’s daugh-
ter-in-law. The daughter and daughter-in-law of Miloche Stanoie-
vitch of Tarnitza, were obliged to follow the Bulgarian soldiers in
their march and work through the foresis : also Stoianka Krstitcheva
and Gouga, wife of Djordje Stoikovitch.

When the women defended themselves, the Bulgarians used to
beat them with the butt of their rifles, or stuck their knives under
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their nails. Many women are mad from these tortures : Staniya,
wife of Ivan Petrovitch, and Liubitza, wife of Laza Petrovilch. In
the statement made the day before by Yephimilia Stamenkovitch, a
startling example of it is found : « 1 had two children, Todor, a son
25 years old killed under my eyes, and a daughter Militza, aged 20.
She was the most heautiful of all the girls in the village. One day,
they wanted to get at her and used violence ; she took refuge near
me, crying : Take care of me, Mamma ! The Bulgarians struck both
of us, Lo separate the one from the other, but we clung together.
My daughter died under their blows, and I am now alone in the
world. »
The following were killed by tortures, or shot :

I. Shot : The 17 year old son of Mitar Mitchitch, ex M. P.
for Turekovatz : Miloche, son of Dimitrie Stanoyevitch ; the nephew
of Marian Mitrovitch, Traiko ; Duchan and Harahimpie, brothers of
Svetozar Blagoyevitch ; Ilia, son of Yovan Stoilkovitch ; Duchan Sta-
menkovitch, aged o4 ; Mirko, aged 21, son of Sotir Krstitch-all of
Turekovatz. Bojidare, aged 16, nephew of Traiko Todovitch ; Petar
Yovitch, of D. Trnyane ; Traiko Ilitch, of G. Trnyane ; Todor, aged
25, son of Yephimilia Stamenkovitch, of G. Trnyane.

5. — Assassinated : Kostadine Lazarevitch, of G. Stupagne ; Pro-
kope Philippovitch, of G. Stupagne ; Prokope Tzvetkovitch and his
<on Nikolas, of G. Stupagne ; Stoian Djordjeviich and his son Dra-
kope Philippovitch, of G. Stupagne; Stoian Djordjevitch and his
son Dragutin, aged 17, also his brother, Yovan, all three of G. Stupa-
gne ; Mladen Djordjevitch, of G. Stupagne ; Slavko Tzvetkovitch, of
G. Stupagne ; Djuro Tzvetkovitch, of G. Stupagne ; the son of Milia
Liubenovitch, aged 30, of D. Stupagne ; Tchirko Petrovitch, of Pe-
rovitza ; Stoina, wife of Milovan Petrovitch ; Andjel Stoshitch, of
Dushanovo ; Yovan Stamenkovitch, of Drenovo ; Seraphilje, son of
Nikolas Yovanoviteh, of Kaludjerovalz; Zlato Zlatkovitch and his
two sons, Rista and Stanoiko, of Kaludjerovatz ; Stanoiko Stanoye-
viteh, of Urotitza ; Nedeliko Simitch, of Milianovo ; Vuskatiya Miluti-
novitch, of Uramatz ; Petar, aged 17, son of Done Stanoievitch, of
Uramatz ; Stanoie Stamenkovitch and his son, Kosta, of Milianovo ;
Randjel Nikolitch, of Milianovo ; Tzvetko Mischitch, of Milianovo ;
the son of Tzveta Yoltzitch, aged 13, of Belanovalz ; Dragomir Mar-
kovitch, of Belanovatz ; Traiko Markovitch, of Belanovatz.

From information received by the Sub-Prefect, 85 people died
from blows received, '
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The culprits of above crimes are numerous ; the names or other
information are not always obtainable, but here follow a few of the
well known eriminals : Lientenant Djordje Pop Ivanov, of Sofia;
Corporal Parcharov ; Stevan Malchkov, Bulgarian Comitadji ; Naltcha
Daskalov, of Peruchnitza ; a Corporal from the 1st Territorial Regi-
ment of Sofia Division, named Dimitrive Ardolov, of Karnobat ; gen-
darme (policeman) Stevan Sokolov, of Trn : Yordan Gueorguiev ; Ma-
rinov ; Yanatchko Daskalov, schoolteacher of Peruchmnitza ; Lieute-
nant Krsto Philipov ; and Lieutenant Kutchev ; and the Mayoy, Dimi-
iriye Tavradziya, of Trn.

Inquiry made by.
Professor Miloche Dimitrivevitch.

IN® 47

REPORT ON THE CRIMES COMMITTED BY BULGARIANS
; IN DOIRAN CANTON
DOTRAN

When the Bulgarians enlered Doiran, on November agth 1915,
they found in the town inhabitants of the neigbouring villages also.
As soon as a week after their installation, they searched all Serbian
homes for arms, books and also the flour the citizens had received
from the Distriet’s depot, Whoever was found with flour at home
was immedialely arrested and often beaten. According to Tano Mito-
viteh's statement, this was the real motive of his arrest.  The Serbian
books which were found in the gymnasium, in the Normal School
and in the Reading Room were thrown into the street by soldiers,
and lost.

Besides the above, Bulgarians hegan commandeering from the
citizens stoves and beds, according o what says Annelta, wife of Nico-
las Tchirich, in whose house they took a stove and a bed. From
houses, not inhabited because of the evacuation, the furniture was
taken away without the least atlention : this happened in the houses
of Stoian Andonovitch, tradesman and Mavor of Doiran, of Miroslav
Stoianoviteh, Sergeant of the Customs Forces, of Milan Maisner, Prin-
eipal of the Gymnasium. This was done indistinetly in all houses in
which Serbian State Employees had lived,
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Many people protested, bul to no avail. All furniture from the
Gymnasium, Normal School and also from the private flats of the State
or Municipal employees were publicly sent from Doiran and sold
by auction in Valandovo or exported to Bulgaria. on order received
from Kitchov. Director of the Exchequer. All the population was
<till in town when the demolition of Doiran began. The Bulgarian
soldiers first pulled down the houses abandoned by Mohammedans,
using the stones and other material for building underground pas-
sages, trenches and shelters. When the Austro-Germans arrived, the
owners of all houses but the liny ones were compelled to sell them
for the same use, Hussin Effendi and Mita Tassiteh, born in Doiran,
can prove it. -

All Doiran inhabitants were deported. First, twenty families,
of patriarcal standing, were inferned, and also a few mohammedans
such as Medime-bey, Mehmed Abdulovitch, Zia Djemalovitch.  Zikri
Alilovitch, mentioning what has just been related, asserts that the
Bulgarian authorities did not even try 1o explain the motives of such
internments. As a rule, people were arrested al home and sent to
prison ; later on, they were escorted by police to some destinalion
without having had time to take leave from family or take the most
needful with them. Zia Djemalovitch was condemned 1o hard labour
and worked with 2000 Serbian prisoners, breaking stones for road-
building. This man suffered from hunger, and says everybody else
did, too, especially the prisoners who, besides were left withoul shoes
and garments. The above named were interned in the spring 1916.

Later, on Major Bossian’s order. all other inhabitants were infor-
med by drummiers that they had to leave town within a few days, a
hig battle being expected.

The people not :howing much haste in executing this order,
were again enjoined to leave. taking with them but the most neces-
sary things, all the rest was lo be packed and put in the cellars, the
churches or special deposit places, when the owners could find par-
cels on their return, which was to take place about ten days after-
wards, Soldiers and a few Doiran citizens had to take care of all
these things. According to Hussin Effendi. Polidevka Vassilievitch
and Dimitrie Nakovitch, who were heard officially in the matter, the
Bulgarian Authorities sent the people away to get rid of witnesses of
the inlended pillage and pulling down of houses. Zikri Alilovitch
says that two or three weeks afterwards, the Town Major allowed a
tew Doiran citizens to check the parcels stored. They saw that a
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good many were missing, and looking into a few houses near the buil-
dings where the military and civil guard was lodoed, found them
entirely plundered, for instance those belonging to Magda, widow of
Priest Risto Tchokmakovitch, and to Zikri Alilovilch. The citizens
of Furka and Valandovo say that Bulgarian soldiers sold publicly
various things they got in the pillage of Doiran,

The people from Doiran were deported in various directions
in the ht‘nfmnmu, Kavadar and Nogotin (Tikvesh) where children
could not endure the sufferings and died wholesale — according to
statement made by Anneta, wife of Nicolas Tehiriteh, huml:ed of
them perished in lhese two places. Another '{m‘{ of the population
was interned in Serbia — Vlassotintse, Nich et Pirot, 25 families in
each of these three lowns. But most of the people had to go to Stru-
initza, and a few scatlered in various Serbian and Bulgarian towns.
All these deportations took place wilhin len days, abnul St George's
day, in 1g16.

In the same year aboul St Elie’s day, Doiran was set on fire afler
sending away the civil guard and gelting from the houses all building
material — also of course all the articles which had escaped the pre-
ceding pillage. Hussine Effendi and Zikri Alilovitch were told by
Bnlnfmcm soldiers themselves that Doiran was set on fire by the Bul-
garians.  Said lwo witnesses looked at the flames from Vessili village,
near Valandovo. It was like burning waves devouring Doiran.
According fo some inhabitants, all was burni in one night.

When the Doiran inhabitants were deported by groups, the au-
thorities fold them they were not allowed to take any food with them,
and that the State would provide for their rations. But several days
clapsed before they received even a piece of bread. The mothers
were obliged to gather wild herbs and roots to keep the children alive.

When on mal(h, though, a smmall quantity of bread was served
out now and then. On the way, a carriage was overturned and kil-
fed Katarina Karaovitch, wounding two more people. Dimitrie Ya-
malievitch died on the way.

During the short stay of Bulgarians and Germans in Doiran,
these ordered a good many arrests. On neufral territory, Pataros,
Akandjeli and Brest, they caught all the people who were ruled by
Doiran authorilies, unr‘h as Rista Nanovitch, Inspeclor of Police,
356 years; Pelar Tankuchevitch, shoemaker, 3o vears; Dimitrie Usuno-
vitch, tradesman, 35 years ; Dlmltl ie Peikovitch ; ; Kosta Bovadjievitch
& Jussuf, belonging to the village of Bachabos. They were all accu-
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sed of being spies, and, after their arrest, were tortured hefore being
hung in Prilep. At the time of the Doiran deportations, Katarina,
wife of Kosta Boyadjievitch was also arrested by the Bulgarians. She
had to abandon the infant of hers she was nursing, and went to
Prilep.

From picturesque Doiran of the thousand houses, nothing is left
but a few crumbling walls, Wild herbs and thorns grow on the site
of the once happy homes, and the inhabitants can hardly find where
the house was in which they lived contented so may years,

VALANDOVO

Hardly one third of the once so beautiful Valandovo village does
exist now. Trade was pretty brisk there, and future prospects most
encouraging. The surroundings are picturesque. And now, the
fine houses are nothing bul a heap of ruins and cinders. Three days
before the Bulgarians retreated from the region, they ordered strictly
all the inhabitants to leave immediately the village. These not obey-
ing quick enough, coercion was employed. Many fled to the moun-
tains, at the risk of losing all their property. From there, they heard
the songs and accompaniment of Bulgarian troops enjoying them-
selves in the houses three consecutive days. And, then, large flames
issued from the village and leaped to the sky, saddening and terri-
fying the hearts of the Valandovo people who saw all they had the
prey of these flames. Many families were ruined, and have no shel-
ter for the days to come. Seyeral groups of inhabitants were depor-
ted either for internment or compulsory enlistment.

Andon Atanasovitch, aged 38, born in Valandovo, says : Before
the arrival of the Bulgarian Army in Valandovo, he was in Doiran,
and came back to his village five or six days afterwards, but the
enemy had demolished his house and pillaged all that was in il. He
had nothing left. On January 1gth he was summoned with Nano
Nakovitch, father of Risto Nanovitch, of Valandovo, and Mitar Djord-
jevitch to appear before the Bulgarian authorities, and without being
given time to get ready, all three were sent under escort to Strumitza
and imprisoned. Later on, they were interned in Sliven and had to
do the same work as people condemned to hard labour. They have
been ill-used, especially Andon Atanassovitch and Mitar D jordjevitch.
Father Nano, 75 years old, exhausted, had been left on the Petritch
road wilth one of the escorting soldiers. His fellow-citizens having
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tried to help him were pushed on with the butt of the rifles, receiv-
ing hard blows. They were told in Petritch, before arriving at the
internment camp, that old Nano had died. But it is believed by most
that he was killed. :

Near Sliven, in the concentration camp where the soldiers led
them, they found about forty Serbian priests and many officers and
other ranks. Al a time, epidemies spread, and about ten people died
every day. The sick had no attendance, and half living soldiers
have been buried. Onee, seeing a young man showing still signs of
life being buried, the interned and prisoners present protested. The
burial was postponed and said young fellow recovered his health.

Mita Andonoviteh, aged 4o, born in Valandovo reports that he

was compelled by the Bulgarian authorities lo go from home with six

more fellow-citizens, in February 1g17, for inlernment. But instead
of this, they were taken to the Macedonian Complementary Regi-
ment, in Uskub. Two months afterwards, o more Macedonians
joined them, and among these were several men from Doiran too.
A few escaped in the mountains ; others refused fo receive their arms.
The day the armistice was signed, witness was in Kumanovo with 150
of his comrades.

~ Sava, 43 years of age, wife of Nicolas Dontchevitch, of Valan-
dovo, was imprisoned 20 days end of January and beginuing of Fe-
bruary, for leze-majesty. She was examined several limes, and
threatened with 3 years imprisonment and even death at the gallows
or by a firing squad if it was proven that she had been slandering
Tzar Ferdinand. Having offered to call witnesses she was released.
She relates that she saw in prison a Mohammedan woman with an
infant at her breast who was there because her husband had left with
the Serbs. Fifteen to twenty Valandovo families were interned.
Forty houses put on fire. The Civil Cemetery, near the Church has
suffered a good deal. The tombs of the victims of the Bulgarian
(lomiladjis raid, which took place on Good Friday rgib have been
razed 1o the ground, On the very sport, the German and Bulgarian
Cemetery has been laid and enclosed with uneven walls ; the tombs
have large stones with inscriptions.

PIRAVA

From Kossantchitch (Vrania Department) where he was school-
teacher, Risto Djordjevitch, born in Pirava, aged 38, was led to
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Nich on hard labour. On December 20th 1915, he was arrested as
spy and sent, 1o days later, lo Veles. But the Bulgarian Authorities
had to release him on March 8th 1916. He stayed some time in
Kavadar, as Parish Hall Secretary, then was interned and accused of
having written to Serbian dignitaries for help at the time of the Va-
landovo rebellion. He was also suspected of having galhered opium
from the fields of several Mohammedans who were sent lo Bulgaria
after the raid made on Good Friday. He was released on November
18th 1918 only. During detention, the Bulgarian authorities took
all his furniture, and his father, 6o year old, was compelled to do fati-
oue work, every day. :

Commandeering in the villages was made without account being
‘taken of the food necessary to the owners. All men from 18 to 4o
have been compulsorily sent to the Army -— about one hundred in
Pirava village. Two houses only were burnt down.

ARAZLI

Mustapha Chabanovitch, 35 years old, of Arazli Village, says
that the Mayor of this Parish, Taipe Alilovitch was ill-used by the
Bulgarian soldiers — among whom was the officer in command, a
snd Lieutenanl — for not giving chickens not belonging to him. He
was lied up and taken into the Pojar mountains, where he received
blow after blow and had his throal squeezed meanwhile.  All the mo-
ney he had on him, 3oo francs, was stolen. He could escape, other-
wise, he would have been murdered.

Issim Chabanovitch says : Women and children had to do fati-
gue work for road repairs — Arazli-Lipovik main road — not receiv-
ing any food nor money for it. They had to gather herbs and roots
{0 feed on. At work, they were constantly ill-treated by the soldiers.
The officer in command ordered even the <oldiers lo pull away the
veil covering the face of women.

Dalipe Chabanovitch was inlerned one of the first in 1915. He
was accused of haying been friendly to the Serbs. Besides, he had
been Mayor of Arazli. He was not allowed to take leave from his
family.

All the books in Serbian had to be delivered to the authorities.

After the raid of 1915, made by the Bulgarian Comitadjis on
(Good Friday, the population had built near Strumitza station a small
chapel to commemorate the men who fell in the fight. And each
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tomb was besides something like a monument. The Bulgarians des-
troyed the chapel as soon as they arrived, the cemetery was devas-
tated and, on the site, military df‘p()ib were built with the material
they gol frum the chapel. Nothing but ruins can be seen to-day.

As reprisals of the Bulgarian military authorities, the gardens not
only of the Mohammedans who were sent to Bulgaria on the day
of the raid, but also of the onlookers have been given 1o soldiers with
everything in them. The wronged parties having complained, they
were told that it could not be done otherwisse in war-limes.

Commandeering started just after their arrival in the Parish,
food in general, catile, grapes, cotton, wool, etc... being taken ; some-
times a receipt was given, but very often all was taken by sheer force.
Vintagetime being near, the peasants were told that they would not be
allowed to gather the grapes if they did not promise to sell the wine
at an exceedingly cheap price. By this stratagem, more than rbo.0oo
measures of grapes were spoilt in 19156. Everywhere wheat has
been commandeered, the owner not lo retain more than was scantily
necessary to keep alive. The poor had nothing to eat and were com-
pelled to go nightly to friends and beg for a litlle wheat. In the day-
time, all wheat on view would have been confiscated. Damages to
the Parish only from such commandeering amounts to /}00.000
francs.

In the various villages of the Parish, a good many houses were
destroyed :

In Arazli village, out of 70 houses, 25 only are standing now.

In Ekchisse village, out of 12 houses, 1 only is standing now.

In Barakli village, out of 120 houses, 111 only are standing now.

In Plavuch village, out of 250 houses, 8 only are standing now.

In Djuldeli village, out of fo houses, 20 only are standing now.

In Udovo village, out of 130 ouses, 43 only are standing now.

In Vessili village, the Bulgarian soldiers pulled down the mos-
que. The population tried to resist and was fired upon.

On property belonging to Mohammedan Churches, 15.000 ma-
ples 10 or 12 inches in diameter were cut. Arsa Konstantinovitch,
born in Gradetz asserts that Bulgarian authorities enjoined the Pa-
rishes to partake of the Bu]gmmn National Festivities, and gifts were
extorted from the inhabitanis for Bulgarian soldiers. Same wilness
complains that his house was p:llagvd because he was acting for the
Mayor and refused to go over to Bulgaria with the troops. He was
accused of planning to deliver the Parich Hall o the enemy. He esca-
ped with much trouble, nightly, to Arazli with this fdrml}.
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BACHALI VILLAGE

According lo the declarations of Mustapha Alil, Alil Alilovitch
and Sadik Osman, 42 houses out of the 72 of this village were pulled
down by Bulgarians. The Chief of the village says that commandee-
ring was done more like pillage, whether food, cattle or chariots, etc...
were taken away. To such an extent was it done that the inhabitants
had to buy back stealthily from the soldiers enough food to live on.
Women were doing hard labour work, and mereover, beaten and ill-
used in all ways. Their veil was pulled off, and their breast bared.

PLAVUCH VILLAGE

Memed Assanovitch, Parish Councillor, and Mustapha Alilovitch,
both born in Plavuch state that the Bulgarian authorities had all
building material, brought from the houses pulled down, carried
either on chariots or else by Serbian prisoners. During the Bulgar-
ian Comitadjis’ raid of 1915, a good many families were deported to
Bulgaria, and about fifteen only came back home. The things com-
mandeered have not been paid for. The inhabitants were turned
away from their houses to billet the troops. Same thing at the mill
near Valandovo. Having taken all food from the inhabitants, these
were receiving but very irregularly flour and other rations. In
1916, the population had to work on the Valandova-Kosturno road.

FURKA VILLAGE

The agreable little Furka village is on table-land at the crossing
of roads going to Doiran, Guevgueli and Strumitza. The ridges near
by were abundantly wooded. Vineyards and mulberryirees were
widespread. The clean streets and the tidy houses conveyed an im-
pression of richness. Before the War, the village had 8o houses, a
school and two churches, an old one and another. When the Bul-
garians retreated, no trees were left on the ridge, and the vineyards
were reduced to a few dried up stocks. Mulberry-trees were few also,
and battered. One third of the houses had been destroyed by fire or
pulled down. The tombs around the Church were in bad condition,
the monuments and chapels having been razed to the ground. The



— 158 —

inscription on the old Church was torn away, and the new one had
heen put on fire.

The populalion of the village had fled to Doiran before the Bul-
carians arrived, But an order was issued to go back to the village.
On returning, no shelter could be found by the inhabitants, the
lroops having been billeled in nearly all houses. Soon after, the
Bulgarians starled ill-using and bothering many families on the sus-
picion they were Serbs, or Serbian spies, or supporters of the Patriar-
chate Everybody who under Serbian domination had been a
Mayor or only Field policeman, was prosecuted. Yelena, widow of
Teokar Savovitch, aged 36, was ill-treated because her late husband
was a well-known Serb before 1912, having beén Killed by Bulgarians
in the first Balkanic War. With a view to annihilate complelely all
the late Teokar's family, they kepl on harassing the widow and the
defenceless children. On New Year rgi6, her calvary began. She
was summoned to appear to inform on the disappearance of her bro-
ther, an ex-Serbian gendarme, and of her son, who left the country
wilh the Serbian Army. Later on, she was accused of having stayed
in the village to gpy. In the night, at any hour, Bulgarian soldiers,
led by a Turk serving in the Austrian Army, entered her house, requi-
ring young girls to satisfy their vices. They used to strike her with

the butt of their rifles, threatening her with knives, and the children,

{rightened to death, cried all the time. Once, they took her away
from her home and dragged her through the village until daybreak.
Al each step, they slopped to menace her with their knives on her
throat. In one night, she was struck more than bo times with the
butt of rifles.

The first Monday of 1916 Lent, all the inhabilants assembled by *
order in the Church, where the Bulgarians made two groups of
thern @ on one side, those who were thought friendly to them, and on
ihe other, the Serbs or Greeks (Patriarchists). In this way, the list
of suspects was made. A cross showed the Serbs, and their houses
too had the same mark for a future vengeance. Aunstrian officers did
this selection, The above named Yelena was there. On leaving the
churech, she was lied up with thirty more people and escorted to
Doiran. All this was done in such a cruel fashion that they all
thought to be executed immediately. The children cried, running
after their fathers and mothers ; the soldiers took them violently from
their parents’ side, making them stand far away. In Doiran, the
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examinalion of the prisoners took a forinight, éach one appearing
several times.

The object was lo condemn them as Serbian spies, and the exa-
mination continued in Valandovo, from which place the men were
sent to Strumitza and thus separated from the women who were escor-
ted back to Doiran and Furka. In the last named village, they wenl
from one place lo another for two whole days, spending Lhe night
in prison under guard, On the third day, they left for internment.
With the above named Yelena was also Yelena wife of Bazyle Afana-
sovitch, whose father was killed by Bulgarians in 1913, also Menka,
wife of Lazarus Stoikoviteh and many others, and all endured the
same sufferings as Yelena. They were altogether : 8 children, 3 men
and 20 women or girls, the oldest and most exhausted of all being
Menka, wife of Lazarus Stoikovitch. She fell so ill from hat treal-
ments that the other women were obliged to carry her. For eight
days, they remained without a bit of bread because they had been
forbidden to take with them anything whatever. Only on reaching
Pirol they could buy some bread stealthily. Menka, at the end of
her vital powers, died in the train taking the group to Sofia.

Said group was put in a concenfration camp, near Sliven. One
shed only was allotted to all of them. In this camp were also Serh-
jan officers and men, prisoners, and also a girl from Prokuplie, all
alone. The sentries were especially striet toward prisoners - did
anyone of them go out at night for physical necessiiies, he was fired
upon and killed. In such circumstances did our group live five
months. Later on, they were allowed to work for a living, control-
led by the authorities. Lazar Stoikovitch, aged 65, who was in this
group, says as follows :

The day before Epiphany, in 1916, a Bulgarian N. G. 0. called
al his house, in Furka, ordering the accompanying soldiers to take
him, not allowing him even lo get ready for a journey. The next
morning, he was escorled with two more citizens of this village,
Theodor Savovitch and Theodor Avistovitch to Strumilza first, and to
Sofia afterwards. They walked twelve days lo reach this Capilal,
where they remained 68 days in prison, inder gnard. They appea-
red several times before the Officer in command of the Place, whose
aid de camp whipped them with his riding stick because they ans-
wered they were Serbian subjects. Old Theodor Savoviteh fell under
the whipping, but this did not stop the officer who battered him with
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‘his feet all over, the General Officer in Command looking impassi-
vely all the time.

The first visit they had in prison was Dr. Valefl’s, a lawyer, who
offered to have them released for 150 francs, each. They gave the
money, but remained in prison. Then came Kosta Nicoloff, of Rucht-
chuk, promising the same for 130 francs each. The price was again
paid, but they did not get out of jail. After two months, they were
sent to Krdjali, for faticue work, but some time later, Aristovitch was
laken to Uskub, and received in a group of 8o or go men between
20 and fo years of age, for compulsory enlistment in the Comple-
mentary Macedonian Regiment. All these men came from the dis-
(ricls which had been but a few years before liberated by Serbia.
On being visited by military doctors, he was declared unfit for active
service and released, with a pass for home.

But not long after his return, Aristirovitch was again arrested.
Caplain Tochoff visited him in the prison and, stopping his invec-
tives, struck him with his horse-stick on the head, back and kness for
the most futile reason. Aristiroviteh was ill from it threes days, una-
ble to move. He was then sent again to the Complementary Regi-
ment and served in Dedeli for the transportation of supplies.

Aristirovitch was often sick because of the blows he had recei-
ved. Even now, he coughs and his knees are swollen. He was at the
end allowed 1o appear before the Medical Council, in Nich, and sent
to Sofia Military Hospital ; but transfered to Pleven (where he was
still when the armistice has been signed) to make room for others.
When leaving the hospital, he received a document showing he was
born in Sliven, and had lo go there on being released from the Army.

Lazarus Stoikovitch, who narrates all these details, was set free
some day and allowed to leave Krdjali for home. But the document
handed over to him stated that he was a Serbian priconer, so that
three days after his return in Furka, he was arrested again, and all
hkis family with him, for internment. He arrived in Sliven, but his
wife died in the train in Sofia. He lost a young son in Sliven.

Besides above group, another one of 30 people was taken from
Furka on St. Elie’s day, in 1916 ; among them were 10 little children
Irom 2 fo 1o years, and 6 boys, the rest women and girls. They
were all interned in Kneja, Orehovo District, Vratchani Department.
All interned there could go where they pleased, but had to work or
pay for their living.
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KAZANDOL VILLAGE

According to evidence by the inhabitants, Bulgarian soldiers
assassinated in the night, when the Bulgarian Army retreated from
Doiran District, a man called Redjepe Chabanovitch, of Kazandol.

NICOLITCH VILLAGE

This village, on the shore of Doiran lake, is nothing but cinders
and ruins. The Bulgarians destroyed, too, Vogovetz village.

When the war was declared, Doiran District had about 30.000
inhabitants. The populatlion, dispersed, driven or taken away by
Bulgarian rule and exactions, is now 5.000 only.

Inquriy made by M. Y. MAIZNER,
Principal of the Doiran Gymnasium (College).

IN° 48
RESULTS OF INQUIRIES MADE IN PROKUPLIE DISTRICT
(Toplitsa Department)

From general information summarily received, the Bulgarians
committed during occupalion :

I. — ASSASSINATIONS
@) by arms, on j00 people.
b) by bastinadoes, on 156 people.
¢) by hanging, on 71 people.
Besides, 31 people were burnt alive (26 in a large caldron, and
5 trown into a fire).

2. — RAPES
264 women and girls were oulraged.
3. — DESTRUCTIONS

3.200 houses and other buildings were burnt.
1"
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4. — VIOLENCES

4.800 people were struck on the naked body, and 25 people on
the head.

5. — EXTORSIONS AND PILLAGE

Money extorted and damage done to private property amount al
least lo 20.000.000 francs.

N° 49

DEPOSITION by DARA POPOVITCH, dauhter of
POPE KALITCIIANIN, of GORNIA KONIUCHA (Aged 24)

On Circumcision Day, in 1918, voivod Gavril Stoiloff summoned
me to his place, and 4 soldiers took us then to prison, my two younger
sisters and I. In the afternoon, accompanied by a soldier, I came
back to the voivod's where, for the first time, I saw a woman being
beaten. I do not know her name, bul she was from Prekadin vil-
lage. Her face, covered with mud, was full of blood; her clothing
was in rags and around her in the mud, fragments of cloth and
clumps of hair were scattered.

The voivod asked me fo tell who hid the Serbian comifadjis,
and where they could be. Having nothing to answer, 1 kept silent.
He insisted and told me to go and fetch them myself. 1 said this
was impossible, because I did not know where ihey hid. The soldiers
seized me then, threw me on the floor, and the voivod, with a bar in
the hand, struck me cruelly until he was tired. Ten soldiers held
mie to prevent me from moving. e asked me then again to tell him
about the comitadjis, and, again, I did not answer. The soldiers
undressed me, threw me on the ground and struck me with moist
ropes. Having made no confession nor acknowledgment, I was relea-
sed after this and allowed to go home.

My two sisters also were beaten. Inossava, aged 16, was undres-
sed and struck with moist ropes ; Milza, aged 14 was slruck first
with a stick and afterwards with ropes. Her throat was squeezed to
the point that she was nearly sirangled. Both could hardly walk
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home, and on arriving there, swooned and several hours elapsed
before they came back to life.

On the following day Bulgarian Soldiers assembled all the
inhabitants of the village. | was there, but not my sisters, and
soldiers fetched them, and mother too, who was ill. Gavril, the
voivod, asked us to show who the principal criminal was. Leka
Milossavlyevitch, kmet of Kognucha, pointed to me and said :  « [lere
is the most guilty of all. She has rifles. She hides comitadjis. »
I confessed then I had a rifle, a revolver and bullets. [ went for this
and delivered it all to them. As to the cornitadjis, I said I had
been ten days with them in the forest, because I was afraid of the
Bulgarian soldiers of the 25th. regiment who were sent to repress
the rebellion, and commilted alrocions erimes. [ followed the comi-
tadjis when they retired to the woods, but came back ten days after-
wards, when I got over my fright.

Voivod Gavril ordered me to go to the forest and find there the
_chief of the comitadjis, Radissav Tochitch, adding that I knew very
well where he was. 1 answered him that after having been tortured
the day before, T was too weak to go. But he told me he would have
iny mother skinned alive if I did not obey. Nothing else could be
done but go. On that day, Gavril struck many inhabitanis in the
-village, among others, I remember Milya, wife of Petar Kalilchanin,
being beaten. First she was struck with a stick, then undressed and
beaten with ropes, one of them being also put round her neck. She
was dragged thus in the mud, receiving blows all the time. The suf-
fering made her open her mouth wide, and they introduced into il
dogs’ paws. Her throat bled from knife thrusts. When she went
back home, half dead, soldiers pursued her, stoning her. She fell
everytime a stone hit her, and got up painfully. She succeeded in
getling home.

On the next day, I left with Gavril and his Company looking for
the comitadjis. Before we went, the voivod sent ten soldiers to my
home who gave my mother a most cruel beating, using sticks. They
threw her, too, down the staircase, and a knife was introduced in her
mouth. They asked her at he same to deliver the wheat of the
comitadjis. We reached Diuchnitze village, Kognucha district,
where (Gavril ordered all inhabilanls to assemble, and had more than
half of them beaten. T remember especially Lyubomir Djokitch,
aged 17, assaulled with stick and knife, and also Blagoye Tcholoviteh,
aged 60, so harshly beaten thal he gave all he possessed to put an
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end to the torture. The voivod took with him the cattle, the wheat
and the furniture. His wife also was beated and unable to get up
again. The Bulgarian soldiers danced then a kolo around her, each
one, dancing, coming near her and kicking ber.

In the evening we arived in G. Totchani, Kognucha parish.
Gavril allowed his soldiers to go where they pleased and took his
seeretary and myself 1o a house in the village, to spend the night
there. 1 begged of him to allow me to go and sleep to a family rela-
tioned to mine, but he refused. In the room were two beds : one for
the voivod, and the other for his secretary, Risto Koseff. Gavril
came near me and asked me to sleep with him. I refused. e told
me thal, at the assembly of the day before, 1 had attracted his alten-
tion, and this was the reason why 1 had not been beaten as the others
were. He wanted me to love him. I resisted and nearly succeeded
in escaping altogether, but his secretary prevented it going to the
door with his rifte and bayonel on. The same secretary said then
to Gavril @ Beat her | and Gavril seized me and laid me on a bench,
maslering me completely and abusing of my girlhood.

On the next day, he assembled all the inhabitants of the two vil-
lages, Tochani and Grabovatz, both of the same parish, and asked
them who had taken the wheal and sheep of the comitadjis. Some
confessed, and were sent to Court. Others did not, saying nothing,
and were struck before being sent to Court, too. Gavril took with
him the wheat and the sheep. Neither of them belonged to the comi-
tadjis, but the people had confessed 1o escape blows. Those who
had not confessed said a falsehood at last, accusing themselyes wron-
oly, to make an end to the beating.

In the evening, from Dogni Tochani village were taken away
Yossif Philipovitch, another man called Rayko the family name of
whom | do not know, and Marke Vassoviteh, kmet of G. Tochani vil-
lage. From afar, I looked to shee what was going lo happen : voivod
Gavril wanted a cerlain confession to be made. Not being satisfied
with the answers, he struck first Ravko and Marko. After beating
them atrociously, he tied their hands behind the back and hung them
by the feet to a tree. I heard then Yossif cry out : I am an old man,
[ do not want my =oul to be lost | Bul he was being struck so harshly
that his mouth was foaming. The soldiers thought him dead. To
make sure, they brought straw and burnt it on his chest. Yossif
groaned. His hands were then tied, same as had been done to the
other two befove, and he was hung, 0o, by the feet.. They remained
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a long time so, and the soldiers, for amusement swung them now
and then, to see a chest knocking the chest of the next victim. After-
wards, they burnt straw under . their heads and while burning, they
were touching the heads with a little stick « to clean them from the
soot » nsed they to say. From afar, 1 smelt the flesh and hair burn-
ing. Yossif was most disfigured.

Next day, all three had to walk fo G. Kognucha vlliage. Yos-
¢if's head was quile swollen and could not open his eyes. Ile wal-
Led like a blind man, stumbling and falling at each step. And the
soldiers kept on beating him with the bult of their rifles.

A little later, we went to Prekachnitza village, where Gavril sum-
moned several people : the Tchadjanovitch family, an old man and
his old wife, also Milivoye Lovitch and Milivoye Peroviteh of Bel-
fanitza, G. Kognucha parish, who were in Prekachnitza on their way
to somewhere else. All of them were beaten until half dead. Then
they were thrown by the <oldiers the one on the top of the other, in a
heap. and they kept on beating the lot. TLokitch, who was on top,
died from it.

On the same day, we went to Donia Benyachitza where I saw
Borika Nechovitch, aged 6o, being beaten so harshly that she could
hardly breathe. They plunged then a bar into her mouth. She died
from it. In this same village, a hoy of 14 was also beaten while Stan-
koviteh’s house was searched topsy turvy. A woman, ill, was pulled
from her bed to be beaten.

Radissav Tochitch, chief of our comitadjis, having surrendered.
I succeeded, with much trouble, in escaping and went back home.
Gavril did not bother me for two days, but on the third, he had me
imprisoned in Prekadin where Tane Nikoloff, snd Lieutenant Guin-
koff and three others acted as judges. T stated what Gavril had done
with me, and Kristo Koseff, who gave evidence, confirmed what 1
said. Having spent about ten days in prison, I was released.

Two days afterwards, Gavril called with a man named Andji Pe-
iroff. He wanted me to state before this man that T had been com-
pelled by someone to make such declarations agains him before the
Prekadin judges. Butl answered that all T said there was the truth.

On February 3rd., Gavril left our house nightly and walked to
Milivove Palibrk’s. It had been snowing. and his footsteps were im-
printed in the snow. On the next day, he ordered soldiers to sur-
round Palibrk’s house, and arrest all the family. He examined them

and coming back to our house, said us that the family had confes-
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sed that one of our comitadjis, Drlyivitch, had entered our house in
the night. He asked then my mother who had called. My mother
did not answer and was thrown on the ground and beaten. Even
then, she confessed nothing, and Gavril <lruck her again. She was
then compelled to say that Drlyivitch had called, although it was
not true. 1le took a seven strand rope, moist, made knots lo it, and
having thrown me to the ground, struck me on the naked stomach
in such a way that I fainted. He struck me four times. After the
third blow, not able to accept more punishment, I eried out : Drlyi-
vitch has come ! Bul giving me a fourth blow, he told me. » I do
not punish you because of Drlyivitch, but because you complained in
Prekadin. T will do as T please. T have a right to. Go and com-
plain to Lieutenant-Colonel Atanassof. He is our Chief. We are the
conguerors |y The soldiers had to put me on the bed : I could not
inove, On the next day, lthey took me again to Prekadin prison.
Examined anew, I said how I had ben struck, and had been compel-
led by il to say Drlyiviteh had called.

I remained 12 days in prison, ill. I was then taken to a house,
in Prekadin, where I was ro days in bed, and afterwards to Prokuplie
for medical attendance ; T was seriously ill. On the day following
my arrival, Lt-Colonel Atanossoff summoned me, but 1 could not go
to him then., I did so a few days afterwards, as soon as I was able.
Atanassoff asked me to confess that Drlyiviteh had called. I refused.
— Why did Gavril beat you ? — Because 1 complained of his
violences, — What can you do? Gavril already told Colonel
Drvingoff and myself all about it! — I do not wanl anything, but
thought you would not approve of it ; now 1 see you both agree, 1
can do nothing, of course. — Confess that Drlyivitch called ; if
not, 1 will hand you over lo Gavril, and he will hang you. I have
the power to hang you all, if [ wish, and nobody ean interfere... He
left me then and sent Gavril and voivod Lazar Klenkoff who began
threalening me.  Alanassoff came back a few minutes afterwards and
told me laughing, pointing to Gavril : « Do you know him ? » He
went out with him, leaving me alone with Lazar expecting this one
would persuade me of the necessity of acknowledging it all, against
the promise T would come oul of all this with my life. The two
others entered again the room. 1 did not confess. They threate-
ned me again, and considered together the form of the confession
they wanted from me. And at last, the Lt-Colonel told me > « Your
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life is in our hands. You can save it, and Gavril will tell you how.
He will take you home. »

On arriving, Gavril told me : « The Lt-Colonel is my best friend.
As a rule, he is for us, comitadjis and « macedonians », a real fa-
ther. THe wants you to call on him to-morrow, and sign your eonfes-
sion. What does it matter to you if the others are hung ! You
will save your life, and you will get from us all the money you want. »
Having promised to go the following day, and see Alanassoff, and
also to make a full confession, he left me. But instead of going
there, 1 called al Colonel Rayeff’s telling him all the truth. He set
me free. The Lt-Colonel, learning what had been done, ordered me
immediately to go at once to my village, and appear before Gavril
or Lazar. Instead of this, I remained in Prokuplie, informing Colo-
nel Rajeff of this order. e told me I had hetter stay.

Gavril was imprisoned, and released. Since then he committed
new erimes.

Prokuplie, December 13-11‘1 1918,

N° 850

STATEMENT BY PARASKEVA, WIFE OF YOVAN RADOVITCH,
SCHOOLTEACHER IN KUMANOVO

The Bulgarians fonnd me in Prichtina, where 1 had laken refuge
on leaving Kumanovo. Life had been impossible for me in Kuma-
novo, being hunted up by the soldiers and forced to abandon all the
lodgings I took to. In Prichlina, living was expensive, and hard. I
went to the Bulgarian authorities for wood and flour. But they sent me
away every time saying : Here we have nothing for thee ; go to King
Peter, or the French or English Allies ! Although the railway was
operated, T was obliged to walk all the way from Prichtina to Giu-
lyane and was told : There’s no train for thee ! I was continually
watched by comitadjis or soldiers. Later on, I came back to Kuma-
novo, but was to go every day to the commissariate. I was pul ques-
tions several times on politics, my husband. his friends, his opi-
nions. My answers did not satisfy the Prefect, who got eross. Voi-
vod Krsta took me then by the arm and led me to a neighbouring
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room, saying : Speak, tell me what your husband’s opinions are !
I told him again what I has said to the Prefect. He ordered me to
lie flat on the ground, but I did not obey ; where upon he squeezed
my temples tight, and I had to stoop. Get up ! he ordered me next.
I did it. He struck me, and I fell. He knocked my head with some-
thing hard ; I swoened. On go:ng back home, 1 noticed how ner
vous and agitated I was. My health gave way and I got mad. Ne-
vertheless I succeeded in getting much beller owing to the care Dr
Novakovich, of Belgrade, took of me, attending me underhand.
During the time I was ill, nobody bothered me.

My husband sent me 4 or 5.ooo francs, but I received 6oo only.
I was asked : « Who sends this money o you ? » I answered : « My
husband ». They replied : « Il is nol true, you get it from the Serbs
or from English or French people for propaganda ». I wes asked
lo sign statements 1 never made, and refused. The eriminals threat-
ened me and on September 11th 1918, at 6 o’clock, I was sununioned
Lo the Police Court where they struck me and sent me home to fetch
bed sheets and bread for two days. On the way [ told my guard that
I had rather be Kkilled by him than tormented constantly. [ was
not even allowed to get ready : as soon as I arrived home, two gen-
darmes came and took me immediately with them. My father, aged
g0, was struck, and all the way from home to the Police Court, 1 was
beaten and shouted at, al the same time : « Take this to Serbia !
Take this to King Peter | Take this Lo the French | Take this to the
English | Take this to your soldiers | » I was struck again on arriv-
ing and, lwo days later, left for Sofia. From Sofia to Tetovina, I
had to walk 50 miles, insulted and despised by everybody. They obli-
oed me to sleep in the same room as the gendarmes. I never recei-
ved any food on all this journey, but in Sofia, where half a pound
ol bread was served out to me.

This staterent was made December 12th 1918, before the Kuma-
novo Town Council.
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IN° 51

Deposition by MIHAILO CHOYLEFF, Bulgarian 2nd. Lieutenant,
on being examined by the Serbian Military Authorities in POJA-
REVATZ, December 1gth 1g18.

While I was in the hospital, George Senomeileff, a comitadji,
was admilted as sick (ven. desease), He told me that 2nd. Lieule-
nan Tchavdareff had committed so many erimes in Kladurovo, Rano-
vatz, villages of the Mlava district, that he had been sent here to do
the same with the inhabitants of this region. Said Tchavdareff had
also been in Lebane Village.

. Lieutenant Karadjeff had also committed many crimes in the
same and other villages.

I happened fo see once, in the Hospital, 2nd. Lieutenant Tchav-
dareff, and asked him why he had done all these things. He ans-
wered me that, for him, it meant very little.

George Senommeileff told me that Tchavdareff and his men killed,
one day, from 10 to 20 people some of whom begged for the permis-
sion to smoke a cigarette before dying — This comfort was refused
them.

I know that Tchavdareff and Karadjefl were Reserve Officers of
ihe 32nd. Regiment. As much as I remember, the Nich Town Major
sent an order to remove all inhahitants from Kladurowo and Rano-
walz villages ; bul Tchavdareff and his comrade construed the order
in their own peculiar way and acted with the violence they used
to show.

Both these officers not only killed the women, bul violated them,
or contaminated them with the desease of some of their men. One
of the deseased soldiers was specially selected by 2nd. Lieutenant
Tehavdareff to do this by order.

I may add that besides the above crimes, said officers used to
take ransoms from the inhabitants, stealing also occasionally. T saw
in the hospital Tchavdareff's pocket-book full of Serbian notes.

I know them both Lo be reserve officers, but not what their pro-
{fession is in ordinary life.

———
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IN° 52

Evidence by Vassilie Djakonoy, ex and. Lieutenant in the Bulgarian
Regular Arm;, (active officer), examined by the Serbian Br'.[llltﬁl‘j"
Authorities in Uskuh, December 21st. 1918

In the beginning of 1917, being on duty in Uskub, I lost the
confidence of my superior officers because 1 helped several Serbian
families : Professor Jarkovileh's, tailor Trifoun Tchoutchitz's. also a
lady with five children. [ ventured an intervention with the mili-
tary authorities on the subject of their internment, and was punished
for this with three months’ nnpnwmment and two years’ postpone-
menl of my promotion to a superior rank.

Durmg my stay in Leskovatz (about ro days) I saw Bulgarian
soldiers pillaging the houses and the stores, taking from them all they
wanted — the military authorities kept their eyes closed. But during
this fime, I know of no citizen being killed. Colonel Zlalonoff, in
command of a brigade, was then town major., He informed all offi-
cers of the contents of a private circular from G. H. Q. advising to
allow any crime or violent deed which may be committed by Bulgar-
ian soldiers, and fo hush up the case if any. By order of the Officer
in Command, we took from tradespeople all army supplies, such as
rice, lavd, red pepper, etc... My company and machine gun section
left for Vrania, by order from Divisional H. Q.

On the way between Leskovatz & Vrania, in the villages we pas-
sed by or rested in, the soldiers pillaged the houses and burnt them
down. I do not remember the names of the villages, our rest in
them being so short. After the cecond or third night, just as we
were going to leave, a large mililary escorl came towards us, pushing
forward young fellowq from 16 1o 18 vears of age and old men above
fio, also an old woman. Altogether from 20 to %o persons.  The offi-
cer in command of the escort handed over to Caplain Charaptehyeff,
commanding our company, a letter from Major Zlatanoff. It was an
order to put immediately o death all these people, including the wo-
man. Execuling the order received, Captain Charaptchyeff had
them taken away from the village and shut up in a barn. Next
thing, he himself put a machine gun in position and opened fire.
During the fire, one of them succeeded in getting loose and escaping.
On ceasing fire, four men, a youg fellow and an old woman came
out of the barn. All the others were killed.
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The far from, lucky survivors begged on their kness, kissing
the earth before the Captain, for their life. I, myself, asked him te
spare at least the young fellow, nearly a child, adding that God did
not want them to be killed, having protected them in front of the
machine gun fire. Bul the Caplain would not listen to anything,
saying it was an order and he had to comply. Ie gave the order to
have them all shot, but T gave the woman a push and showed her
quick that she conld hide behind the barn, what she did, meanwhile
the four others, understanding all hope was gone, took to their legs ;
soon, they were killed by rifle shots and the bodies were brought hack
to the barn. The Captain noticed then that the body of the old
woman was missing. He found her, panicsiricken, behind the barn
and gave an order to kill her. All the corpses were afterwards mois-
ted with kerosene and burnt.

We did not leave on that day, but the next morning only. I
do not know the name of the village, which lies on table-land, in the
mountain. Because of these atrocities, I had a quarrel with the Cap-
tain in Command who wrote to Yrania to have me removed from his
company. I was senl, then, to the Germans, for technical impro-
vement.

I say also that the people killed in the way above described had
no weapons with them, From the dress, I think that some of them
were peasants. But I have been unable to find out their standing or
the region they were from.

Ne 53

Yordana, wife of Spassa Yagnevitch, of Radovitche, examined re.
the murder of Gutza, wife of Duchan Veszevitch, and of their daugh-
ier, made the following statement :

« In my house, in Radovitche, lived Gutza and her daughter. [
do not remember the date, but it was the same day Bulgarians kil-
fed the Mayor, Nikolas Antonovitch, and his brother Yovantcha, three
days I think after the Serbian Army evacuated these regions, — a
man, Rista Vuk, of Radovilche enfered our house with two compa-
nions and strangled Gutza with a string. I immediately took hold of
the child and went out ; but avoiding the street for fear there should



be any guards, I stayed in the yard. Rista Vuk came out first. See-
ing me, he exclaimed : « This is Gutza’s child, give it to me ! » 1
entreated him then, imploring him to spare the innocent little thing.
He answered : « Keep silent, Serbian mother ! Not another word | »
The baby could not understand what he meant and was smiling offe-
ring him her little hands. He tore her from me, went back into
the house and cut the child’s throat near the mother’s body. I do
not know where the Bulgarians took the bodies to. »

This evidence was received November 11th 1918, by the Sub-Pre-
fect of the District.

IN° 54

1) Statement by Nicola Gatchevitch, made in Bogumil, November
and, 1918.

When the Bulgarians invaded this region, including Bogumil,
the terror spread. as they immediately tortured people. Machine
guns were in the streets, and fired on the houses. The paysants fled
towards Prilep, and I did the same to escape death and protect my
family. When we arrived in Kostintsi Village, Prilep District, I saw
that the Bulgarian Officers and men had brought together our women
and children, obliging all females to undress completely. They were
then outraged and in spite of wind and rain had to do gymnastics.
Afterwards, they were allowed to put on their chemise, but soldiers
stepped forward and bayoneted twenty women and girls, some of
them not even 10 years old. I saw this terrific slaughter from a gar-
ret, in the village, where I hid to escape arrest and death. Among
the victims are my wife lana, my daughter-in-law Lenka, my daugh-
ter Bojana, my god-daughter Ilinka and my son Nedelko, aged 17.
Besides my family, the Bulgarians killed, on that day, a good many
men, women and children. Some were killed on the spot, but others
al the same time were escorted away to be slaughtered in Kostintsi
and Tserjilichte. Bulgarian officers and men went through the vil-
lages and got hold of old men, women and children who were kni-
ved like sheep or otherwise killed. The Bulgarian officers killed
many with their own hands ; at the same time, they cried out insults
to the Serbian race. All victims were robbed of their money and all
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bodies were left unburied, so that many were eaten up by dogs. On
seing such atrocilies, women in pregnancy had a miscarriage caused
by fright ; the soldiers pierced then the small ones with the bayonet
and cried out, brandishing their trophy : This one also was a Serb.
All along te road to Prilep, some corpse, atrociously mutilated and
ragged, can be seen every ten sleps on the average.

2) Statement by Nicolas Georgevitch, made in Bogumil, November
and. 1918.

Bulgarian Soldiers and Comitadjis killed my wife Boiana, my
danghter Stoina, My daughter-in-law Lenka, my son Alexander, my
grand-daughters Bojana and Nathalia, and my other daughter-in-law
Maria. Before murdering them, they assaulted and violated my wife
Boiana, my daughter Stoina and my daughter-in-law Lenka, who
were later on taken out with the rest of the family and killed.

3) Statement by Atfanas lovanovitch, made in Bogumil, November
and. 1918.

] saw with my own eyes that Tassia, daughter of Ilia Marko-
vitch, of Bogumil, aged 18, was tortured, and also Bojana, mother of
Tassia, Boika, daughter of Ilia Momirovitch, Momir Sokolovitch and
the elder son of Ilia Momirovitch. The tortures were of the worst,
and the victims have been afterwards slaughtered and burnt, women
heving been outraged before. Tassia implored them to let her live,
but the maddened barbarians cut her breast and threw the body into
the fire, where the others were.

I saw this scene of brutal savagery from a hut not far off, when
[ hid to escape these barbarians.

These statements were received by Sub-Prefect of the District.

N° 55

Statement by Tordan Teovitch, husbandman in Maroltsi, aged 18.

My brother, Iovan Teovitch, aged 25, was a Serbian soldier
and captured by the Ausirians, but escaped and came back to Veles
where the Bulgarians took him and sent him to Dobro Polie, on the



Salonica front. He escaped again and came back home where he
was 4o days hidden. Seeing that his mother and brother were daily
abused, he ftried hard to slip through the lines and, with Vassil
Trbitch, arrived in the Serbian trenches. He remained up to now a
Serbian soldier. In our house were : our old mother Bena, 6o ; our
sister-in-law Anuchka, and a young brother, Iviche. Every day, we
were summoned by the Bulgarians and struck. They dragged my
old mother through the Teovo and Uskub pricons, in which they un-
dressed her naked and struck her mercilessly. They asked her :
« Bitch | say where your son lovan is hidden ! » My mother swoo-
ned very often under the blows. They often took me to Vantche
Petrucheviteh’s house, where the officer in command of the place
was, and struck me ferociously on account of my brother. When I
swooned, they recalled me fo life with cold water compresses, but I
was then beaten again. They have maimed me so that I can hardly
walk now.

This statement was received by Bojidar D. Raduloviteh, delegate
of the Inquiry Commission, December gth 1918.

N° 56

1) Statement by Helen, wife of Dimitrie Natchevitch, living in Bo-
gumil.

On September 14th., Holy Day of the Cross, I went to Church
where the Bulgarian Bishop Melentie was officiating. After mass,
he made a speech,, saying among other things : If your fathers
should come nightly from the battlefiels, asking you to open the door,
you must not open before daybreak because they are from Old Ser-
bia ; and then you shall tell them : You are Old Serbs, but we are
Young Bulgarians. If soldiers come and =ee you, do not escape, and
ido not fear pregnancy ; it is holy. Serbia is destroyed and does not
exist anymore, and we will kill all Serbs because Bulgarians only
must live. God has blessed them with the domination of all the
Balkans. :

After hearing this, T went home. We had been in church that
day by order.
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2) Staternent by Marko Natchevitch, living in Bogumil.

On September 14th. 1916, the Holy day of the Cross, an impor-
tant festivity, the Bulgarian Bishop Melentie came from Veles, his
seat, to Bogumil and ordered everyone to come to church on that
day. But few people came, the large majority being women. When
service was over, he held a speech full of insults to the Serbs and
Serbia. He said also « that women must nol escape before Bulgarian
soldiers, even if they were to be pregnant ; there was nothing unholy
in this, Serbia being destroyed ». He told us also that we musl not
allow our parents or relations who went to the war to enter our houses,
should they come back, because they were « Old Serbs », and all of
us here had to be « Young Bulgarians » ; also that the Bulgarians
would kill all those who had Serbian names because, did he add,
nobody but Bulgarians should live in this village.

Botk statements received by Sub-Prefect of the District. Novem-
her and 1918.

IN° 87

1) Statement by Vaska, wife of Simon Petrovitch, of Dolgovalz.

On November 1st 1915, 1b Bulgarian soldiers invaded my
house. Not having the money they required from us, they struck
us all in turn. My grand-son, aged 18, could bear the blows easily.
The eriminals, nolicing it, bayoneted him fo death. Afterwards they
wounded with the bayonet and killed by cutting their throat every-
body in the house but me, who was hidden in the garret. With my
grandson, I lost there my sister-in-law Krstana, my grand-daughter
Velika, my other grandson, aged 8, my daughter Mitra, aged 6. I
saw these four having their throat cut.

2) Statemenl by Ivan Kostich, of Dolgovatz.

In the first half of November 1915, I do nol remember exactly
the date, but it was Sunday, the Bulgarians entered our village.

When enemy soldiers neared our house, my brother Stevan,
who saw them in the yard, advised all men to hide ; he wanted to
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stay with the women and children to receive and give them what they
wanted. We did accordingly, my brothers and II hiding in some
part of the buildings. Stevan walked out to receive the Bulgarians,
but they rushed our house and struck him mercilessly,also the women
and children. They searched all the house, taking 70 twenty franc
coins, and took out to a pasture-ground, belonging to Nicolas Yova-
novitch, of Dolgovatz, my brother Stevan, my wife Kalina, the boys
Metodie, Petar, lliya, and girls Tassa and Yaglika, also Stevan’s wife
Proouka, his daughter Zlatana, my brother Spirko and my daughlers
Boghinia, Zvezda and Menka, where all had their throat cut, the
bodies remaining unburied until next Thursday, when pcasants from
Zerta village came by order of the Bulgarian authorities and drop-
ped them in a grave dug for more than 6o corpses.

I never saw the criminals, for T was hidden. No one in my
family escaped death. I am therefore unable to say who the soldiers
were. I have heard from some Bulgarian soldiers that the Sth. Divi-
sion passed hrough my village, and very likely the murderers belon-
ged tu it

3) Statment by Gvozdan Stanoyeviteh, of Dolgovatz, aged 16.

On November 1st. 1915, on the arrival of Bulgarians in our
region (about 6o Bulgarian soldiers and a few Turks from Tzerni-
lichte), a Bulgarian soldier and a Turk entered the house whe lived
in, requiring money. We had nothing but 10 gold coins of 20 francs
cach, and gave them away. Afterwards, they seized my mother,
aged 60, my sister-in-law Mitra, aged 30, and both my nephews Zlata
aged 8 and Nova aged 2, saying : To the butcher's you dogs ! Go and
see your King Peter ! They took us to a spot outside the village cal-
led « Samokovo » and when arrived in Nicolas Yovanovitch's pasture-
ground, they asked us again for money before piercing us with their
bayonets. First my mother was slain, after her the children and
little children. I was struck with a knife underneath the jaw so
violently that the blade, entering by the right side, came out at the
left. I fell to the ground, and they all thought I was killed. Several
corpses fell on the top of me, so that the criminals did not notice
I was still breathing. They went to Tsernilichte village. During
the night, I got from under the corpses and flet to the forest, in which
I remained three days. The bodies of the little children were burnt,
but my mother and my sister-in-law were buried in a common grave,
with many other corpses. The soldiers acted on orders received from



Bulgarian authorities, and the officer in command was a lieutenant
whose name I do not know. The only man I knew was Scheriff
Sulyskoff, of Tzernilichte. One of the soldiers thought that my bro-
ther Petar might be spared, being deaf, but Sheriff said it was neces-
sary to Kill him because he could otherwise be used by the comi-
tadjis in the forest to bring them bread. 1 was trembling and so
afraid that I did not see the man who cut my brother’s throat ; but I
saw Sheriff before him, standing, and very likely he knived him, too.

4) Statement by Velyko Mitchevitch of Kostinatz, aged 57.

On November 1st. 1915, the enemy invading the country, a
troop of Bulgarian soldiers entered my house and pillaged it. My
wife, Tzveta, aged 5o, my daughter, Velika, my sons Stoyan, Kitan,
and my grand-son Tane Stoyanovitch were murdered.

. Another grand-son of mine, Krsta, the vounger, was taken to
Tzernilichte village and most odiously beaten, being afterwards kil-
led and dropped into a large grave dug for 200 corpses. From all my
family, only my daughter-in-law Linka, my daughter Voina, my son
Peter are living now, and all were repeatedly beaten and ill-used.
They report 7 or 8 wounds by Bulgarian bayonets.

5) Statement by Tocha Velikovitch, of Dolgovatz village.

In the beginning of November 1915, when Bulgarians entered
my village, a detachment of soldiers invaded my house and pillaged
it from top to bottom. Afterwards, they killed my wife Bissera, my
brother Rista, aged 33, my daughters Donka and Boyna, my mother
Anna, my daughter-in-law Blagoya, my two nieces Menka, aged 7,
and Trayanka, one year old. All had the throat cut with a knife.

This stalement was received December roth by the Sub-Prefect
of the District.

6) Statement by Peter Mihailovitch, of Dolgovalz village.

« In the beginning of November 1915, when the Bulgarians en-
tered the village, a detachment of soldiers rushed my house and kil-
led in it twelve people, culting their throat. The victims are : Ku-
pena, aged 8o ; Maria, aged 70 ; Srebra, aged fo ; Grozda, aged 35 ;
Antcha, aged 30 ; Menka, aged 25 ; Trenka, aged 20 ; Nove, aged 5 ;
Tzvetana, aged 30 ; Djuveta, aged 2 1/2 ; Dona, aged 2 and Radomir,

12
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i’tg’éd 1. Al were killed in my yard. One month afterwards, 1 took
the bodies to the cemetery, near Dolgovatz Village Church.

These staternent were reeeived December 1oth 1918 by the Sub-
Prefect of the District,

N° 58
Statement by Djordje Milenkovileh, aged 48, born in Dolgovatz.

Sunday, November 1st 1g1b, Bulgarian soldiers rushed my
house. As soon as I saw them coming, | fled and hid in some straw
near by, where I remained 24 hours. On reaching the house, they
required money. My sister Djurdja gave them 50 gold coins of- 20
francs each. Afterw ards, they took '1|l my family to a pasture-
around called « Kdm()k[no » h(,]{mﬂ‘mﬁ to Nikolas Yovangvitch, and
cul every one’s throat. My father \hh‘ul‘.n who resisted their orders
was bayoneted in the yard

In « Samokovo » pasture-ground were murdered my wife Stamena,
iy daughter Tsveta, aged 12, my sons Milenko, aged 8, and Smiile,
aged 2, my sister’s two children, a youg girl aged 6, and an infant,
nol yel christened, three weeks old. My sisler-in-law Deosta was
bayoneted but could eseape and come back home where she died two
hours afterwards.

This statemenl was received December 11th 1918 by the Sub-
Prefect of the District.

IN° 859
Statement by Stoyanka %toykovitch, of Dolgovalz, aged 18.

The Bulgarians entered our yillage in the beginning of Novem-
ber 1975. 1 do not remember the date, but it was Sunday. A group
of Bulgarian soldiers invaded our home, and stole 100 francs from
my father. Afterwards, they took all of us : my father Stoyko, my
muthsﬂ Theodora, my bmHle Petko and Voin, and myself to a pas-



ture-ground belonging to Nicolas Yovanovitch called Samokovo.
Two hundred people were already there, guarded by soldicrs with the
bayonet on the rifle.

Every one of us in the crowd was trembling for his fate. A man,
in Bulgarian uniform, came, a knife in the hand, seized the pope
Trayko and cut his throat in fronl of us. T could not stand this and
fell to the ground — my family did the same. This assassination
made the children and women ery and squall, so that the Bulgarian
soldiers, furious, sprang forward with opened knives and killed right
and left, men, women or children. My [ather, mother and brothers
were killed. I was wounded having been clabbed 8 times. 1 rem-
ained in this carsed place, in my blood and other people’s hlood,
until the night was dark. [ made then all the effort 1 could and
dragged myself towards home, {inding it entirvely pillaged. 1 dres-
sed my wounds and went to bed, tended by a few neighbours who
could escape the slaughter. The bodies of my family are in a large
grave, along with the badies of the other victims, in Samokovo, [
alone am living now of all my family. ;

I know no one of those who tortured and killed Dolgovalz’s in-
habitants.

Above statement was officially made in Kostinatz Town-1lall, on
December 12th 1918.

N® 60
Statement by Kone Zdravkovitch, aged 48, husbandman in Dolgovalz,

living now in Prilep, 7 Kralyevitch-Marko Street,

On November bth 1915, when the Bulgarians entered Dolgovalz,
I was in my parents’ house, in the same village. As soon as enemy
soldiers were said to be in the oulposts, 1 hid in the ruins at the vil-
lage’s entrance, where my Parenls’ house was. [ had the precaution
to take some bread with me, to prevent me from coughing. Two
Bulgarian soldiers appeared first, and my sister-in-law, Petra, camne
to them. They asked her : Were are the men ?  She said | With the
Serbian Army. One of them said to the other : Take her and shake
her a bit. He did so and pricked her with his bavonet. She fell
dead. Her son, Krsla, aged 5, cried and ran to his mother. The



Sl st At U R e .

T

’[865-

eoldiers struck him also with the bayonet and killed him toe. The
rest of the family was in the pasture-ground : Linka, Peter Spirko-
viteh's promised wife ; Mitra, Yordan Spirkovitch’s wife ; Alexis Spir-
kovitch. All were killed by the bayonet. From everywhere laments
and ecries were heard. The murderers brought together about 120
people in the pasture-ground, with Trayko, the pope, and all were
pierced with bayonets. Some of them were burnt with straw as fuel,
but all the bodies were left unburied, being eaten up by dogs and
pigs. Before the murders, the soldiers had, of course stolen all the
money, and, afterwards, they pillaged everything in the homes. I
remained in my hiding place until evening and when the night was
dark, I fled to the forest, where I found a small cabin with already
16 people sheltered. I stayed 3 days there and, all the time, more
people were coming, among them women with bayonet wounds.
One of them died in the forest. Then I escaped one night and made
my way to Prilep.

Above statement was officially made in Prilep Sub-Prefecture on
December 14lh 1918.

IN° 61

To Minister-President Dr Rodoslavonv
Sofia.

I, the undersigned, in the name of the citizens of the town
of Ohrid, firmly believe that the government, which has given ins-
tructions to send the historie relics from Ohrid for the Sofia museum,
will strictly conform to the promise given, that if circumstances
permit, all the relics which have been carried off 1o date will be retur-
ned to the town. The undersigned begs that this order be not ap-
plied to the icons which are on the iconostasis of our church of St Cle-
ment, and further that the door of the sanctuary of the said iconostasis
be immediately returned. We take the engagement to preserve the
icons and the door from any eventual damage, as we have done up
to the present. We declare that we cannot allow of thefis in the tem-
ple, theft commenced by an unjust order endeavouring to deprive us
of relics which are precious to us. The same order aimed at prevent-
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N° 64
Commander of Lines of Communications, Kriva Palanka 20 XI 191h

: ORDER N’ 18

Taking as basis the despatch from the chief of lines of communi-
cation of the and Army, n°® 324 of rgth of present month, | order, for
the last time: :

1) Those who know where may be found possessions without ow-
ners must report same, in a period of two weeks to the head of finan-
ces here, or to this office, for registering and confiscating.

2) Those who possess goods without owners must hand them to
the above-named authorities in a similar period.

3). After the expiration of this period, i. e. two weeks, search
will be made. Those who have not executed my orders will be tried
by court martial,

4) This order must be announced to the public by the town crier.

Base Commander:
It POPOW,

IN° 685
Uskub Prefecture of Police

Order n® 13

Cma-I'm_'mﬂhl3r to the order of the Prefect of the Uskub Depart-
ment dated December Hth N° 587 :

I order :

1) Serbs having been able to oblain permission to remain tem-
porarily in the town, for health or other reasons worlhy of conside-
ralion, musl not circulate in the town in groups nor leave their
residences excepl in cases of extreme urgency : further, one person
only, to be designated, to be the only one able to make purchases.

2) All inhabilants of Uskub, those in public establishments as
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N°¢ 67
CONFIDENTIAL

Staff of military inspection of Morava district, n° 1983.
N® 1223. — 16.V.1916.

To Commander of 3rd Brigade, 1st Division, Nisch.
To Commander of Nisch and Commander of 3rd Brigade,
6th Division Zajetchar.
To Prefects of provinces of : Nisch, Vrania, Pojarevats,
Pirot, Zajetchar, Tchoupria.

Taking as basis the order of the staff of the army of operations
N® 7483 of the 3rd of present month, I order you to confiscate in
public institutions, libraries and private houses, all Serbian books,
pictures and cards. Select the most important of these objects and
send them to the Ministry of Education ; burn the remainder. Com-
missions formed, as far as possible, of competent persons, must carry
out the revision of the books. Books which can be used and are of
historic value to us, must be sent to the Ministry of Education. This
work should be done quickly and carefully. Libraries may continue
to do business, but simply with writing materials, Bulgarian books,
printed matter and with books in another foreign language, except
in Serbian.

Inform me as soon as this order is executed.
Chief of military inspection of Morava district.

General Lieutenant KOUTINTCHEYV.
The Secretary : MOUSTAKOV.

N° 68

District of Vrania, N° 3gqr.
Dec. 6th 1916, Vrania.
To Sub-Prefects :

The administrative and police section of the Home Ministry states
in its letter N* L7961 of Nov. 25th current, that all Sub-Prefects in
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the Morava district have forgotten he Bulgarian language and adopted

the Serbian language, for they are employing in their deeds Serbian
words.

In drawing your attention to this, I am resolved to ask for pu-
nishment for the guilty parties who use Serbian words either in
speech or in writing. You have been sent to exercice your influence
on the population and not to submit yourself to the power of this bri-
gands’ language.

; Prefect of District, Dr Gl. ZAHARIEV

IN° 69

An order from the military inspeetion of the Morava district (Exiraits)

.. Those who refuse to present themselves before the recruiting
committe, or those who, when recruited, do not join their unit but
hide themselves, as well as prisoners who have escaped from thein
camp, will be considered as bandits and judged as bandits, if they fat
to report before the 15th March...

March 1oth 1917, Nisch.

Provisional Chief of military inspection of Morava district,
Col. PROTOGUEROV.

N° 70

Home and Hygienics Ministry.
9. VII. 1917, Sophia, N° 8208.

CIRCULAR

To Prefects of districts of Morava province and of Macedonia.

The Minister for Home Affairs and of Public Hygienies has, on
several occasions, received reports from inhabitants of the Morava
province and of Macedonia with regard to the brutal and incorrect
conduct of the functionaries towards them. Certain of these com-
plaints having been checked by special commissioners, we have, to
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our great regret, noted facts which are by no means flattering for
our bureaucracy.

You are probably not ignorant of the fact that in naming the
personnel for the districts just occupied, the Ministry desired to
saitable posts intelligent persons capable of maintening order and
justice amongst the population, with whom we have for so long been
eneavouring to enter into touch, and to inspire the conviction that
they are part of a constitutional state. These hopes, except for a
few rare exceplions, were everywhere deceived. The conduct of our
functionaries compared to that of the functionaries of the former
regime, is greatly inferior, and this greatly excites, against the Bul-
carian regime, the uneducated country people, and still more so the
inhabitants of the towns.

In certain places, onr functionaries have adopted an attitude abso-
lutely indifferent, and even hostile, towards he manners and customs
of the people belonging to other nationalities, as Turks, Albanians,
etc. This regrettable state of affairs obliges the Ministry to invite
vou to instruct the administrative staff lmdm vou, as much the police
as the communal functionaries, fo bear themselves towards the popu-
lation in the most correct and courteous manner, to respect religious
customs and to tolerale manners which do not aecl contrary to the
laws and to decency, to give satisfaction to the legitimate requests
of the inhabitants and to refuse to receive any remuneration for ser-
vices rendered. _

It must be understood that each complaint will be checked and
in case same iz well-founded, the functionaries will be immediately
superceded and sent lo their respective military units.

Secretary General : TRIFONOFF.
Chief of Department : St. KIROFF.

NOTE. — The letter produced above constitutes an admission of
the Bulgarian Government that the functionaries committed grave
abuses in their work, and that the Bulgarian administration was the
worst of all.

It is remarkable that the Bulgarian Government should not have
taken any steps, however slight, to put an end to the arbitrary man-
ner and abuses of its functionaries.
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KINGDOM OF BULGARIA.
Military Inspection
of Macedonian Provinces. -
N° 28859 To Chief of Prisoners’ Depol,
August 6th 1917, Uskub. VELES.

Give orders to draw up protocoles in cases of the flight of priso-
ners which were given you for working parties. In these protocoles
you must affirm that the prisoners wished to go to the Morava province
lo form bands with the object of attacking and Kkilling the inhabi-
tants and frontier patrols, as well as to destroy the military bridges.

By order.
District Chief of Staff : Col. PETEV.
Second Adjudant-Lt. : D. TOURANOY.

NOTE. — It is to be noted that authorities attribute to priso-
ners guilly of attemps at escape, false pretexts for escape, wilhout
having cross-questioned them.

This procedure had for object the justification of arbitrary exe-
cutions of prisoners,

N® 72
Yery urgent. TELEPHONE REPORT.
To Commander of 8th Complementary Battalion,
Vlasotintzi. :

The acts of Sub-Lt Petkof can no longer be tolerated. He in-
flicts on civilians bastanadoes, burns them in lighted furnaces and
hangs them. There are men prostrate spitling up blood.

There have been killed up to date 44 sheep, 25 hens, 1 bull, 1
Jamb ; there have been taken o260 kilogrammes of oats, large quanti-
ties of cheese, fat and eau-de-vie and aboul 200 loaves of bread —
cach weighing from 3 to 4 kilogrammes (they however receive the
regular ration at the cantine). Petkof has not as yet made any inspec-
tion in the mountains. His whole activily consists of not moving
from the village of Yastrebalz, and this is so since his arrival here.
I will send in a detailed report about this. Please reply al the ear-
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liest possible moment in order to put an end to the anarchy which Pe-
trof has provoked.
The Commander of the 3rd Company,

Lt. INGHILISOF.

N° 73

Sub-Prefeect of district of Preshevo,
N° 2839, July 24th 1918. Very urgent,

To the Presidents of the Parish Commissions of 3 Members.

By order of the Prefect of the Koumanovo district N° 3392 of
218t of present month, you must, in the period of 24 hours, make up
in your district the lists with the required documents of all Greeks,
person= friendly to Greece, and Roumanian families (Zinzars) who
have members in the Greek or Serbian army, or who have fled there.
These familes must make preparations for a journey. They will be
interned within the old frontiers of the kingdom, and this in a delay
of 7 days. Must also be interned the members of the above-men-
tioned families who are considered as spies in our army. The let-
ters, declarations of witnesses, witnesses, various information, confes-
<ions of their families, will act as proofs.

You will be held personally responsible for the non-execution in
time of this order.

The Sub-Prefect : P. OUZTCHEV.

IN° 74

Sub-Prefect of the district of Bouyanovtsi,
N°® 409h. September 18th 1918, Bouyanovtsi.
To the Presidents of the Parish Commissions of 3 Members.
Announce in the most urgent manner, the following : In future,
no person must use these words : banque, dinar predsednik, prota,
and others, as these are Serbian words. Those who do not obey
this order ; will be very severely punished.
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Send copy of this note to the police authorities in order that
they may carry same into execution.

Sub-Prefect : GLIGOR GLIGOREV.

IN°® 78

The letter of Mr. Theodoroft, Foreign Minister of Bulgaria; sent
on December 27th 1918 lo General Chretien, commanding the allied
troops in Bulgaria.

« By my letters of November 25th and December 16th N° 2988
and 9582, I had the honnour to bring to your knowledge that the Bul-
garian Government had institued a commission, composed of five
members, including a Staff Colonel as President and four magis-
trates, charged to inquire into the accusations contained in the docu-
menls attached to your letter of November 16th A. X. N° 1188, in
order to inflict, if necessary, legal punishment to the criminels.

I am already able to inform you that, in spite of the unfavourable
circumstances that several records to be consulted and persons to be
interrogated are not at Sofia, this commission has done everything
possible and shown remarkable zeal in accomplishing the task set if.
In its work, over and above the conscience of its duty, the Commis-
sion has been guided by the conviction which animates the Govern-
ment itself, that is, that this work of elucidation, and later of punish-
ment, must be carried out under conditions of perfect impartiality.
The results obtained by this commission of inquiry which was defi-
nitely set up and commenced work at the beginning of the montl,
are at the present moment the following :

1° The documents pretend that 41 Serbian priests were killed in
the Sourdoulitza dislrict, Vrania provinee. The Commission has
noted that in fact some Serbian priests were killed in this district.
Their exact number and their names can only however be traced
and established later, after checking to see whether amongst the
names in the list as killed, do not figure certain priests interned in Bul-
garia and liberated later. It must however be remarked thalt whilst
this document is entitled « priests killed in Bulgaria », certain groups
of these priests are stated as « missing ».
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In the opinion of the Commission, the responsability for these
crimes is on the part of Colonel Kalkandieff, commanding the 4and
Infantry Regiment, Major Ilkoff, Lieutenants Youroukoff and Rad-
koff, and Sub-Lieutenant Simeonoff. Legal actions are pending
against all these officers.

2* According to the document in question, 36 Serbian priests
were imprisoned in the citadel of Niche and later killed on the road
near Bela Palanka, and that 16 priests were imprisoned in the Zait-
char College, at the beginning of December 1915 and also killed out-
side the town. The Commission has noted that Serbian priests were
unforfunately killed in these two districts, but, as in the previous
case, il cannot for the moment delermine their number or names.
As regards the responsibility, this can be determined in a few days,
as they arve awaiting certain supplementary information and the
hearing of a few witnesses, whose arrival at Sofia is prevented by tra-
velling difficulties.

3" The Commission has remarked that the Serbian Bishop Vikenti
and his deacon Tzvetko were killed on the road in the Katchanik
Pass.  Certain indicalions lead us to believe that the responsability
for this is on Sub-Lt. Popoff Gheorgi, of the 24th Battalion of Com-
ninications, against whom legal proceedings are being taken.

4° As regards accusations of bad treatmenl of priconers of war
in the Sofia Depot, the Commission hopes {o complete its task by the
end of this month.

5° The Commission is continuing its researches respecting the
Serbian priests pretented killed or missing.

Amongst the accused officers mentioned above, Ilkoff, Simeo-
noff and Popoff are arrested. Colonel Kalkandieff died in the train
during the journey from Varna to Sofia, and Youroukoff was killed
in the last battles.

N® 76

Copy of the verbal note from the Dutch Minister al Sofia addres-
sed to the Dutch Foreign Minister.
N? 18518.

By his note of May 28th 1918 N° 4174, the Foreien Minister
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requested the Duteh Legalion to hand, in future, throngh the Bul-
garian Red Cross at Sofia, who wonld altend lo the distribution to
the needy, the money plewuuc]\, sent through him, fo the Serbian
subjects living in the terrilories occupwd hy the Royal Armies.

The Minister took this decision simply to introduce more regu-
larity and more rapidily into the distribution of these funds.

Conformably to this arrangement, the Dulch Legation sent to
the above Red Cross Society, belween June 26th and September 25th
last, sums of money amounting to a folal of 445,665,80 levas, wilh a
request that they be distribued to needy Serbians, as detailed in the
accompanying lists,

However, the Bulgarian Red Cross has just handed back to the
Queen’s Legation the sum of 439,492,20 levas, as well as all lhe lists
and receipts since June 26th last, with the single exceplion of those
of July 3oth 1918 relating to a total of 6,171,60, which the Legation
still hopes may have reached its destination,

The result of the foregoing is that since the month of 1"ch',Ly last
a very large nulber of Serbian subjects have awaited in vain, in the
grealest misery, the modest donations for individual cases “hlch had
been granted them and of which the total is 439,492,20 levas.

In bringing the foregoing to the knowledge of the Foreign Mi-
nister, the Legation of Her Majesty the Queen of Holland at Sofia,
charged with the protection of Serbian inlerests in Bulgaria, consi-
ders it his duty to make known the painful surprise it had. in finding
that the Bulgarian Red Cross had thus failed so signally in its pro-
mises, as much towards the Legation as towards the necessitious Ser-
bian families.

Sofia, October 1g9th 1918.

s



e 192--

N° 77

Bulgarian Red Cross, Sofia.

N* ggo. Prisoners Department. Sofia, April 27th 1916.
To the Red Cross international committee Geneva

Gentlemen,

We receive from Geneva a letter with the heading of the Serb-
1an Red Cross, dated March 31st., requesling us to send a complete
list of all Serbian War Prisoners and Interned Civilians in Bulgaria,
and also detailed information on mail and monies sent to the inha-
bitants of Old Serbia.

Whe shall thank you very much if you will kindly inform the
Gentlemen who sign for the Serbian Red Cross that we cannot enter
into correspondence with them or send them any information wha-
tever re. the inhabitants of Old Serbia who are now Bulgarian Sub-
Jects and treated according to Bulgarian Law.

Signed : J.-H. GUECHOFF, President.

N° 78

A secrel order of the Military Inspection of the Morava province,
May 29th 1918, N* 13 (Extracts) :

With the successive development of the organisation of the
occupation of the Morava province, and in view of the results that have
been obtained in all branches of the administration of the province,
this latter must immediately elaborate the bases of an integral inter-
nal poliey, a policy which should not only procure us the possibi-
lity of ensuring perfect internal order, but also the means of being
able to commence to dominate liltle by liitle the soul of the popu-
lation, of this population which is so near to ns in origin and blood.
This policy will give us the means of convincing this population that
it is the blood of our blood and that its fusion with Bulgaria is an
accomplished fact for us.

In order to attain this high object, it is not sufficient to wish
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for in a Platonic manner, to use verbal and written propaganda and
perorations. We require acts and acts more powerful and of consider-
able influence. If is necessary to have a complete system, a whole
general plan in detail which embraces all factors and all sides of
human nature.

To be able to Bulgarise this district, all that is Serbian must
be destroyed, and thus, on the ruins of Serbism, will rise Bulgarism.

1° All the old Serbian professors and functionaries, who are not
of use in the district, must be removed to Old Bulgaria. All those
who represent the elements of passive resistance as regards moral,
must be considered as not of use.

To effect this, there must be organised in Bulgaria, in one town
or in several, classes in the Bulgarian language for those who wish
1o have Stale employment or a position in a Bulgarian parish.

To be able to carry out all the means sef forth above, measures
meant to Bulgarise. the Morava district, we who are here, officers,
functionarics, soldiers and in general, all who occupy a public posi-
tion, we must all work with doubled energy. Special attention must
be given to the development of Bulgarian societies « culture socie-
ties -, which must become a powerful organisation and an efficacious
factor in the Bulgarisalion of Morava.

These are the essential points of our policy in the Morava province.

.....We must systematically and energetically demand of the Bul-
garian population here : '

1° To put on one side and forget completely a cerlain number
of Serbian words which forcibly entered the language with the Serb-
ian occupation of the province of Morava, a list of such words being
found at the end of the factum.

2° To declare themselves everywhere as Bulgarians, and to be
proud of it.

3° To take part sincerely in all our joys, all our holidays and in all
Bulgarian national societies.

&° To take an active part in our national defence and in the effort
to propagate Bulgarian sentiments amongst those who are not yet
enlightened. To this end, we require Bulgarians in the district, who
are already Bulgarians and who will lead the others by force of exam-

« ple. These persons will be the first labourers of the cause, and the
whole success depends in the first place on their sincerity and their
energy. This is a very important tactic.
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Our attention must in any case be specially drawn to the villa-
ges. It is there where we shall find our first help and strength, and
it is by them that we shall succeed in destroying Serbism in the
towns. The villages musl be set against the towns.

...The second calegory of people here is composed of those who
have come from Shoumadia in the Morava province, Serbians, Monte-
negrins and people from Ipek. They are disseminated in Morava and
constitute large colonies in the Kourchoumlia and Prokouplie dis-
tricts. These are the people who form the centres of Serbian orga-
nisation and Serbism, in Morava. They hold all possible priveleges
from the Serbian State and they have béen used for the assimilation
of the Morava Bulgarians.

This category of people is irreconcilable and it is amongsi them
that the revolutionary ideas of K. Pelchanatz found their fanatical
adepts. They are those who raised their hands against the Bul-
garian State, and their Serbian conscience is unshakable. Their lan-
guage is completely foreign lo us, and their morals, clothing and
soul are quite unknown to us.

We must therefore, following the object of our internal policy :

1° Supervise them closely, and constantly study them.

2 Reduce to zero Lheir influence over the Bulgarians in the dis-
irict, by making a syslemalic difference belween the two categories.

3" Hold a list of those amongst them who have the greatest in-
fluence, and oblige them to declare themselves Bulgarians or to emi-
grate. In the latter case, their emigration should be encouraged.

4" They must not be favoured, except those who become Bul-
garian.

5* Make them speak Bulgarian and make them respect the name
and country of Bulgaria.

... A< regards the aclivily of various persons according to Lheir sex,
experience has shown us the following important details which we,
Bulgarians, must understand in the proper light and which will serve
to guide our opinions and our activity.

It is incontestably established that the most fanatical zealots, and
the most violent, are always the women. They are the living centre
of the Serbian spirit and they are the most active agents of the
Serbian secrel orzanisation. Women acl as bearers of the secret
post ; they are the idealogists of the organisation : they are the prin-
cipal propaganda agents and they are aggresive and dangerous.



Taking advantage of the natural inclinations of man for the
weaker sex — which is very apparent with our Bulgarians here, i. e.
those of the Morava province — women develope dangerous activity
against all our initiatives in this district. By their fine eyes and their
beauty, by their seductions and by knowing when to surrender, the
women here hold more than one of our officers and functionaries,
influence them considerably and use them for aiding the Serbian
cause and for acting against our propaganda work.

It is time to react againsl this terrible evil, which may cost
us a parl of our nation and shake the safety of our State. It is time
{o break with this female hypnotism and to see clearly the whole na-
ture of this evil and all its consequences.

Towards women, our internal policy should be conducted in the
following manner :

1° No woman must be allowed to travel in the province, except
{hose who declare themselves as good Bulgarians, and those who are
vegistered as members of Bulgarian national societies and who attend
all our festivals, soirees, theatres, ete.

5" Women and their families must not be helped, unless they
declare that they are good Bulgarians.

3° All women must speak the Bulgarian language and no peti-
{ion either oral or in writing must be admitted if it is not couched
in the Bulgarian language.

In order to attain this end, a list must be established of all intel-
ligent and influential women who could play a role, however humble,
in Serbian propagana work.

... The population may be divided as regards age, in the following
manner :

1° The aged, those who recollect their Bulgarian origin.
Amongst these, are only of use to us those who declare themselves
as Bulgarians and who work actively for our work. All others are
of no service to us. They are fanatical, like those who have changed
their faith. We must be exceptionally amiable and benevolent
towards the former, most severe towards the others. The latter are
most dangerous men for us.

9° Persons aged from 4o to 5. They have become Serbian by
tradition, because they were quite young when the Serbian occupa-
tion took place. They are at the age when a foreign spirit is very
casy to assimilate,
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3° Persons aged between 36 and 45. In all races, this is the
age when one is the most active. In consequence, we must study
thls category attentively, each erson separately, in order to known
them thoroughly.

4° Persons aged between 20 and 36. They are violent like all
young people, but they are not so dangerous. They are still too
voung for their character to be formed, and consequently, they are
not dangerous.

5° Persons under 20. These embrace a mass of quite young
people whom one can not only easily neutralise, but also make to
work for our cause.

As to the women, the age makes no difference, as we have
remarked that women are equally dangerous at all ages.

The extermination of Serbism signifies the extermination of
Serbian women who are, in fact, the most powerful factors of
Serbism..

..An internal policy which does not take into account the diffe-
conce of character resulting from the difference in trades, is a poliey
which will come to an early end by its own fault. From this point
of view, we are however short of a general plan of action in the
Morava province, and 1rr9parah1c‘ faults are heing committed.

" On account of this, we give the following line of conduct :

1° Serbian priests : they represent the essential expression of
Serbian spirit. They should be kept away from the province and not
allowed to return. If there are still prieste in the province, they must
be interned. Exceptions must be made for those who declare them-
selves Bulgarians. The latter must wear the vesiments of Bulgarian
popes and read mass in Bulgarian. If amongst these latter there
are any who are interned, they may be allowed to return to the
district.

2° Serbian Professors : They will never become Bulgarian, and
if they remain in the district, it will not be for our good. They must
remain interned, and permission to return must not be accorded
them.

What would he the best policy to adopt for the professors, would
be to induce them to adopt benevolent passiveness, or, what would
be preferable, persnade them to accept situations in Bulgaria.

The priests and professors who are interned must not bf‘ accorded
permission to enter the province unless one of their family is seriously
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ill, or in case of death, facts which must be checked by a special
commission.

3° Serbian functionaries : These must not be frusted. The most
dangerous are those who hold high positions : chiefs of provinces,
and they must not be allowed to remain in the province, as they will
always have an influence over the population. They should be
encouraged to emigrate or to take up positions in old Bulgaria.

4° Ex-active members of the parties. All those who belonged
to and took an active part in the different Serbian political parties
before the war ,are dangerous. Amongst them, the most dangerous
are those of Pachitch’s party. All must be supervised and made to
« emigrate » into Bulgaria.

By encouraging the division into political parties ; we must
use this for exterminating the elements dangerous for us.

5° Ex-functionaries of the State or of parishes. These include
kmets, doctors, engineers, farmers, judges, etc. ~We must beware
of them and study them in order to learn their character (different
categories).

6° Hotel keepers, café owners, photographers, chemists, grocers,
watchmakers, pork bulchers, tailors, etc. To be studied separately
and classified.

7° Lawyers and booksellers : These include those who, in peace
times, represented the most active members of political organisation.
We must ascertain the degree of danger they are to us. In general,
we must beware of them and it would always be advisable to intern
them, or make them emigrate into Old Bulgaria or in the part of
Serbia occupied by the Austrians. In any case, they can be of no
use to us.

'8 Bankers, stockbrokers, shopkeepers : These, according to
their material position, are able and capable of playing a capital poli-
{ical role by maintaining the Serbian spirit of the people here. In
general they must be closely watched and the most dangerous
amongst them must be interned.

g° Commercial agenst, cab-drivers, etc. : These are dangerous
as courriers of the Serbian secret organisation. They must be clos-
ely and carefully watched. All those who are suspect must not be
allowed to ply their trade.

10° Those who have sons or members of the family in the
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Serbian army as officers, N. G. O’s and soldiers : It is very difficult
to conciliate these people, more difficult than in cases of people who
R have no members of the family in the Serbian army. They must

- be strictly watched and we must beware of them. -

11° Inhabitants of the cities and villages : the villagers have
retained sufficient of the morals, dialect and traditions of Bulgaria,
much more so than the city dwellers. They must be gained over to
our side.  We must demand of the villagers :

Ry < iy 4 S

; ~ 1° That they range themselves openly on our side, by aiding us
to fight the town spirit.

| - 2° That they call themselves Bulgarians. |

3° That they employ in their language none of the Serbian words
adopled during the Serbian occupation.

{i In general, they must be helped morally and materially. We
el must be benevolenl lowards them and separate them com pletely from
: the inhabitants of the towns, in order thal these laiter may have no
i influence over hem. By aiding the villagers everywhere and always,
' we may expect splendid success from this separation of the vilagers
from the city dwellers,

prlers

DUTY OF ALL SUBJECTS WIT I'IdUT RESPECT OF SEX OR AGE

1° They must speak Bulgarian, call themselves Bulgarians and
renew the Bulgarian sentiments they possessed before the Serbian
i : occupation.
: 2° They must denounce all those who plot against the Bulgarian
State and interests.

i 3° They must be active contributors to all Bulgarian national
i works.

4° They must aid us in our effort to feed the district and the
State, in order thal we may end the war victoriously.

5" They must write their letters and correspondence in Bulga-
rian.
6° They must follow courses in the Bulgarian language and in
this manner forget Serbian expressions,
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8 Ii is forbidden to treat with violence the people here who
are suspect, without first proving their guilt,

9° It is forbidden to correspond in Serbian. The censure will
stop all letters written in Serbian.

10° In general, it is forbidden to employ Serbian inscriptions,
either on shops, on tombstones, efc.

11° It is forbidden to give Serbian names to newly-born child-
ren.

12° Tt is forbidden to give Serbian names (o streets.

13° All persons who have to address a Bulgarian official must
do so in oftcial Bulgarian language, without any intermediary what-
ever. We must be ver severe on this point...

The Chief of the Inspection, Gen-Lieutenant : Nenesov.
The Deputy : Major General : Tassev.
Chief of Staff : Col. DrviNgov.

REMARK : This order must be carefully kept private and locked
up after use.










